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Admission to the Bar

NYS, Appellate Division, Fourth Department, 1981

Education

J.D., University of Buffalo Law  School, 1980

B.A., SUNY at Buffalo, 1976

Professional & Civic Activities

Board Member, Attica Central School Board Member, 2011 to 2012

Presenter, NYS Bar Association Continuing Legal Education Programs, 2009 to Present

Presenter, Erie Institute of Law  Continuing Legal Education Programs, 2009 to Present

Board of Directors, NYS Association of Criminal Defense Attorneys, 2010
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Member, Eighth Judicial District Attorney Grievence Committee; Vice Chairman (2004-2009); Chairman (2009-2010)

Instructor, Tow n and Village Justice OCA Continuing Education Program, 2003 to Present

Board of Directors, University of Buffalo Law  School Alumni Association

Coordinator, Wyoming County Mock Trial Team, 2006 to 2013

Advisor, Attica High School Mock Trial Team, 1987 to 2005

Life Fellow  of NYS Bar Foundation, 2001 to Present

Member, NYS Bar Association House of Delegates, 2001 to 2002

Secretary/Treasurer, Wyoming County Magistrates Association, 1999 to 2001

President, Wyoming County Bar Association, 1998 to 2001



 

Hon. David A. Sears is a Town Justice for the 
Town of Pleasant Valley and maintains a law 
practice in Poughkeepsie, NY.  His practice 
areas include representing professionals, 
including judges, in professional disciplinary 
proceeds.  He is experienced with regulatory 
agencies governing various professionals and 
represents professionals from the investigation 
stage through formal disciplinary hearings. 

Judge Sears received his law degree from Pace University School of Law, magna cum 
laude in 1989.  He received a Post Baccalaureate Certificate in Criminal Justice 
Administration from Virginia Commonwealth University  in 1985.  Judge Sears has 
served as adjunct faculty at the Commonwealth of Virginia Department of Corrections 
Training Academy. 
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In the Matter of Leticia D. Astacio, a Judge of 
the Rochester City Court, Monroe County, 
Petitioner; New York State Commission on 

Judicial Conduct, Respondent. 

32 N.Y.3d 131 
 

Court of Appeals of New York 
 

Argued September 5, 2018 
Decided October 16, 2018 

CITE TITLE AS: Matter of Astacio (New 
York State Commn. on Jud. Conduct) 

  
Robert F. Julian, P.C., Utica (Robert F. Julian of 
counsel), for petitioner. 
 
Robert H. Tembeckjian, Commission on Judicial 
Conduct, Albany (Edward Lindner, John J. 
Postel and David M. Duguay of counsel), for 
respondent. 

OPINION OF THE COURT 

Per Curiam. 

After sustaining six charges of misconduct 
involving petitioner Leticia D. Astacio’s 
behavior both on and off the bench, the State 
Commission on Judicial Conduct has 
recommended that petitioner be removed from 
her judicial office as a Judge of the Rochester 
City Court, Monroe County. Petitioner does not 
challenge the Commission’s findings of fact and 
determination to sustain all charges of 
misconduct. Rather, she asks us to reduce the 
sanction from removal to censure (see NY Const, 
art VI, § 22 [d]; Judiciary Law § 44 [7]). We 
accept the Commission’s sanction of removal. 
  
The Commission unanimously concluded, and 
petitioner concedes, that her actions violated 
sections 100.1, 100.2 (A); 100.2 (C); 100.3 (B) 
(3); (E) (1) (a) (i) and 100.4 (A) (2) of the Rules 
Governing Judicial Conduct (22 NYCRR part 
100). The Rules prescribe that judges must 

“participate in establishing, *134 maintaining 
and enforcing high standards of conduct” for 
themselves and others to preserve “the integrity 
and independence of the judiciary” (22 NYCRR 
100.1). Moreover, judges must “respect and 
comply with the law” and behave at all times in 
a way that furthers “public confidence in the 
integrity and impartiality of the judiciary” (22 
NYCRR 100.2 [A]) and does not “detract from 
the dignity of judicial office” (22 NYCRR 100.4 
[A] [2]). To that end, it is improper to “lend the 
prestige of judicial office to advance the private 
interests of the judge or others” (22 NYCRR 
100.2 [C]). When acting in an official capacity, a 
judge must be “patient, dignified and courteous 
to . . . [all] with whom the judge deals” and “shall 
require similar conduct of lawyers . . . and others 
subject to the judge’s direction and control” (22 
NYCRR 100.3 [B] [3]). Moreover, in any 
“proceeding in which the judge’s impartiality 
might reasonably be questioned,” a judge must 
disqualify herself, including where “the judge 
has a personal bias . . . concerning a party” (22 
NYCRR 100.3 [E] [1] [a] [i]). 
  
Petitioner’s misconduct in her personal activities 
stemmed from her conviction for a misdemeanor 
offense of driving while intoxicated, for which 
she was sentenced to a one-year conditional 
discharge (see 22 NYCRR 100.2 [A]). She was 
discourteous (see 22 NYCRR 100.4 [A] [2]), 
sought preferred treatment from the arresting 
officers (see 22 NYCRR 100.2 [C]), and violated 
the terms of her conditional discharge by 
ignoring orders of the court and leaving the 
country for an extended vacation without notice 
to the court or her lawyer (see 22 NYCRR 100.2 
[A]). After a hearing on her second violation of 
her conditional discharge, petitioner’s 
conditional discharge was revoked, and she was 
re-sentenced to 60 days’ incarceration and three 
years’ probation. 
  
Petitioner also violated the Rules Governing 
Judicial Conduct in the course of exercising her 
judicial duties when she failed to disqualify 
herself from presiding over the arraignment of a 
former client and attempted to exercise her 
discretion to have his case transferred in a 

 



 
manner which she thought might benefit him (see 
22 NYCRR 100.3 [E] [1] [a] [i]). On other 
occasions, petitioner made discourteous, 
insensitive, and undignified comments before 
counsel and litigants in court (see 22 NYCRR 
100.3 [B] [3]). 
  
() Initially, we find that petitioner’s challenge to 
her sanction based on the propriety of her hearing 
before the Commission lacks merit. At the 
hearing, the Chair questioned petitioner’s*135 
avowed respect for the Commission by 
referencing comments purportedly made by the 
petitioner, which were not in the record. 
Petitioner contends that those comments 
reflected the Chair’s bias and tainted the 
Commission’s decision to remove her. While it is 
true that the Commission must adhere to the 
record in reaching its decision (see Matter of 
Simpson v Wolansky, 38 NY2d 391, 396 [1975] 
[administrative agencies may not base their 
decisions on “evidence or information outside 
the record”]), here, petitioner fails to point to 
evidence of a nexus between the Commission’s 
decision and any alleged bias (see Matter of 
Warder v Board of Regents of Univ. of State of 
N.Y., 53 NY2d 186, 197-198 [1981], cert denied 
454 US 1125 [1981]). 
  
In fact, the Chair assured petitioner and her 
counsel at the hearing that the Commission 
would be “scrupulous” in limiting itself to the 
record. The Commission further “emphasize[d] 
[in its determination] that [its] decision [wa]s 
based solely on the evidence adduced at the 
hearing and the arguments presented.” Our 
review of the record does not reveal otherwise, as 
it is bereft of any evidence of a causal 
relationship between the Chair’s comments, 
alleged bias, and the Commission’s decision to 
remove1 (see Matter of Daxor Corp. v State of 
N.Y. Dept. of Health, 90 NY2d 89, 101 [1997] 
[upholding a determination allegedly resulting 
from bias because the record demonstrated 
“independent reasons that fully support 
appellant’s determination”]). 
 As to the appropriate sanction, we note that 
“[j]udicial misconduct cases are, by their very 
nature, sui generis” (Matter of Blackburne [State 

Commn. on Jud. Conduct], 7 NY3d 213, 219-220 
[2006]). To that end, this Court “ha[s] never 
implied that removal is limited to those 
categories of cases that have formerly come 
before us” (id.). While “[t]he ultimate sanction of 
removal typically is ‘reserved for truly egregious 
circumstances that extend beyond the limits of 
even extremely poor judgment’ . . . it must also 
be kept in mind ‘that the truly egregious standard 
is measured with due regard to the higher 
standard of conduct to which judges are held’ ” 
(Matter of Simon [State Commn. on Jud. 
Conduct], 28 NY3d 35, 37-38 [2016], quoting 
Matter of Restaino [State Commn. on Jud. 
Conduct], 10 NY3d 577, 589, 590 [2008] [some 
internal quotation marks and citations omitted]). 
  
*136 [2] Here, the circumstances spanning 
petitioner’s collective misconduct qualify as 
egregious. Specifically, petitioner’s judicial role 
exacerbated her already “very serious crime” of 
driving while intoxicated (People v Washington, 
23 NY3d 228, 231 [2014] [internal quotation 
marks and citation omitted]) and “undermine[d] 
[her] effectiveness as a judge” responsible for 
applying drunk driving laws to others (Matter of 
Stelling, 2002 WL 31267502, *1-2 [NY St 
Commn on Jud Conduct, Oct. 1, 2002]). 
Likewise, magnifying the impact of her DWI 
conviction and attendant behavior, the record 
reflects that petitioner appeared to invoke her 
judicial office to pressure the police to cease 
processing her arrest (see Matter of LaBombard 
[State Commn. on Jud. Conduct], 11 NY3d 294, 
298 [2008]; see also Matter of Edwards, 67 
NY2d 153, 154-155 [1986] [it is “irrelevant” 
whether a judge overtly requests “favorable 
treatment or special consideration”]). 
  
Petitioner’s behavior at a former client’s 
arraignment, moreover, conveyed the 
“appearance of favoritism” which was 
compounded by her decision to exercise her 
discretion in his favor (LaBombard, 11 NY3d at 
298); see also Matter of Duckman, 92 NY2d 141, 
153 [1998] [“(T)he perception of impartiality is 
as important as actual impartiality”]). Similarly, 
regardless of her intent, petitioner’s repeated 
failure to speak in a dignified manner with 

 



 
defendants, sheriff’s deputies, and attorneys 
demonstrated a lack of “respect toward everyone 
who appears in a court” (Matter of Romano, 93 
NY2d 161, 164 [1999]; see also Matter of Ayres 
[New York State Commn. on Jud. Conduct], 30 
NY3d 59, 66 [2017] [rejecting claim that “snarky 
language” was taken out of context]; Duckman, 
92 NY2d at 153 [rejecting argument that “actual 
impartiality” counteracted any perceived 
biases]). 
  
As we have recently stated, “[t]he inability to 
recognize the seriousness of one’s misconduct 
and the failure to heed a prior warning are 
significant aggravating factors, and can be 
grounds for removal as well” (Ayres, 30 NY3d at 
64). We find that the aggravating circumstances 
here outweigh any mitigating factors (see Matter 
of Rater, 69 NY2d 208, 209 [1987]). Although 
petitioner has expressed some contrition and 
initially took productive steps in response to her 
DWI arrest, we are unpersuaded that petitioner 
has genuinely accepted personal responsibility. 
To the contrary, she continues to point to external 
factors and justifications as excuses for her 
behavior. Although we do not expect petitioner 
to “adopt a posture of *137 obeisance,” we do 
require that she adequately “recognize 
wrongdoing in order to forestall the inevitable, 
unfortunate conclusion that, absent a harsher 
sanction, more of the same will ensue” (Matter of 
Hart [State Commn. on Jud. Conduct], 7 NY3d 
1, 11 [2006]). Here, petitioner’s justifications for 
her conduct indicate she does not truly recognize 
the essential role her own decisions played in 
bringing about her current predicament. 
  
Moreover, petitioner ignored multiple prior 
warnings about the consequences of her 
continued drinking and failure to comply with 
her conditional discharge, including that she was 
subject to revocation of her conditional discharge 
and re-sentencing (see Ayres, 30 NY3d at 64). 
Petitioner’s decision to engage in a pattern of 
alcohol-related misconduct and seeming 
inattention to the court’s warning2 offsets her 
initial laudable efforts to seek substance abuse 
evaluation and treatment (see Matter of Quinn v 
State Commn. on Jud. Conduct, 54 NY2d 386, 

392 [1981] [emphasizing as an aggravating 
factor that “a prior admonition for similar 
conduct proved ineffective”]; see also Matter of 
Simpson Burke, 2009 WL 5212133,*3 [NY St 
Commn on Jud Conduct, Dec. 15, 2009] 
[considering in alcohol-related cases “whether 
the conduct was an isolated instance or part of a 
pattern”]). 
  
We cannot view petitioner’s actions and the 
appropriate sanction through a limited prism but 
must instead consider the full spectrum of her 
behavior and its impact on public perception of 
the judiciary (see Matter of Kuehnel v State 
Commn. on Jud. Conduct, 49 NY2d 465, 468-
469 [1980]; Matter of Reeves, 63 NY2d 105, 111 
[1984] [the purpose of the sanction is broader 
than individual “punishment”]; see also 22 
NYCRR 100.2 [A]). Significantly, we must 
consider whether the public has “irretrievably 
lost confidence in [petitioner’s] ability to 
properly carry out [her] constitutionally-
mandated responsibilities in a fair and just 
manner” (Restaino, 10 NY3d at 590; see also 
Matter of Esworthy, 77 NY2d 280, 282-283 
[1991]). Given petitioner’s apparent lack of 
insight into the gravity and impact of her *138 
behavior on both public perception of her fitness 
to perform her duties and on the judiciary overall, 
we conclude that any rupture in the public’s 
confidence cannot be repaired. 
  
Accordingly, the determined sanction should be 
accepted, without costs, and Leticia D. Astacio 
removed from the office of Judge of Rochester 
City Court, Monroe County. 
  
Chief Judge DiFiore and **5 Judges Rivera, 
Stein, Fahey, Garcia, Wilson and Feinman 
concur in per curiam opinion. 
 
Determined sanction accepted, without costs, and 
Leticia D. Astacio removed from the office of 
Judge of Rochester City Court, Monroe County. 
  
 
 
 
 

 



 
 

Footnotes 
 
1 
 

Indeed, as the Commission noted, its decision was more favorable to petitioner than the referee’s 
initial findings given the Commission’s refusal to sustain certain allegations underlying one of the 
charges. 
 

2 
 

While petitioner may be correct that there is no specific condition listed in the conditional discharge 
prohibiting international or out-of-state travel or explicitly mandating she report a three-month 
vacation as a “change of address,” it cannot be ignored that petitioner’s one-way ticket was 
purchased only two days after yet another failed blow on the ignition interlock device and that her 
travel caused her inability to comply with the court-ordered alcohol testing. 
 

 

 



STATE OF NEW YORK 
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT 

In the Matter of the Proceeding 
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4, 
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to 

LETICIA D. ASTACIO, 

a Judge of the Rochester City Court, 
Monroe County. 

THE COMMISSION: 

Joseph W. Belluck, Esq., Chair 
Paul B. Harding, Esq., Vice Chair 
Jodie Comgold 
Honorable John A. Falk 
Taa Grays, Esq. 
Honorable Leslie G. Leach 
Honorable Angela M. Mazzarelli 
Marvin Ray Raskin, Esq. 
Richard A. Stoloff, Esq. 
Akosua Garcia Yeboah 

APPEARANCES: 

DETERMINATION 

Robert H. Tembeckjian (John J. Postel and David M. Duguay, Of Counsel) 
for the Commission 

Robert F. Julian, Esq., for the respondent 

The respondent, Leticia D. Astacio, a Judge of the Rochester City Court, 

Monroe County, was served with a Formal Written Complaint dated May 30, 2017, 

containing five charges. The Formal Written Complaint alleged that respondent operated 



an automobile under the influence of alcohol, resulting in her conviction for Driving 

While Intoxicated ("DWI") (Charge I), asserted her judicial office in connection with her 

arrest (Charge II), violated the terms of her conditional discharge in connection with her 

conviction by providing a breath sample for her ignition interlock device that registered a 

blood alcohol content ("BAC") of .078% when she attempted to start her vehicle (Charge 

III), failed to disqualify herself in her former client's case (Charge IV) and made 

discourteous, insensitive and undignified comments in four cases (Charge V). 

Respondent filed an amended verified Answer dated September 11, 201 7. 

Respondent was served with a Second Formal Written Complaint dated 

August 3, 2017, which was amended by letter dated September 18, 2017, alleging that 

respondent violated the terms of her conditional discharge on or about May 30, 2017 

(Charge VI). Respondent filed a verified Answer dated September 11, 2017. 

By Order dated August 15, 2017, the Commission designated Mark S. 

Arisohn, Esq., as referee to hear and report proposed findings of fact and conclusions of 

law. A hearing was held on October 17 to 19, 2017, in Syracuse, New York. The referee 

filed a report dated March 5, 2018, which sustained the charges except as to a portion of 

Charge II. 

The parties submitted briefs with respect to the referee's report and the 

issue of sanctions. Commission counsel recommended confirmation of the referee's 

report and the sanction of removal. Respondent's briefs conceded that she engaged in 

some misconduct and argued that removal was too harsh. On April 12, 2018, the 

Commission heard oral argument and thereafter considered the record of the proceeding 

2 



and made the following findings of fact. 

1. Respondent has been a Judge of the Rochester City Court, Monroe 

County, since January 1, 2015. Her current term expires on December 31, 2024. 

Respondent was admitted to practice law in New York State in 2007. 

2. Prior to her election to the City Court, respondent was employed by 

the Monroe County Legal Assistance Center and the Monroe County District Attorney's 

Office, where, among other responsibilities, she handled felony DWI cases; she was also 

in private practice where she had represented defendants charged with DWI. 

As to Charge I of the Formal Written Complaint: 

3. On Saturday, February 13, 2016, at approximately 7:54 AM, New 

York State Trooper Christopher Kowalski, who had been employed by the New York 

State Police for approximately 13 years and who was trained in DWI detection and 

enforcement, was traveling westbound on Interstate 490, west of downtown Rochester, 

when he observed a vehicle on the right shoulder of the road. Trooper Kowalski pulled 

over behind the vehicle. 

4. There had been a light snow that morning and the road was slightly 

snow-covered and wet, with approximately a half-inch of snow on the shoulder. It was 

the coldest day of the year with the 7:54 AM temperature recorded at -2.9° F. 

5. Respondent was seated in the driver's seat and was the sole occupant 

of the car. The car was running with the keys in the ignition; the back lights and daytime 

running lights were on; and, according to Trooper Kowalski, both front windows were 

3 



down when he approached. Respondent testified that she rolled her driver's window 

down either as the trooper approached her car or once he was at the window. Respondent 

was wearing sneakers, pants and a hoodie; her clothes appeared "pretty disheveled" to 

Kowalski. 

6. Trooper Kowalski observed that both tires on the driver's side of the 

vehicle were flat, and the front tire was about to fall off of the rim. There was heavy 

front-end damage to the driver's side of the vehicle. 

7. Trooper Kowalski asked respondent if she was okay and if she had 

been in an accident. According to Kowalski, respondent replied that she was "fine," 

stated that she "only thought she had a flat tire and that she didn't strike anything at that 

time," and also said, "I don't recall hitting anything." Respondent testified that she had 

left home and was on her way to the YMCA gym when "I don't know if I hit ... a chunk 

of ice, or some debris in the roadway ... or if my tire blew out. Either way, I lost control 

of my car, and I realized that I had a flat, or that my car wasn't working properly .... I 

pulled over to the shoulder." 

8. Trooper Kowalski asked respondent to get out of the vehicle and to 

look at the damage. He did not recall any reaction that respondent had after looking at 

the vehicle. 

9. The trooper asked for her license and registration and respondent 

told him that she "didn't have anything on her." He then asked her to come back to his 

vehicle because "it was so cold out" to "get everything squared away, get her name, get 

her address, figure ... everything out." Respondent complied. 

4 



10. Respondent sat in the back seat of the patrol car, approximately one 

to two feet behind Trooper Kowalski, who sat in the driver's seat. The trooper observed 

that respondent was chewing gum and he smelled the odor of an alcoholic beverage. He 

asked her to remove the gum from her mouth and she did. 

11. Trooper Kowalski still perceived a strong smell of an alcoholic 

beverage when respondent began to talk. He also observed that her eyes were bloodshot, 

watery and glassy, that her face was flushed and that her speech was slurred. 

12. Trooper Kowalski asked respondent if she had consumed any 

alcohol and she replied that she did not drink at 7 :00 AM; he asked again whether she 

had been drinking, and she replied, "I've drank in my lifetime." 

13. In response to the trooper's questions about where she was coming 

from and where she was headed, respondent stated that she was coming from home and 

was going to the City Court to do arraignments at 9:30. 

14. Rochester City Court was to the east from where respondent's car 

was located and in the opposite direction of respondent's westbound-facing vehicle. 

When Trooper Kowalski asked what direction she was headed, respondent stated that she 

was "not good with direction, east, west, north, south." Respondent testified at the 

hearing that her intention that morning upon leaving home was to go to the Gates YMCA 

for an 8:00 AM workout class before heading to City Court, where she was scheduled to 

handle arraignments at 9:30 AM, and that by the time of her initial exchanges with 

Trooper Kowalski, she had abandoned her plan to go to the YMCA before court. When 

respondent pulled her car over to the shoulder of the road, she was pointed in the 
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direction of the YMCA. 

15. At approximately 8: 15 AM, when Trooper Kowalski asked 

respondent what time it was, she responded, "7: 15." 

16. In Trooper Kowalski's car, when the trooper again inquired about 

whether respondent had consumed alcohol that morning or the night before, respondent 

told the trooper that she "didn't feel comfortable" in the car and "didn't want to be in the 

car," and she said, "I don't know what else you might do to me. For all I know, you 

could shoot me." 

17. Trooper Kowalski had not displayed or unholstered his weapon or 

made any threat. Respondent testified that Kowalski never made an overt threat of force 

to her, yelled or used vulgarity or profanity in speaking with her. The trooper was 

uncomfortable about respondent's comment and got out of the car. He called dispatch to 

get another unit to come to the scene so he could have a witness as to what was starting to 

unfold, and then re-entered the patrol car and told respondent not to make any other 

statements of that nature. 

18. Trooper Kowalski asked respondent if she would submit to any 

standardized field sobriety tests. She declined, stating that she could not do them because 

she had a brain injury during her pregnancy that had an impact on her ability to take such 

tests. The medical records introduced by respondent confirm that she had a structural 

defect in the part of the brain that controls balance and had surgery that resolved the 

balance issue to a limited extent. Respondent agreed to take an alphabet test and a 

counting test administered by Trooper Kowalski, which she passed. 
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19. Based on his observations and professional expertise, Trooper 

Kowalski formed an opinion that respondent was intoxicated, and he arrested her at 8:43 

AM. 

20. When she was placed under arrest, respondent told Trooper 

Kowalski that he did not have "sufficient probable cause to arrest" her and did not "have 

enough for a conviction"; she also said, "With all due respect, I don't know you, so you 

don't do DWis, and you don't know what you're doing, but you're making a very big 

mistake ... I'd rather you call someone who does know what they're doing." At the 

hearing, respondent testified that she "went over the factors" with the trooper and "was 

just explaining to him why this wasn't sufficient for a DWI." 

21. At around the time of the arrest, Trooper Kowalski asked respondent 

to take a preliminary breath test ("PBT") to detect the presence of alcohol. Respondent 

declined the test and told Kowalski that she wanted to have a lawyer present. 

22. Respondent testified that earlier, sometime after she had pulled over 

onto the shoulder of the road, she called an acquaintance, Christian Catalano, an attorney, 

and asked him to help her change her flat tire, after which she fell asleep. She was 

waiting for him in her car when Trooper Kowalski pulled over behind her vehicle. 

23. Trooper Casey Dolan, a 21-year veteran of the State Police, 

responded shortly after 9:00 AM to Kowalski's call for back-up and arrived at the scene 

with a PBT device. When Trooper Dolan pulled his patrol vehicle behind Trooper 

Kowalski's vehicle, there was another vehicle parked in front of respondent's vehicle that 

had not been present when Trooper Dolan had passed the location a short time earlier. 
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That was the vehicle of Mr. Catalano, who had recently arrived on the scene. Trooper 

Dolan passed the PBT device to Trooper Kowalski through the window. Trooper Dolan 

heard respondent speaking in a raised, irritated voice, and she seemed upset. 

24. Trooper Dolan told respondent, referring to the PBT, "This trooper 

has an obligation to ask you to submit to that. You were involved in a motor vehicle 

accident." Respondent replied, "No, he doesn't. He can just go mind his own fucking 

business." 

25. Trooper Kowalski spoke with Mr. Catalano, who respondent stated 

would act as her attorney, about having her submit to a PBT. Trooper Kowalski 

discussed the possibility of "unarresting" respondent with Catalano and allowed him to 

speak privately with respondent to discuss whether she would take the PBT. Kowalski 

admitted at the hearing that despite what he told Catalano, he had no intention of 

"unarresting" respondent. 

26. Respondent testified that after discussing the PBT with Mr. 

Catalano, she provided a breath sample three times. The third test registered positive for 

the presence of alcohol on her breath at ".19," according to Kowalski. Kowalski 

explained at the hearing that the first two tests showed a "zero" reading because 

respondent did not blow into the instrument for a sufficient amount of time, but he kept 

no records to corroborate that fact. Nor did Kowalski show the claimed positive result of 

the third test to anyone; it was his practice and procedure that he was not required to do 

so. 

27. At approximately 9:23 AM, Trooper Kowalski transported 
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respondent to the New York State Police barracks. He did not question respondent 

during the trip. Respondent was upset, irate, belligerent, loud and swearing during the 

drive. She stated: "I can't believe you're doing this to me. You're fucking ruining my 

life"; "You don't have to do this. This isn't part of your job"; and "Why are you fucking 

doing this to me?" Respondent testified that she regrets the words she said in anger and 

that later, while at the station, she told Trooper Kowalski, "I'm really sorry about the way 

that I behaved, about the things that I said to you. You have to understand the impact this 

is going to have on my life, irrespective of the outcome. And I'm sorry. I was really, 

really upset, and I really couldn't believe this was happening, but ... I shouldn't have 

spoken to you that way and I apologize." 

28. Respondent remained irate, angry and upset and was unruly and 

swearing loudly while at the barracks. Lieutenant Jon Lupo, the designated Acting Zone 

Commander on duty, heard respondent yelling at Trooper Kowalski and noted that she 

sounded upset and that her speech was "slurred." Lupo sent an email to his boss at 10:04 

AM stating about respondent, "Her attorney is present, and so far she's cooperative." 

29. Lieutenant Lupo, a 30-year veteran of the New York State Police 

who had been trained as a Drug Recognition Expert and had administered and supervised 

the Standardized Field Sobriety Testing Program between 1997 and 2001, introduced 

himself to respondent as Trooper Kowalski's supervisor. Respondent insisted that she 

not be put through the arrest process. According to Lupo, she appeared to be on an 

"emotional roller coaster." She vacillated between being very upset, then being more 

composed, and then being upset again. Lupo characterized her behavior as "pleading in a 
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way." Respondent used the word "fuck" on a couple of occasions in Lupo's presence. 

Lupo observed that respondent was handcuffed to the bench reserved for arrestees. 

30. Lieutenant Lupo, standing no more than three or four feet from 

respondent, observed that her eyes appeared glassy and very bloodshot, and he detected 

the stale smell of an alcoholic beverage that he recognized from his experience. In 

Lieutenant Lupo's opinion, respondent was impaired by alcohol. 

31. At the barracks, Trooper Kowalski read Miranda and DWI warnings 

to respondent and asked her at approximately 10:43 AM if she would submit to a 

chemical test for alcohol. Respondent refused the test at that time and again at 

approximately 11: 12 AM. Thereafter, Kowalski completed a report of the refusal to 

submit to a chemical test. 

32. Trooper Kowalski then issued Uniform Traffic Tickets to respondent 

for Driving While Intoxicated (Vehicle and Traffic Law §1192[3]), a misdemeanor, and 

for the traffic infractions of Stopping/Standing/Parking on Highway and Unsafe Tire. 

33. On August 15, 2016, Canandaigua City Court Judge Stephen D. 

Aronson, sitting as an Acting Judge of Rochester City Court, presided over a non-jury 

trial on the simplified traffic informations filed pursuant to the tickets issued to 

respondent. At the trial, Troopers Kowalski and Dolan testified for the prosecution, and 

Mr. Catalano testified for the defense. On August 22, 2016, Judge Aronson found 

respondent guilty of the misdemeanor of Driving While Intoxicated (Vehicle and Traffic 

Law §1192[3]) and sentenced her to a one-year conditional discharge. Both traffic 

infractions were dismissed. 
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34. On October 4, 2017, on appeal, Acting Monroe County Court Judge 

William F. Kocher affirmed the judgment convicting respondent of Driving While 

Intoxicated. 

3 5. Respondent had a full and fair opportunity in the Rochester City 

Court criminal action and on its subsequent appeal to County Court to litigate the issue of 

whether she was driving while intoxicated on February 13, 2016. 

36. With respect to her consumption of alcohol, respondent 

acknowledged that she drank wine the night before her arrest. She testified during the 

Commission's investigation that she did not consume alcohol after 10:00 PM on February 

12, 2016, but conceded at the hearing that in connection with an alcohol evaluation a few 

weeks after her arrest, one of her counselors reported that respondent had stated that "she 

did drink alcohol the night before, consuming 2-3 glasses of wine" and that she "started 

[drinking] at about 1030/11 pm and unsure when she finished." Respondent testified that 

the report is inaccurate as to what she told the counselor about when she started drinking 

that night. She also acknowledged telling another one of her counselors, in November 

2016, that she drank three glasses of wine the night before her arrest. She further 

acknowledged that on the morning of her arrest, while at the side of the road with 

Trooper Kowalski and Catalano, she told Catalano that she had not consumed alcohol the 

night before. 

3 7. On March 24, 2016, respondent underwent a comprehensive 

chemical dependency evaluation performed by Elizabeth Rybczak, a Credentialed 

Alcoholism and Substance Abuse Counselor ("CASAC"). Ms. Rybczak determined that 
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respondent "is not being recommended for any treatment at this time as patient does not 

meet criteria for a substance use disorder." 

38. In the absence of any argument or evidence that respondent did not 

have a full and fair opportunity to contest the charge of Driving While Intoxicated at her 

criminal trial that resulted in a judgment of conviction under a "beyond a reasonable 

doubt" standard of proof, the doctrine of collateral estoppel forecloses respondent from 

contesting the fact that she was driving while intoxicated on February 13, 2016. 

Moreover, the persuasive evidence establishes that respondent was found in her car on 

the side of the road, was unable to explain why her car had two flat tires and part of her 

front bumper missing, and had an odor of an alcoholic beverage, bloodshot, watery and 

glassy eyes and slurred speech. This evidence independently supports the finding by a 

preponderance of evidence that on February 13, 2016, respondent operated an automobile 

while intoxicated. 

39. The record does not support a finding of any police misconduct and 

certainly nothing that can be found to justify respondent's combativeness and evasiveness 

preceding and following her arrest on February 13, 2016. 

As to Charge II of the Formal Written Complaint: 

40. After respondent got into Trooper Kowalski's car on February 13, 

2016, he asked her where she was headed. In response to the inquiry, respondent stated, 

"I'm going to City Court to do the arraignments at 9:30 this morning." Her comment was 

an accurate response to the trooper's question. Respondent was scheduled to preside at 

12 



arraignments at 9:30 AM that day in the Rochester City Court, and although she initially 

had planned to go to an exercise class at the YMCA before going to court, by the time 

she was questioned by Kowalski she had abandoned her plan to go to the gym since it 

was too late for the class. Although Trooper Kowalski understood from respondent's 

comment that she was a City Court judge, it was not established by a preponderance of 

the evidence that her response to the trooper was an attempt to assert her judicial office to 

advance her private interests in connection with her arrest. 

41. At the police barracks, respondent told Lieutenant Lupo that she had 

court responsibilities that morning, that she had arraignments scheduled and that nobody 

at the court was aware that she was not going to be showing up. Lieutenant Lupo' s notes 

from that morning reflect some of the statements respondent uttered: "Please don't do 

this"; "I have to go to work"; "I have arraignments"; and "I have court right now." (His 

notes also indicate "crying," "begging," "pleading.") Lieutenant Lupo understood 

respondent's remarks to mean that she did not want to be arrested or to proceed with the 

arrest process. 

42. Respondent's request to telephone the court to advise the court that 

she would not be there at 9:30 AM was honored. 

43. Respondent's statements to Lieutenant Lupo when she asked him to 

"[p ]lease don't do this" because "I have arraignments" and "I have court right now" were 

an attempt to advance her private interests in connection with her arrest for Driving 

While Intoxicated. 
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As to Charge III of the Formal Written Complaint: 

44. On August 22, 2016, in connection with her sentencing to a one-year 

conditional discharge for her conviction for Driving While Intoxicated, respondent was 

provided with a copy of her "Conditions of Conditional Discharge," a three-page form 

which she signed and dated. The form clearly stated, in bold type near the top of the first 

page, the requirement that she "Abstain from Alcoholic Beverages and All Products That 

Contain Alcohol" during the one-year period of discharge. 

45. As a condition of her sentence, respondent was required to install an 

ignition interlock device ("IID") on her vehicle. The form that respondent signed stated 

that a device indication of "a failed test or re-test where the BAC was .05% or higher" 

would constitute a violation of the IID conditional discharge. 

46. On or about September 30, 2016, the Monroe County Office of 

Probation notified Judge Aronson and the District Attorney that there was reasonable 

cause to believe that respondent had violated the terms of her conditional discharge by 

failing an IID start-up test on September 12, 2016, at 7:32 AM, with a BAC of .067%. 

On October 11, 2016, Judge Aronson signed a Declaration of Delinquency and arraigned 

respondent on the alleged violation. With the consent of the parties, the matter was 

adjourned to November 16, 2016, to allow respondent to engage in appropriate alcohol 

treatment. 

4 7. On or about October 31, 2016, the Monroe County Office of 

Probation notified Judge Aronson and the District Attorney that there was reasonable 

cause to believe that on October 3, 2016, respondent had violated the terms of her 
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conditional discharge by attempting to start and operate her vehicle while testing positive 

for alcohol (.078% BAC). The October 3, 2016 violation had not yet been reported when 

respondent appeared in court on October 11, 2016. On November 3, 2016, Judge 

Aronson signed a second Declaration of Delinquency that alleged respondent had 

violated her conditional discharge by failing an IID start-up test on October 3, 2016, at 

9:37 AM, with a BAC of .078%. 

48. On November 3, 2016, respondent attended a substance abuse intake 

at Strong Recovery. Her assessment included a breathalyzer and a supervised urine 

toxicology screen, both of which were negative. In a report dated November 15, 2016, 

Karen Hospers, CA SAC, gave a diagnostic impression of "alcohol use disorder, mild" 

and recommended that respondent attend a ten-week relapse prevention group. 

Respondent successfully completed the recommended program. 

49. On November 16, 2016, respondent appeared before Judge Aronson 

and pled guilty to violating her conditional discharge by attempting to start and operate 

her vehicle on October 3, 2016, while testing positive for alcohol with a .078% BAC, and 

thereafter failing to perform an IID start-up re-test. Respondent's guilty plea satisfied all 

outstanding delinquency charges. 

50. Judge Aronson amended the conditional discharge by extending the 

IID requirement for an additional period of six months and requiring that respondent 

comply with any treatment recommendations made by her therapist. 

51. Respondent acknowledged signing and dating each of the three 

pages of the conditional discharge form at her sentencing for her DWI conviction and 
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taking a copy home with her. 

52. When she pled guilty to violating her conditional discharge, 

respondent told the court that she did not review the documents she had received and 

signed at her sentencing and "didn't understand" that abstention from alcohol was a 

condition of her sentence. She apologized to the court and reiterated, "I didn't 

understand. I do understand now," and told the court that "[t]here won't be" any future 

violations. 

53. Respondent testified at the hearing that she consumed alcohol "more 

than once" between her DWI conviction on August 22, 2016, and sometime in October 

2016, and she reiterated that she did not read the document stating the terms of her 

conditional discharge. She testified that it was her "understanding" that she "was 

sentenced to the minimums" and she stated, "I know what the minimums are by heart, I 

didn't need to review the terms." At the oral argument before the Commission on April 

12, 2018, she stated that even if she had read the document, "I don't think that would 

have necessarily changed my behavior." 

54. Respondent testified that, prior to providing an IID breath sample on 

October 3, 2016, she "was drunk," having consumed four glasses of wine and three shots 

of tequila, and asked her aunt to drive because she knew that she should not have been 

driving, but that respondent "did the blow" that resulted in her conviction. 

As to Charge IV of the Formal Written Complaint: 

55. On January 21, 2015, respondent was presiding in the Rochester 
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City Court when defendant James Thomas was brought into the courtroom to be 

arraigned on a Petit Larceny charge. Respondent failed to disqualify herself from 

presiding over the arraignment notwithstanding that her impartiality might reasonably be 

questioned because of her prior attorney-client relationship with the defendant. 

56. Respondent had represented Mr. Thomas as his defense attorney 

approximately three years earlier on a felony charge. Respondent represented Mr. 

Thomas for approximately one y~ar and during that period had visited him approximately 

two dozen times at the county jail. Mr. Thomas was on parole supervision in connection 

with the felony when he appeared before respondent on January 21, 2015. 

57. When Mr. Thomas was brought by Sheriffs Department personnel 

into respondent's courtroom, he smiled and waved at respondent, who was on the bench. 

Respondent laughed and disclosed to counsel that Mr. Thomas was a former client and 

added, "And I like him"; she then said, "Well, I mean, I can ... arraign him ... but I'm 

going to transfer it." 

58. Respondent asked her court clerk, "Can it not go to Johnson, 

please?" Respondent was referring to Rochester City Court Judge Teresa Johnson. She 

then commented from the bench about Mr. Thomas, stating: 

• "[W]hen ... you said the name I'm like, 'Aw, come on"'; 

• "He freaking just got out. I represented him ... He just, just got out"; 

• "Aww, I'm so sad about this." 

59. After a short break, respondent's court clerk told her, "I was told that 

you can arraign him" and the case would then be transferred to a judge other than Judge 
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Johnson. Respondent read Mr. Thomas the charge and assigned counsel, who entered a 

plea of not guilty on his behalf. Respondent told Mr. Thomas that it was not appropriate 

for her to preside over his case, and when Mr. Thomas asked why, she replied, "I would 

love to preside over your case, but I don't ... want any conflicts." 

60. Respondent set a "courtesy" bail at $50, as requested by his attorney. 

In setting bail, respondent stated that since the defendant was being held, "it really 

doesn't matter," but that since he was being held on bail concurrent to the parole hold, he 

would be "getting time on these charges." 

61. Mr. Thomas told respondent that the public defender "was good, but 

you were the best." When the next case was called, respondent commented, "I totally 

love him. I'm so sad that he's injail right now." 

62. At the hearing, respondent acknowledged feeling "sympathetic" 

towards Mr. Thomas, and she understood that presiding over his case would create the 

appearance of impropriety based upon the nature of their relationship and his conduct in 

her court. She also testified that typically Mr. Thomas' case would have been transferred 

to Judge Johnson but that she did not want the case to go to her because Judge Johnson 

was not very "nice to anyone" and that if she got the case, Mr. Thomas would get harsher 

treatment and a less favorable result. Respondent acknowledged that requesting that 

Thomas' case not go to Judge Johnson was inappropriate. She also testified that when 

she handled this case, during her first month as a judge, she "was still pretty new and ... 

didn't know the procedure for transferring cases." 

63. Respondent understood that setting bail on Mr. Thomas was an act 

18 



of judicial discretion and that Mr. Thomas derived a benefit by getting credit for jail time 

on his Petit Larceny charge as a result of her conduct. 

As to Charge V of the Formal Written Complaint: 

A. People v. T L. 

64. On January 27, 2015, respondent was scheduled to arraign T. L., 

who was in custody on a charge of Criminal Trespass in the Third Degree, a 

misdemeanor. 

65. Prior to calling Ms. L's case, respondent learned from her clerk that 

Ms. L. was allegedly biting and spitting on people and may have been cursing, kicking 

and punching Sheriffs Department deputies and using racial slurs while being transported 

to the court. While awaiting the case, respondent spoke from the bench with a sheriffs 

deputy about Ms. L., stating, "I heard she's going crazy," and she commented further to 

the deputy, "Well, tase her"; "Shoot her?"; "What do you do, billy-club people?"; "Well, 

punch her in the face and bring her out here. You can't take a 16-year-old?"; "What do 

you want me to do, leave her? I don't like her attitude"; "She needs a whoopin'"; and "Is 

she crazy or is she bad?" Ms. L.' s arraignment was postponed. 

66. At the hearing, respondent testified that when she made the 

comments in this case, during her first month as a judge, she was having "a joking 

conversation" with a deputy between arraignments and she thought the comments were 

off the record. She acknowledged that, "in retrospect," her comments were inappropriate. 

B. People v. X V. 
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67. The allegations as to People v. X V are not sustained and therefore 

are dismissed. 

C. People v. D. Y 

68. On January 15, 2015, respondent arraigned D.Y., who was in 

custody after being charged with Disorderly Conduct, a violation, for intentionally 

blocking traffic by walking in the middle of the road. 

69. After reading the charge against him and advising counsel that Mr. 

Y. had other charges pending in Rochester City Court and was scheduled for a mental 

health examination, respondent told Mr. Y. that she would sentence him to time served if 

he pled guilty to the charge. Mr. Y.'s attorney, after conferring with the defendant, 

advised respondent that he would plead guilty. 

70. Prior to accepting Mr. Y.'s plea, respondent told the defendant to 

"stay out of the street. It's super annoying. I hate when people walk in front of my car. 

If there was [sic] no rules, I would totally run them over because it's disrespectful." 

71. At the hearing, respondent acknowledged that she should not have 

said she would run people over. 

D. People v. D. W 

72. On August 15, 2015, respondent arraigned D. W., who was charged 

with the misdemeanor of Sexual Misconduct. Respondent read the charge to Mr. W., 

explained that she was issuing an order of protection in favor of the alleged victim, and 

advised Mr. W. that he was to have no contact with the alleged victim. Respondent had 

previously signed an arrest warrant for Mr. W. in the matter and knew that he and the 
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alleged victim were classmates, so she clarified that Mr. W. could not interact with the 

alleged victim at school. 

73. Mr. W.'s attorney, who opposed an order of protection, referred to 

the alleged victim's three-week delay in signing a statement against Mr. W. and stated, 

"It appears to me to be a case of buyer's remorse." Respondent laughed at the "buyer's 

remorse" comment and told the Assistant District Attorney, "That was funny. You didn't 

think that was funny." 

74. A minute or two later, following Mr. W.'s arraignment, respondent 

continued commenting about the "buyer's remorse" remark, stating: 

• "Oh, man. I don't mean to be so inappropriate. I thought that 
was freakin' hilarious. She ... said that she didn't sign it 'til 
three weeks later; it was a case of 'buyer's remorse'"; 

• "Yeah, I thought it was funny. She [referring to the 
prosecutor] didn't think it was funny ... She was offended. I 
thought it was hilarious." 

75. Respondent understood from her professional experience in the 

Domestic Violence Bureau of the District Attorney's Office that sexual assault victims 

are typically hesitant to go forward out of embarrassment, shame or fear of becoming 

further victimized. 

76. Respondent testified that the W case was at "the end of the docket, 

and people weren't there," but that ifthe purported victim or her family were present she 

"would have been mortified at them having the impression that I ... took the situation 

lightly or that I ... didn't care about what was alleged to have happened to her." 
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As to Charge VI of the Second Formal Written Complaint: 

77. On August 22, 2016, after being convicted of Driving While 

Intoxicated and sentenced to a one-year-conditional discharge, respondent signed and 

received a copy of her "Conditions of Conditional Discharge" that required her, inter 

alia, to "submit to any recognized tests that are available to determine the use of alcohol 

or drugs" and to install and maintain a functioning ignition interlock device in her 

vehicle. 

78. On May 1, 2017, respondent booked a one-way ticket to Thailand 

and she departed the following day. Respondent testified that she intended to stay in 

Thailand for several months until sometime in August 2017. 

79. On or about May 10, 2017, Assistant District Attorney V. 

Christopher Eaggleston forwarded to Judge Aronson a notification from the Monroe 

County Office of Probation that the IID in respondent's vehicle had registered a failed 

start-up test on April 29, 2017, with a .061 % BAC that was provided by an individual 

who could not be seen on the camera. 

80. Judge Aronson sent a letter dated May 15, 2017, to ADA Eaggleston 

and respondent's attorney stating that he would not issue a Declaration of Delinquency 

concerning the failed start-up test on April 29, 2017, but that he "intend[ed] to enforce 

the provision of the conditional discharge requiring the defendant to submit to tests for 

alcohol use" and that respondent was "require[ d] ... to submit to an Etg [sic] lab analysis 

of her urine sample." Judge Aronson directed in his letter that the test be done 

"immediately" (emphasis in original) and that respondent's attorney provide the lab 
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report to the court. In accordance with Judge Aronson's requirement, Rochester City 

Court Clerk Jody Carmel prepared a document for the Monroe County Office of 

Probation on May 15, 2017, confirming the ordered EtG test. 

81. On May 23, 2017, at the direction of Judge Aronson, Ms. Carmel 

drafted a notice of Judge Aronson's May 15, 2017 order that respondent "must" 

immediately submit to an EtG lab analysis of her urine to be provided to the court and 

that "If defendant has not submitted to the ordered E[t]G test, her presence with her 

attorney is required in Rochester City Court on Tuesday, May 30 at 12:00 p.m." On May 

24, 2017, Ms. Carmel mailed the notice to respondent, her attorney and the ADA. 

82. Respondent did not appear in court on May 30, 2017. On that date, 

her attorney told the court that respondent was in Thailand, having arrived there on May 

3rd intending to return in August, and he read into the record an email that he had sent to 

her on May 26, 2017, which stated in part: "Over the last several weeks I notified you by 

telephone that Judge Aronson has ordered you to submit to an immediate EtG test to 

determine whether or not you are consuming alcohol. ... I also sent you text messages to 

that effect. Today I received a letter from the Rochester City Court requesting that I 

appear with the results of the EtG test on Wednesday, May 30th, or in the alternative that 

being such results are not available, that you appear personally." 

83. Judge Aronson signed a Declaration of Delinquency on May 30, 

2017, finding reasonable cause to believe that respondent had violated the terms of her 

conditional discharge by failing to comply with his directives to submit to an EtG test or 

to appear in court on May 30, 2017. On the same date he issued a bench warrant for 
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respondent's arrest for her failure to appear in court as directed. 

84. Respondent returned to Rochester on June 4, 2017. The next 

morning, after meeting with her administrative judge, she was taken into custody by 

Monroe County Sheriffs personnel pursuant to the bench warrant and was brought 

before Judge Aronson, who ordered her committed to jail pending a hearing. 

85. During the proceedings on June 5, 2017, Judge Aronson told 

respondent that her attitude appeared "contemptuous," citing her "seemingly total 

indifference to the responsibilities under [her] conditional discharge" with respect to the 

IID on her vehicle, which was the basis for the court-ordered urine test, and her "apparent 

exile from the jurisdiction of the Court without advance notice to a place halfway around 

the world knowing that your CD requires random alcohol testing." He asked her, "How 

could you possibly not have considered what would happen if I ordered you to take a 

random alcohol screen if you were halfway around the world not just for a two-week 

vacation, but for three months?" Judge Aronson also stated, "I don't know when you got 

back into the country or to this city, but you did not tum yourself in when you returned." 

86. Respondent declined an offer to plead guilty to violating the terms of 

the conditional discharge and requested a hearing, which was held on June 8, 2017. 

Respondent testified at that hearing that she had been unable to comply with the court

ordered urine test or to appear in court on May 30 on short notice. She told the court that 

she learned of the court-ordered EtG test on May 27 from her attorney's email and since 

she was unable to book a return flight from Thailand immediately, she told her attorney 

to ask for an adjournment of the court date; she ultimately departed on June 3 and 
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returned on June 4, intending to tum herself in the next day. She also testified that she 

was unable to communicate with her attorney by telephone after May 7th after switching 

her service provider to a less expensive option and could only communicate by email. 

Judge Aronson found that she violated the conditional discharge by failing to submit to 

an EtG test or to appear in court by May 30th as ordered and remanded her pending 

sentencing. 

87. On July 6, 2017, Judge Aronson revoked the sentence of conditional 

discharge previously imposed upon respondent for her conviction for Driving While 

Intoxicated and sentenced her to a 60-day term of incarceration and a three-year term of 

probation, which included the condition that respondent wear a SCRAM alcohol

monitoring device for six months. 

88. Judge Aronson's finding that respondent violated her conditional 

discharge was affirmed on appeal by the Monroe County Court on December 8, 2017. 

89. When respondent booked her trip to Thailand and left on May 2, 

2017, she understood that she was subject to being required to submit to alcohol testing 

as a condition of her conditional discharge. 

90. Prior to leaving the country, respondent did not notify her 

administrative judge or her attorney that she planned to be in Southeast Asia for 

approximately three months. 

91. Although there is no provision in the conditional discharge 

prohibiting travel out of the United States, respondent was required to notify the 

probation office "prior to any change in address." Respondent failed to notify the 
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Monroe County Office of Probation of her planned extended absence. 

92. On May 7, 2017, respondent called her attorney in response to his 

email advising her of a "bad blow" on her ignition interlock device and informed him that 

she did not plan to return home until August. She testified that there had been a "positive 

blow" into the IID on her vehicle earlier in April, resulting in a lockout and shutdown 

that required servicing, that she understood prior to her departure that that matter had 

been cleared up, and that when she spoke to her attorney on May 7th she thought he was 

referring to the incident in early April. 

93. Respondent testified that after learning on May 27, 2017, at 

approximately 3:30 AM (4:30 PM Eastern Standard Time on May 26, 2017, in 

Rochester) that she had to appear in court in four days or get an EtG test in Thailand, she 

told her attorney that she believed it was "all moot anyway" because of a ')urisdictional 

defect" with respect to the supervision of her IID and asked him to request an 

adjournment. 

94. After learning on May 30, 2017, that Judge Aronson had issued a 

bench warrant for her arrest, respondent began investigating return flights from Thailand. 

She departed on June 3, a week after learning of her scheduled court appearance. 

95. On or about May 30, 2017, respondent violated the terms of the 

conditional discharge imposed in connection with her conviction for Driving While 

Intoxicated. 

Additional Findings 

96. On November 16, 2016, respondent was evaluated by Dr. George 
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Anstadt, through a referral from the Office of Court Administration. Dr. Anstadt reported 

that respondent's DWI "episode was motivated by a constellation of adverse events 

occurring simultaneously, causing her to resort to too much alcohol," and he advised that 

respondent was able to perform her judicial duties at that time. 

97. Respondent began seeing a clinical psychologist, Vincent Ragonese, 

in October 2016. In a letter dated October 9, 2017, Dr. Ragonese reported that 

respondent admitted consuming alcohol prior to pleading guilty to violating the terms of 

her conditional discharge, and he wrote that he "believe[ d] that was an instance of self

medicating due to difficulty adjusting to her situation and not to alcoholism." Dr. 

Ragonese reported that "[i]n the time that I have been working with Ms. Astacio I have 

not seen any evidence that suggests she has a substance abuse problem." 

98. At the hearing, respondent introduced a report of a lab analysis of a 

hair sample that concluded she had "most likely" not used alcohol from the end of May 

through August 2017. 

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a matter 

oflaw that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2(A), 100.2(C), 100.3(B)(3), 

100.3(E)(l)(a)(i) and 100.4(A)(2) of the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct ("Rules") and 

should be disciplined for cause, pursuant to Article 6, Section 22, subdivision a, of the 

New York State Constitution and Section 44, subdivision 1, of the Judiciary Law. 

Charges I through V of the Formal Written Complaint and Charge VI of the Second 

Formal Written Complaint are sustained insofar as they are consistent with the above 
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findings and conclusions, and respondent's misconduct is established. 

The totality of respondent's misbehavior as shown in the record before us -

her operation of a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol, resulting in her conviction 

for Driving While Intoxicated; her assertion of her judicial position in attempting to avoid 

the consequences of her arrest; her repeated, willful violations of the terms of her 

conditional discharge; and her improper conduct on the bench - demonstrates her 

unfitness for judicial office and requires the sanction of removal. 

Respondent's Misconduct 

As the Court of Appeals has stated, Driving While Intoxicated is '"a very 

serious crime' ... that has long posed a 'menace' to highway safety ... and has caused 

many tragic consequences" (People v Washington, 23 NY3d 228, 231 [2014] [internal 

citations omitted]). According to the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, 

every day almost 29 people die in alcohol-related vehicle crashes in the United States; in 

New York State there were 283 deaths in traffic accidents due to drunk driving in 2016, 

and nationwide, there were 10,497 such fatalities, accounting for 28% of all traffic deaths 

that year. 1 While respondent's behavior in operating her vehicle in an intoxicated 

condition fortunately did not result in injury, it endangered public safety and resulted in 

significant damage to her vehicle as a result of an incident she could not clearly recall or 

explain. Her conduct also violated the law that she is called upon to administer in her 

own court, thereby undermining her effectiveness as a judge and bringing the judiciary as 

1 https ://www.nhtsa.gov/risky-dri ving/ drunk-driving#2491. 
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a whole into disrepute. 

Although respondent, who had refused to submit to a chemical test for 

alcohol during her arrest, has denied that she was intoxicated at the time, she had a full 

and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the criminal matter, where her conviction for 

Driving While Intoxicated established her guilt of that offense beyond a reasonable 

doubt. By itself, her conviction, which was affirmed on appeal, provides a basis for 

discipline. See cases cited herein, infra at p 36. 

Exacerbating this serious misconduct- which, troublingly, occurred as 

respondent was on her way to court to perform judicial duties - respondent attempted to 

lend the prestige of her judicial position to advance her private interests by telling a 

supervisor at the police barracks, as her arrest was being processed, that she "has court 

right now" and "has arraignments" while asking, "Please don't do this." Precisely what 

respondent was hoping Lieutenant Lupo might do for her at that stage is uncertain, but 

Lupo, who already knew that respondent was a judge because of her earlier references to 

her judicial status, testified that he understood that she was "ma[king] that statement in 

connection with not wanting to be arrested, not wanting to proceed with the arrest 

process." These gratuitous references to her judicial position while attempting to avoid 

the consequences of her arrest were an implicit request for special treatment, conveying 

the appearance that she was calling attention to her status as a judge in order to bolster 

her plea to the police. By itself, such behavior can warrant public discipline even when a 

judge has been found not guilty of the underlying offense charged. See Matter of 

Werner, 2003 NYSCJC Annual Report 198. As we stated in Werner: "Public confidence 
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in the fair and proper administration of justice requires that judges, who are sworn to 

uphold the law, neither request nor receive special treatment when the laws are applied to 

them personally" (Id). 

Respondent's argument that in referring to her judicial duties while 

pleading with the supervisor she was only seeking to telephone her court to advise her 

clerk that she could not handle arraignments that morning is inconsistent with her actual 

words to Lupo ("Please don't do this"), which he noted contemporaneously. (His notes 

also indicate "crying," "begging," "pleading," "I have to go to work," "I have court right 

now.") Since it was clear that, as Lupo understood, she was "pleading" because she did 

not want to be arrested, any reference to her judicial position in that context could be 

perceived as conveying the message that because she is a judge, she should be exempt 

from the ordinary standards of law enforcement that apply to others. As we have 

previously indicated, such a message is repugnant and inconsistent with ethical standards 

prohibiting a judge from using the prestige of judicial office to advance private interests 

(see, e.g., Matter of Maney, 2011 NYSCJC Annual Report 106; Rules, §100.2[C]). 

Gratuitously referring to the judge's judicial position in circumstances conveying the 

appearance of seeking special consideration is also inconsistent with Rule 100.2(A), 

which requires a judge to avoid even the appearance of impropriety. 

Giving respondent the benefit of a doubt, we accept the referee's 

conclusion that respondent's earlier statement to Trooper Kowalski at the scene of her 

arrest that she was "going to City Court to do the arraignments at 9:30" was not an 

improper assertion of her judicial position since it was an accurate response to the 
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trooper's question. Nevertheless, her comment provided a significant context for her 

subsequent statements to him about why there was no basis for arresting her. 2 Having 

identified herself as a judge, she attempted to dissuade the trooper from arresting her by 

lecturing him about the law, advising him repeatedly that he lacked "probable cause" and 

"enough for a conviction" and warning that he was "making a very big mistake." 

Explaining these statements, respondent testified at the hearing, "I went over the factors 

... I was just explaining to him why this wasn't sufficient for a DWI." By making such 

statements after referring to her judicial status, she was not simply defending herself, but 

was giving her "unsolicited judicial opinion" about the merits of the arrest in an effort to 

persuade the trooper to drop the matter. See Matter of Ayres, 30 NY3d 59, 64-65 (2017) 

(town justice who was not a lawyer referenced his judicial status while acting as his 

daughter's advocate in a traffic case, thereby using his judicial position for personal 

gain). 

Following her conviction for Driving While Intoxicated, respondent was 

sentenced to a one-year conditional discharge, the terms of which required that she 

"Abstain from Alcoholic Beverages and All Products That Contain Alcohol," that she 

install an ignition interlock device ("IID") on her vehicle and comply with the device's 

requirements, and that she submit to testing for alcohol or drugs. Notwithstanding those 

obligations, respondent has acknowledged that within days of her sentencing she began 

2 Respondent's argument that the trooper did not know she was a judge until they were at the 
police barracks is belied by her testimony that when she told him she could not perform the 
standard field sobriety tests because she had a brain injury, he mocked her by asking, "How can 
you have a brain injury if you're a judge?" 
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drinking alcohol and was soon "drinking heavily" to cope with stress, and, within six 

weeks of her sentencing, she willfully attempted to engage in the same reckless, unlawful 

behavior that had resulted in her original conviction. On two separate occasions she was 

captured in photographs blowing into the IID in her vehicle, which recorded significant 

levels of blood alcohol content. A few weeks later, in satisfaction of her outstanding 

alleged violations, she pled guilty to attempting to start and operate her vehicle on one of 

those occasions with a .078% BAC. 

In pleading guilty to that violation, respondent asserted that she had not 

read the conditional discharge papers and therefore was unaware that alcohol 

consumption was prohibited, notwithstanding that the requirement was listed in bold type 

near the top of the first page of the form, that she had read and signed the form on the 

date of her sentencing and was provided with a copy of it, and that she was generally 

familiar with the form since she had used in her own court. In view of these factors, her 

claim seems unpersuasive, although, if true, her lack of vigilance in ensuring that she 

understood the requirements of her conditional discharge would show an unacceptable 

indifference to the court-imposed directives she was legally bound to follow. 3 Moreover, 

that explanation provides no excuse for her patently unlawful behavior, only weeks after 

her sentencing for DWI, in attempting to start and operate her vehicle despite knowing 

that she was impaired by al~ohol. As respondent has acknowledged, when she attempted 

to start her vehicle on that occasion she "was drunk" and knew that she should not be 

3 Also troubling is respondent's statement at the oral argument before the Commission that "even 
ifl had [read the papers], I don't think that would have necessarily changed my behavior." 
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driving, having consumed four glasses of wine and three shots of tequila. Respondent's 

only explanation for that inexcusable behavior is that it occurred when she had been 

"partying" with a relative and that she did not intend to "disrespect" or violate the law. 

At her sentencing for violating her conditional discharge, respondent 

apologized to the court, accepted responsibility for her conduct and told the court that she 

now understood the terms of her sentence and that "I can tell you that from today on, 

there won't be any violations" of her conditional discharge; she stated, "I can assure you 

that it won't happen again. I didn't understand. I do understand now." 

Nevertheless, six months later, just two days after her IID recorded another 

"positive blow" by someone who could not be seen on the device's camera\ respondent 

booked a one-way ticket to Thailand and departed the following day, intending, she 

testified, to remain for three months (a period that would coincide with the final three 

months of her conditional discharge). Prior to her departure, she did not inform either her 

administrative judge, her attorney or the probation office of her planned absence, nor did 

she ensure that during that time she would be available for communication regarding her 

compliance with court-mandated conditions. When the court, upon learning of the latest 

"positive blow" two weeks later, directed that she "immediately" provide a urine sample 

for testing or else appear in court on May 30, 2017, respondent did not obtain the 

required testing or appear in court as directed. In fact, although she claims she learned of 

the court's ultimatum three days before the return date, she did not return home for 

4 The circumstances of the "positive blow" on April 29 were not fully developed in the record, 
and respondent has denied that she aware of that incident when she booked her trip. 
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another week, and when she finally returned, she failed to surrender herself on the 

outstanding warrant that had been issued for her failure to appear. At the subsequent 

court hearing, respondent denied that she intentionally violated her conditional discharge, 

noted that she had never previously been asked to submit to alcohol testing pursuant to its 

terms, and stated that she had been unable to comply with the court's directives to obtain 

a urine test or to appear in court on May 30th on short notice. Finding respondent guilty 

of violating the terms of her sentence, the court re-sentenced her to 60 days in jail, three 

years of probation and the requirement that she wear a SCRAM ankle monitor for six 

months. 

These repeated, willful violations of the terms of her conditional discharge 

during a period when she was subject to the court's authority as a result of her conviction 

demonstrate a persistent, flagrant disregard for her obligation to comply with court

ordered conditions and directions and for her ethical responsibilities as a judge. 

The record also establishes that on several occasions respondent engaged in 

misconduct in connection with her performance of judicial duties. In People v Thomas, 

she arraigned a former client although her impartiality could reasonably be questioned 

not only because of the prior attorney-client relationship but because of her evident bias, 

which required her recusal (Rules, §100.3[E][l][a]). Even if respondent mistakenly 

believed that conducting the arraignment was permissible as long as she subsequently 

transferred the case, her handling of the proceeding, including her repeated expressions of 

fondness for her former client and her misuse of her judicial position to benefit him, 

created an unmistakable appearance of favoritism. Her undisguised attempt to benefit the 
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defendant by asking her clerk not to transfer the case to a particular judge whom 

respondent viewed as harsh was particularly improper. The defendant, who was being 

held on a parole violation arising out of the matter in which respondent had represented 

him, also benefited from her decision to set a $50 "courtesy" bail, which would give him 

credit for jail time on the current charge. When a conflict with a party requires 

disqualification, a judge must recuse at the outset of the case and must not handle an 

arraignment since arraignments are a significant stage in the criminal proceeding 

requiring the exercise of discretion (Matter of LaBombard, 11 NY3d 294, 298-99 [2008]; 

and see Adv Ops 09-223, 14-166). 

In three other cases respondent made discourteous, undignified or otherwise 

inappropriate comments while presiding over criminal matters in her courtroom. Her 

response to a defense attorney's comment mocking an alleged victim's claim of sexual 

abuse was insensitive and conveyed the appearance that respondent regarded the criminal 

charge as an appropriate subject for humor. Respondent's testimony that she was caught 

off-guard by the attorney's words, laughed involuntarily and then tried "to smooth it 

over" is belied by the transcript of the proceeding, which indicates that after laughing and 

commenting that the attorney's remark "was funny," she exacerbated the impropriety by 

returning to the subject a minute or two later, repeating the insensitive remark, chiding 

the prosecutor for failing to find the comment amusing and commenting that she herself 

found it "freakin' hilarious." It should be noted that while the other instances of 

respondent's on the bench misbehavior in this record occurred during her first month as a 

judge, this incident occurred eight months into her tenure. In another case, after learning 
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that a young female defendant may have spit on and attacked deputies on the way to 

court, respondent made a series of inappropriate comments to a deputy, suggesting 

Uokingly, she claimed) that he "tase" the defendant or "punch her in the face" because 

she "needs a whoopin' ." To a defendant charged with Disorderly Conduct for standing in 

the street blocking traffic, respondent stated, "I hate when people walk in front of my car. 

If there was [sic] no rules, I would totally run them over because it's disrespectful." Such 

comments are inconsistent with a judge's obligation "to be the exemplar of dignity and 

decorum in the courtroom" (Matter of Caplicki, 2008 NYSCJC Annual Report 103~ 

Rules, § 100.3[B][3]). 

The Appropriate Sanction 

In determining an appropriate disposition for alcohol-related driving 

offenses, the Commission in prior cases has considered mitigating and/or aggravating 

circumstances, including the level of intoxication, whether the judge's conduct caused an 

accident or injury, whether the conduct was an isolated instance or part of a pattern, the 

conduct of the judge during arrest (including whether the judge was cooperative or 

asserted his or her judicial position), and the judge's acceptance of responsibility for the 

offense and willingness to seek appropriate treatment. With one exception - Matter of 

Quinn, 54 NY2d 3 86 ( 1981) - the Commission has admonished or censured judges for 

such behavior.5 In Quinn, a case nearly four decades ago that involved particularly 

5 See, Matter of Landicino, 2016 NYSCJC Annual Report 129 (DWI conviction; judge repeatedly 
asserted his judicial status during arrest [censure]); Matter of Newman, 2014 NYSCJC Annual 
Report 164 (judge convicted of Driving While Ability Impaired ["DW AI"] after rear-ending a car 
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egregious circumstances Qudge was convicted of DWI after a prior conviction for DWAI, 

repeatedly asserted his judicial position and was uncooperative and abusive to law 

enforcement personnel), the Commission rendered a determination of removal, and while 

the Court of Appeals reduced that sanction to censure in view of judge's retirement and 

poor health, the Court underscored that the judge, who had admitted that he was suffering 

from the disease of alcoholism, "has demonstrated by his conduct that he is unfit to 

continue as a Judge" (Id at 392). More recently, the Commission has emphasized in 

several cases involving such offenses that in the wake of increasing recognition of the 

dangers of driving while impaired by alcohol and of the toll it exacts on society, such 

behavior will be regarded "with particular severity" (e.g., Matter of Maney, supra; Matter 

of Martineck, supra; Matter of Burke, supra) and has stated that the Commission "will 

stopped at a traffic light; was uncooperative during his arrest and made suicidal comments 
[censure]); Matter of Apple, 2013 NYSCJC Annual Report 95 (DWI conviction, based on a BAC 
of .21 % [censure]); Matter of Maney, 2011 NYSCJC Annual Report 106 (DW Al conviction; 
judge made an illegal U-tum to avoid a checkpoint, repeatedly identified himself as a judge and 
asked for "professional courtesy" [censure]); Matter of Martine ck, 2011 NYSCJC Annual Report 
116 (DWI conviction, based on a BAC of .18%, after driving erratically and hitting a mile marker 
[censure]); Matter of Burke, 2010 NYSCJC Annual Report 110 (DWAI conviction after causing a 
minor accident [censure, in part for additional misconduct]); Matter of Mills, 2006 NYSCJC 
Annual Report 218 (though acquitted of DWI, judge admitted operating a motor vehicle after 
consuming alcoholic beverages, "vehemently" protesting her arrest and making offensive 
statements to the arresting officers [censure]); Matter of Pajak, 2005 NYSCJC Annual Report 195 
(DWI conviction after a property damage accident [admonition]); Matter of Stelling, 2003 
NYSCJC Annual Report 165 (DWI conviction following a prior conviction for DW AI before he 
was a judge [censure]); Matter of Burns, 1999 NYSCJC Annual Report 83 (DW AI conviction 
[admonition]); Matter of Henderson, 1995 NYSCJC Annual Report 118 (DW Al conviction; judge 
referred to his judicial office during the arrest and asked, "Isn't there anything we can do?" 
[admonition]); Matter of Siebert, 1994 NYSCJC Annual Report 103 (DWAI conviction after 
causing a three-car accident [admonition]); Matter of Innes, 1985 NYSCJC Annual Report 152 
(DWAI conviction; judge's car struck a patrol car while backing up [admonition]); Matter of Barr, 
1981 NYSCJC Annual Report 139 (two alcohol-related convictions; judge asserted his judicial 
office and was abusive and uncooperative during his arrests, but had made "a sincere effort to 
rehabilitate himself' [censure]). 
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not hesitate to impose the sanction of removal in the future in an appropriate matter" for 

such behavior (Matter of Newman, supra). 

In the instant case, respondent's conduct in connection with her conviction 

for DWI, standing alone, would warrant a severe sanction in view of the aggravating 

circumstances presented. The crash of her vehicle that caused significant damage, her 

hostile, profane response to the police investigation, her assertion of her judicial position 

during her arrest to advance her private interests and the fact that the conduct occurred as 

she was on her way to court to perform judicial duties are compelling factors that 

exacerbate her unlawful conduct in that incident. Thereafter, in the nine months that 

followed her sentencing for that offense, while she was still under the court's jurisdiction 

pursuant to her conditional discharge, respondent compounded her misconduct to an 

unacceptable degree by willfully engaging in behavior that resulted in two successive 

determinations that she violated the terms of her conditional sentence, not only 

endangering public safety again by attempting to operate her vehicle in an intoxicated 

condition but demonstrating a profound lack of respect for the very laws she is sworn to 

administer. 

Significantly, respondent has made no argument that her conduct 

throughout these events was mitigated by the disease of alcoholism, asserting that she 

does not believe she is alcoholic and citing the evaluations of multiple professionals who 

concluded she is not suffering from alcohol dependency or has, at most, a "mild" alcohol 

disorder. Compare, e.g., Matter of Landicino, supra, and Matter of Quinn, supra. 

Rather, as the record demonstrates, throughout this entire period and the ensuing 
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disciplinary proceeding, respondent has continued to insist that she was not intoxicated at 

the time of her arrest and has attributed most of her behavior not to her own poor choices 

and poor judgment, but to various external factors and the stresses of coping with her 

unfair treatment by the court system and court administration and with the excessive 

attention of news media. Although she expressed some remorse at the oral argument, 

stating that "in retrospect" she "would do a lot of things differently," she repeatedly 

showed little or no recognition of her personal responsibility for the consequences of her 

actions, arguing, for example, that the trooper had no basis for arresting her, that her 

inappropriate behavior during her arrest was provoked by the trooper's disrespectful 

conduct, 6 that the judge who handled her criminal case treated her too harshly and that 

she was so aggrieved by her unjust conviction for DWI that she never read the document 

listing the terms of her conditional discharge prior to violating it. Similarly, in arguing 

that she did not intentionally violate her conditional discharge because it was impossible 

to obtain a court-ordered alcohol test or to appear in court on short notice since she was 

in Thailand, respondent never acknowledged that those circumstances were entirely the 

result of her own poor decisions. Respondent's failure to recognize and avoid 

impropriety and to accept responsibility for her misconduct "strongly suggests that, if 

[ s ]he is allowed to continue on the bench, we may expect more of the same" (Matter of 

Bauer, 3 NY3d 158, 165 [2004]). 

6 Although respondent has expressed regret for her combative, uncooperative conduct during her 
arrest and her hostile, profane statements to the trooper, she has continued to argue that her 
behavior is mitigated by the improper treatment she received from law enforcement personnel. 
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As the Court of Appeals has stated, the purpose of disciplinary proceedings 

is not punishment, but "protection of the public interest" and "the imposition of sanctions 

where necessary to safeguard the Bench from unfit incumbents" (Matter of Seiffert, 65 

NY2d 278, 281 [1985]; Matter of Reeves, 63 NY2d 105, 111 [1984], quoting Matter of 

Waltemade, 37 NY2d [a], [Ill] [Ct on Jud 1975]). We conclude, based on the totality of 

the circumstances established in the record before us7, that respondent's behavior shows 

"complete insensitivity to the special ethical obligations of judges" (Matter of Steinberg, 

51 NY2d 7 4, 84 [ 1980]), including the duty to maintain high standards of conduct at all 

times, both on and off the bench (Rules, §§ 100.1, 100.2[A]). As her conduct, viewed 

objectively, has irretrievably damaged public confidence in her ability to serve as a judge 

and has demonstrated her "manifest unfitness for judicial office" (Matter of Quinn, supra, 

54 NY2d at 392, 395), it therefore requires the sanction of removal. 

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the appropriate 

disposition is removal. 

Mr. Belluck, Mr. Harding, Ms. Comgold, Judge Falk, Ms. Grays, Judge 

Leach, Judge Mazzarelli, Mr. Raskin, Mr. Stoloff and Ms. Yeboah concur. 

7 At the hearing before the referee and during the argument before the Commission, respondent 
repeatedly referred to extensive media attention she has received since her arrest. In issuing this 
determination, we emphasize that our decision is based solely on the evidence adduced at the 
hearing and the arguments presented as reflected in our findings herein. 
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CERTIFICATION 

It is certified that the foregoing is the determination of the State 

Commission on Judicial Conduct. 

Dated: April 23, 2018 
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In the Matter of J. Marshall AYRES, a Justice of the Conklin Town Court, Broome County. 
J. Marshall Ayres, Petitioner; 

v. 
New York State Commission on Judicial Conduct, Respondent. 
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OPINION OF THE COURT 

PER CURIAM. 

*61 Petitioner J. Marshall Ayres, a nonlawyer Justice of the Conklin Town Court, Broome 
County, since 2009, commenced this proceeding, pursuant to article VI, § 22 of the New York 
State Constitution and section 44 of the Judiciary Law, to review a determination of the New 
York State Commission on Judicial Conduct (Commission) sustaining charges of misconduct 
and removing him from office. Upon our plenary review of the record we sustain the 
Commission’s findings and conclude that removal is warranted. 
 
The Commission issued a formal written complaint containing two charges. The first alleged that 
petitioner lent the prestige of his judicial office to advance the private interests of his daughter by 
attempting to influence the disposition of a traffic ticket issued to her and, in the process, was 
discourteous to the prosecutor on the case. According to the evidence before the Commission, 
petitioner relied on his status as a judge to personally request from a court clerk and another 
Town Justice that his daughter’s case be transferred from the assigned judge. The clerk did not 
comply with the request, and the Town Justice refused, and further rebuffed petitioner’s attempts 
to discuss the merits of his daughter’s case. Subsequently, petitioner attended his daughter’s 
pretrial conference with the prosecutor and made inappropriate reference to his judicial office, 
telling the prosecutor that “if this ticket was in my courtroom, I’d dismiss it,” and that other 
judges he spoke with shared his view “that this should be dismissed.” The prosecutor testified 
that she felt “extreme pressure” to dismiss the ticket. After the conference, the prosecution 
moved to *62 dismiss the ticket and the court eventually granted the motion.1 
 
The second charge alleged that, in connection with appeals from petitioner’s restitution orders in 

1 In fact, the Judge on the case initially refused to accept the prosecutor’s motion to dismiss, 
since, as he testified at the Commission hearing, he was worried that petitioner had exerted 
inappropriate influence during the pretrial conference. 
 

                                                           



 

People v. Finch (Conklin Town Ct, case No. 10020071), petitioner mailed to Broome County 
Court eight letters, including five ex parte, that contained argumentative and biased statements. 
In these letters, petitioner asserted that the appeal was meritless and that defense counsel’s 
arguments were “ludicrous” and “totally beyond any rational thought process.” Petitioner also 
made biased, discourteous, and undignified statements about the defendant and defense counsel, 
including suggesting that defense counsel was attempting to “pad [his] bill” at taxpayer expense. 
Petitioner himself concedes that at least one letter addressed County Court with “snarky” 
language. 
 
County Court took the unusual step of responding to petitioner with a letter in which it explained 
why his arguments were misplaced, his conduct inappropriate, and his words and actions 
ill-suited to his judicial post. Even after receiving this correspondence, petitioner continued to 
send letters to County Court opining on the merits of the case and failed to timely comply with 
deadlines for filing returns in the Finch appeals. 
 
The Commission unanimously concluded that petitioner’s actions violated sections 100.1, 
100.2(A), (B), (C); 100.3(B)(4) and (6) of the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct (22 NYCRR). 
As aggravating factors supporting removal the Commission noted petitioner’s insistence that his 
actions were permissible as well as his persistent misconduct in the Finch appeals.2 
 
The Commission properly identified the applicable judicial standards of ethics.3 As we stated in 
Matter of Esworthy, 77 N.Y.2d 280, 282, 567 N.Y.S.2d 390, 568 N.E.2d 1195 (1991), a judge 
has a duty to act “in such a *63 manner as to inspire public confidence in the integrity, 
fair-mindedness and impartiality of the judiciary.” The Rules Governing Judicial Conduct 
expressly provide that a judge must “act at all times in a manner that promotes public confidence 

2 While two commissioners wrote separately, both agreed that petitioner committed misconduct 
and that removal from judicial office was warranted. 

3 We reject as without merit petitioner’s varied objections to the Commission’s process. 
Contrary to his claims, the Commission did not employ improper investigative techniques or 
demand documents outside the scope of its authority, but instead acted well within its broad 
powers to request and review records (see Matter of New York State Commn. on Jud. Conduct v. 
Rubenstein, 23 N.Y.3d 570, 992 N.Y.S.2d 678, 16 N.E.3d 1156 [2014] ). We similarly find 
nothing inappropriate in the Commission Deputy Administrator participating at petitioner’s 
hearing, or the Commission referee advising petitioner of the possible negative inference to be 
drawn from petitioner’s failure to testify. Petitioner’s argument that he cannot be subject to the 
Commission’s scrutiny because he relied on the Office of Court Administration and the Town 
and Village Courts Resource Center is unpersuasive because the Resource Center made clear that 
a judge may not use a judicial position to obtain special favors or outcomes, even if attending a 
court appearance as a parent. In any case, as the record establishes, petitioner did not seek help 
from the Resource Center with respect to the charges at issue here, even after he had been put on 
notice that he was acting inappropriately. Lastly, the Commission’s formal written complaint 
provided petitioner with adequate notice about the disconcerting tone of his letters which the 
complaint described as containing “biased, discourteous and undignified statements about the 
defendant and his counsel.” 
 

                                                           



 

in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary” and “avoid ... [even] the appearance of 
impropriety” (22 NYCRR 100.2, 100.2[A] ). In particular, a judge shall not “lend the prestige of 
judicial office to advance the private interests of ... others” (22 NYCRR 100.2[C]). As the Court 
has emphasized, “[f]ew principles are more fundamental to the integrity, fair-mindedness and 
impartiality of the judiciary than the requirement that judges not preside over or otherwise 
intervene in judicial matters involving relatives.... The same is true of intervention by a judge in 
proceedings involving family members pending in another court” (Matter of LaBombard [State 
Commn. on Jud. Conduct], 11 N.Y.3d 294, 297, 869 N.Y.S.2d 1, 898 N.E.2d 14 [2008] ). 
 
Similarly, it is a violation of a judge’s solemn oath to abandon the role of neutral decision maker 
or engage in ex parte communications on the merits of a case. As we have explained, both 
actions are fundamentally incompatible with the responsibilities of judicial office (see Matter of 
Blackburne [State Commn. on Jud. Conduct], 7 N.Y.3d 213, 221, 818 N.Y.S.2d 824, 851 N.E.2d 
1175 [2006] [observing that, when “petitioner abandoned her role as neutral arbiter,” she acted in 
a way “completely incompatible with the proper role of an impartial judge”]; Matter of George 
[State Commn. on Jud. Conduct], 22 N.Y.3d 323, 330, 980 N.Y.S.2d 891, 3 N.E.3d 1139 [2013] 
[observing that engaging in ex parte communications about the merits of a case is “conduct ... 
antithetical to the role of a judge”] ). For this reason, the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct state 
unequivocally that “[a] judge shall not initiate ... ex parte communications” *64 22 NYCRR 
100.3[B][6] ), and we have repeatedly stressed that any conduct that creates or suggests the 
appearance of partiality is a “misuse of [the] judicial office” (Matter of Young [State Commn. on 
Jud. Conduct], 19 N.Y.3d 621, 626, 950 N.Y.S.2d 612, 974 N.E.2d 658 [2012] ). “[A] judge 
performing judicial duties must both act and appear to act as an impartial arbiter serving the 
public interest.... A judge who does not know this, and is not capable of learning it, should not be 
on the bench” (Matter of Cerbone, 2 N.Y.3d 479, 485, 780 N.Y.S.2d 106, 812 N.E.2d 932 
[2004]). 
 
As to the proper disposition for judicial misconduct, “[r]emoval is an extreme sanction and 
should be imposed only in the event of truly egregious circumstances” (Matter of Cunningham, 
57 N.Y.2d 270, 275, 456 N.Y.S.2d 36, 442 N.E.2d 434 [1982] ), and “should not be ordered for 
conduct that amounts simply to poor judgment, or even extremely poor judgment” (id.; see also 
Matter of Kiley, 74 N.Y.2d 364, 369, 370, 547 N.Y.S.2d 623, 546 N.E.2d 916 [1989] ). Whether 
a judge’s behavior crosses the line of what constitutes “truly egregious” conduct is a fact-specific 
inquiry because “[j]udicial misconduct cases are, by their very nature, sui generis” (Matter of 
Blackburne, 7 N.Y.3d at 219–220, 818 N.Y.S.2d 824, 851 N.E.2d 1175). A guiding principle in 
our assessment is that “the ‘truly egregious’ standard is measured with due regard to the higher 
standard of conduct to which judges are held” (Matter of Restaino [State Commn. on Jud. 
Conduct], 10 N.Y.3d 577, 590, 860 N.Y.S.2d 462, 890 N.E.2d 224 [2008] [internal quotation 
marks and citations omitted]). When a judge intervenes in another judge’s courtroom, it 
compromises the court system as a whole. Thus, “as a general rule, intervention in a proceeding 
in another court should result in removal” (Matter of Edwards, 67 N.Y.2d 153, 155, 501 
N.Y.S.2d 16, 492 N.E.2d 124 [1986] ). The inability to recognize the seriousness of one’s 
misconduct and the failure to heed a prior warning are significant aggravating factors, and can be 
grounds for removal as well (see Matter of George [State Commn. on Jud. Conduct], 22 N.Y.3d 
323, 331, 980 N.Y.S.2d 891, 3 N.E.3d 1139 [2013] [failure to heed a prior warning as a ground 
for removal]; Matter of Hart [State Commn. on Jud. Conduct], 7 N.Y.3d 1, 7–8, 816 N.Y.S.2d 



 

723, 849 N.E.2d 946 [2006] [failure to recognize the seriousness of misconduct as a ground for 
removal]; Matter of Robert, 89 N.Y.2d 745, 747, 658 N.Y.S.2d 221, 680 N.E.2d 594 [1997] 
[same]). 
 
Here, it was improper and a violation of petitioner’s ethical duty for him to use his judicial 
position to interfere in the disposition of his daughter’s traffic ticket. It was further improper for 
petitioner to tell the prosecutor that in his opinion and that of his colleagues the matter should be 
dismissed. By these actions petitioner did more than act as would any concerned parent, as he 
now maintains. Instead, he used his status to gain *65 access to court personnel under 
circumstances not available to the general public, and, in his effort to persuade the prosecutor to 
drop the matter, gave his unsolicited judicial opinion. Furthermore, petitioner’s imperious and 
discourteous manner towards the prosecutor on the case undermined “the integrity ... of the 
judiciary.” Even during the course of the Commission’s proceedings petitioner exhibited no 
insight into the impropriety of his conduct. For example, he used paternalistic and infantalizing 
terms, referring to the prosecutor as “girl” and “kid,” colloquialisms that were disrespectful and 
inappropriate. 
 
Petitioner’s actions during the Finch appeals, including his several ex parte communications to 
County Court advocating for dismissal of the matter and extolling the correctness of his decision 
making, were also highly improper (see e.g. In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 137, 75 S.Ct. 623, 
99 L.Ed. 942 [1955] [noting that a judge should not have “the zeal of a prosecutor”]; Matter of 
Gumo, 2015 New York State Commission on Judicial Conduct Annual Report at 98; Advisory 
Comm. on Jud. Ethics Op. 98–77 [1998] [“(A) judge should not adopt the role of an advocate”]; 
22 NYCRR 100.3[B][6] [prohibiting ex parte communications]). Additionally, the letters 
disparaged County Court, defendant, and defense counsel, which was also unacceptable (see 22 
NYCRR 100.3 [B][4] [“A judge shall perform judicial duties without bias or prejudice against or 
in favor of any person”]). He persisted in this serious misconduct even after County Court 
informed petitioner that his comments were “troubling” and further instructed him as to the 
appellate process and petitioner’s proper role. 
 
Petitioner’s misconduct is compounded by his failure to recognize these breaches of our ethical 
standards and the public trust. Before the Commission’s referee, the Commission itself, and this 
Court he continued to minimize the import of his actions. Rather than acknowledge his 
obligations and the implications of his conduct, petitioner asserts that he should not be removed 
because he acted as a father in his daughter’s case, not as a judge, and because his 
communications in the Finch appeals were in good faith and substantially correct. He focuses on 
what he perceives as a misunderstanding, stating that “[t]his experience has taught [him] how 
easily words and actions can be misinterpreted and to avoid any occasion or situation that could 
be misconstrued.” Petitioner fails to accept that this is not a question of a misunderstanding. As a 
judge he had but one choice: to refrain from “lend [ing] the prestige of judicial *66 office to 
advance the private interests of ... others” (22 NYCRR 100.2[C] ), which included any 
communication on behalf of his daughter which could be “perceived as one backed by the power 
and prestige of judicial office” (Matter of Lonschein, 50 N.Y.2d 569, 572, 430 N.Y.S.2d 571, 
408 N.E.2d 901 [1980]), such as his opinion that the ticket should be dismissed. Judges are held 
to “standards of conduct more stringent than those acceptable for others” (Matter of Kuehnel v. 
State Commn. on Jud. Conduct, 49 N.Y.2d 465, 469, 426 N.Y.S.2d 461, 403 N.E.2d 167 [1980]), 



 

and “ ‘paternal instincts’ do not justify a departure from the standards expected of the judiciary” 
(Matter of Edwards, 67 N.Y.2d at 155, 501 N.Y.S.2d 16, 492 N.E.2d 124 citing Matter of 
Lonschein, 50 N.Y.2d at 572, 430 N.Y.S.2d 571, 408 N.E.2d 901). 
 
Petitioner similarly fails to appreciate that he acted inappropriately during the course of the 
Finch appeals. He continues to minimize the import of his actions, claiming that the Commission 
took his comments out of context and that judges must be allowed “to express their own 
individuality.” Petitioner misses the essential point: that, as a judge, his conduct had to both be 
and appear to be impartial. This is a particularly high standard (see Matter of Restaino, 10 
N.Y.3d at 590, 860 N.Y.S.2d 462, 890 N.E.2d 224; Matter of Kuehnel, 49 N.Y.2d at 469, 426 
N.Y.S.2d 461, 403 N.E.2d 167). The conduct with which he is charged—and which he does not 
deny—fails to meet it. 
 
His response to the charges and the Commission’s findings, his continued assertion that he acted 
lawfully, and his failure to appreciate his ethical breaches “strongly suggest[ ] that, if [petitioner] 
is allowed to continue on the bench, we may expect more of the same” (Matter of Bauer, 3 
N.Y.3d 158, 165, 785 N.Y.S.2d 372, 818 N.E.2d 1113 [2004] ). Accordingly, the determined 
sanction of removal should be accepted, without costs, and J. Marshall Ayres removed from the 
office of Justice of the Conklin Town Court, Broome County. 
 
Chief Judge DiFIORE and Judges RIVERA, STEIN, FAHEY, GARCIA, WILSON and 
FEINMAN concur. 
 
Determined sanction accepted, without costs, and J. Marshall Ayres is removed from the office 
of Justice of the Conklin Town Court, Broome County. 
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The respondent, Michael R. Clark, a Justice of the Hastings Town Court, 

Oswego County, was served with a Formal Written Complaint dated July 2, 2014, 



containing six charges. The Formal Written Complaint alleged that respondent engaged 

in ex parte communications with defendants and dismissed or reduced charges without 

notice to or the consent of the prosecution; failed to provide a defendant the opportunity 

to be heard regarding bail; increased bail in an improper manner; imposed conditions of 

release on a defendant that were without basis in law; made improper comments about a 

defendant's physical appearance; and, at an arraignment, failed to advise a defendant of 

the right to counsel, asked incriminatory questions and imposed improper conditions for 

permitting the defendant to negotiate a plea. Respondent filed a verified Answer dated 

August 5, 2014. 

By Order dated August 20, 2014, the Commission designated William T. 

Easton, Esq., as referee to hear and report proposed findings of fact and conclusions of 

law. The parties entered into a stipulation dated February 24, 2015, closing the matter in 

view of respondent's resignation from judicial office by letter dated February 3, 2015, 

effective May 31, 2015. After respondent withdrew his resignation and requested a 

hearing, the Commission again designated Mr. Easton as referee by Order dated May 20, 

2015, and a hearing was held on September 17 and 18, 2015, in Syracuse. The referee 

filed a report dated August 23, 2016. 

The parties submitted briefs with respect to the referee's report and the 

issue of sanctions. Commission counsel recommended the sanction of removal, and 

respondent's counsel recommended a sanction no greater than censure. On December 8, 

2016, the Commission heard oral argument and thereafter considered the record of the 

proceeding and made the following findings of fact. 
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1. Respondent has been a Justice of the Hastings Town Court, Oswego 

County, since January 2000. His current term of office expires on December 31, 2019. 

He is not an attorney. 

As to Charge I of the Formal Written Complaint: 

2. In the Hastings Town Court, the prosecutor was often not present for 

the disposition of charges. The last Wednesday of each month was designated a "district 

attorney day" when a prosecutor would attend, although during court proceedings on that 

day the prosecutor would often be in a separate room conferencing cases. 

People v. B. B. 

3. On April 27, 2011 respondent presided over People v. B. B., 

involving a defendant charged with Speeding and Operating a Motor Vehicle with a 

Suspended or Revoked Registration, a misdemeanor. 

4. After reviewing the signed plea recommendation form from the 

district attorney's office, respondent accepted Mr. B.'s guilty plea to the reduced offenses 

of Operating an Unregistered Vehicle and Standing on the Pavement. 

5. While explaining the surcharge, respondent asked the defendant 

about his military service in Iraq. Then, without notice to the prosecution, respondent 

vacated the defendant's plea to the reduced offense of Operating an Unregistered Vehicle 

and dismissed the original misdemeanor charge in the interest of justice, stating, "I don't 

like the resolution of this. So I'm going to dismiss the 401(l)(a) in the interest of justice 

and the other one's a parking ticket, and you don't owe us nothing on it anyway.'' 
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People v. Joseph Scafidi 

6. On June 1, 2011, Joseph Scafidi appeared before respondent for 

disposition and/or sentencing on a charge of Petit Larceny and several traffic offenses 

including Aggravated Unlicensed Operation of a Motor Vehicle in the Third Degree 

("AUO"), a misdemeanor. 

7. Mr. Scafidi's attorney, Charles E. Pettit, confirmed to respondent 

that there was an agreed-upon disposition with the district attorney's office reducing the 

Petit Larceny charge to Disorderly Conduct contingent upon restitution and community 

service and that Mr. Scafidi had paid restitution and performed 45 hours of community 

service at a local cemetery. 

8. In response to respondent's inquiry, Mr. Scafidi stated that he had 

worked for Theresa Green at the cemetery, and respondent remarked that "she does a 

great job." At the hearing, Mr. Pettit testified that Theresa Green was a friend of 

respondent's wife. 

9. Respondent accepted Mr. Scafidi's guilty plea to Disorderly Conduct 

and sentenced him to a conditional discharge, waiving the surcharge. The waiver of the 

surcharge resided within respondent's discretion since the defendant had paid restitution 

prior to sentencing. 

10. Without notice to or the consent of the prosecution, respondent 

reduced the misdemeanor AUO offense to a traffic violation and dismissed another 

violation of Improper Tum, stating that he was doing so "on [his] own volition." 

11. The district attorney's policy was not to agree to a reduction of a 
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misdemeanor AUO offense if a defendant, like this defendant, had outstanding fines in 

another court. 

People v. CT 

12. On July 13, 2011, respondent arraigned Mr. T. on a charge of 

Disobeying a Traffic Control Device. After the defendant said he wanted to explain what 

had occurred, respondent advised him that he could seek a reduction of the charge from 

the district attorney's office. Respondent then asked him where he worked, and Mr. T. 

stated that he worked as an intern at the Calvary Baptist Church in Brewerton and was 

pursuing a master's degree. He also told respondent that he had not received a ticket 

within the previous 18 months. 

13. Without notice to the prosecution, respondent dismissed the traffic 

infraction, stating, "Okay, I'm going to dismiss this case in the interest of justice, sua 

sponte." 

14. At the hearing before the referee, respondent testified that he 

believed he had authority to reduce an AUO charge in certain circumstances and to 

dismiss a traffic infraction in the furtherance of justice without notice to the prosecution, 

but that he now recognizes that such conduct is improper. 

Additional Finding 

15. As the referee found, respondent's exchanges with the defendants in 

the B., Scafidi and T cases were either innocuous or permissible in the context of 

sentencing and were not ex parte communications. However, respondent had a 

responsibility to afford the prosecution notice of the information that he elicited and the 
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action that he was about to take in dismissing or reducing charges on his own motion. 

As to Charge II of the Formal Written Complaint: 

16. On July 13, 2011, respondent arraigned Timothy B. Fuller on a 

charge of Menacing in the Third Degree, a misdemeanor, and Harassment in the Second 

Degree, a violation. Mr. Fuller was appearing pursuant to an appearance ticket. 

Respondent ascertained that Mr. Fuller qualified for assigned counsel, directed that he be 

taken into custody and set bail at $1,500 cash. Respondent then inquired whether any 

attorney in attendance in the courtroom wished to represent Mr. Fuller, and Mara J. Holst, 

Esq., agreed to represent him. 

17. After Ms. Holst was appointed, the following exchange occurred: 

"JUDGE CLARK: Okay. Come on up counselor. This is 
your new attorney. Give her your paperwork, Mr. Fuller. He's 
charged with Menacing 3rd, a B misdemeanor and the Harassment 
2nd violation. Here, Mel, you'll need to make this out. You're going 
to probably make a motion for ROR or pre-trial, or something of that 
sort. 

MS. HOLST: Yes, judge. 
JUDGE CLARK: Okay, motion denied. Bail. You sure you 

haven't been drinking? 
MR. FULLER: Positive. I am not lying to you. 
JUDGE CLARK: Let's stay with the 1,500 cash, 3,000 bond ... " 

Ms. Holst never made a bail application. 

18. At the hearing before the referee, Ms. Holst (Wegerski) testified that 

she did not make an argument for her client's release because she believed the bail 

respondent had set was fair ("if I believed that the bail. .. was not fair, I would have 

pushed the issue") and because she did not think that making an argument would "make a 
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difference" in light of respondent's statements and his bail decisions in earlier cases that 

day. She also testified that she believed respondent's handling of the proceeding did not 

violate her client's rights and was "within the parameters of the law." 

19. After the proceeding, respondent sent the paperwork in the matter to 

the County's pre-trial release program, and Mr. Fuller was released the next day. 

As to Charge III of the Formal Written Complaint: 

20. On July 13, 2011, respondent arraigned Matthew J. Stuper and Justin 

Cote, who were charged with Harassment in the Second Degree, a violation. 

21. Mr. Stuper was a town resident who had appeared before respondent 

for nearly two years on two cases which were still pending. He had not had a bench 

warrant issued against him in these cases. 

22. In preparation for his court appearance, Mr. Stuper had borrowed 

money from his fiancee's mother in anticipation of needing cash to post bail. 

23. At the arraignment, respondent asked attorney Charles E. Pettit, who 

was representing Mr. Stuper on the pending matters, if he wanted to represent him on the 

new charge. Mr. Pettit agreed to accept the appointment solely for the purposes of 

arraignment. 

24. Respondent addressed Mr. Stuper about the other charges pending 

against him. According to the transcript, after Mr. Stuper reported that he was in the pre-

trial release program, the following exchange occurred: 

"JUDGE CLARK: Okay, your bail is set at 3,500 cash. 
MR. STUPER: I'll post it now. 
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JUDGE CLARK: Get it out. 
MR. STUPER: I want to post Mr. Cote's bail as well. 
JUDGE CLARK: Well, maybe I'm not going take it from 

you, sir. How much you got in there? 
MR. STUPER: Well, Mr. Pettit told me to bring a little more 

than necessary. 
JUDGE CLARK: Mr. Pettit? 3,500, by the way, will [sic], 

no, I can't do that. 
MR. STUPER: I don't have much more than that. 
JUDGE CLARK: No. Well, it doesn't really matter how 

much you have. What matters is that you're in more trouble while 
you have charges pending. Well, let's make sure I'm correct about a 
couple things here." 

25. Mr. Pettit informed respondent that Mr. Stuper's plea to a reduced 

charge of Attempted Endangering the Welfare of a Child had been vacated after an 

investigation found the complaint to be unfounded. Mr. Stuper confirmed that he was 

reporting to pre-trial release every week and told respondent that his fiancee needed his 

help in caring for their four children as she had a fractured tibia. After Mr. Stuper said he 

had attended an anger management program, respondent stated, "I find it hard to believe 

that someone who just attends anger management winds up in another similar situation 

where there appears to be anger involved." The transcript indicates that the following 

colloquy then occurred: 

"JUDGE CLARK: We now have three criminal files for you. 
MR. STUPER: Understand, sir. 
JUDGE CLARK: Do you have 5,000 there? 
MR. STUPER: Maybe, maybe, close. I'm -
JUDGE CLARK: Start counting. Because you need 5,000 

cash. Do you want to step aside a second while you're counting? 
MR. STUPER: Yes, sir. ... 
JUDGE CLARK: ... Count it out. Make sure what you have. 

* * * 
JUDGE CLARK: What are we up to there, counselor? 
MR. PETTIT: 5,000. 
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JUDGE CLARK: Good. Here, Mel. Mr. Stuper is going to 
post $5,000 cash bail." 

26. Mr. Stuper posted his bail as well as Mr. Cote's $500 bail. 

27. At the hearing before the referee, respondent testified that he was 

still reviewing the file when he set bail at $3,500 and that he changed the bail amount 

after reviewing the prior and pending charges against the defendant and determining that 

he was "a flight risk." 

28. In September 2011 respondent granted an adjournment in 

contemplation of dismissal in the matter and issued an order of protection. The allegation 

in the Formal Written Complaint pertaining to the order of protection is not sustained and 

therefore is dismissed. 

As to Charge IV of the Formal Written Complaint: 

29. On September 8, 2010, respondent arraigned Thor E. Lentz pursuant 

to an appearance ticket on charges of Criminal Mischief in the Fourth Degree, 

Harassment in the Second Degree and Unlawful Possession of Marijuana. Respondent 

assigned Charles E. Pettit, Esq., to represent Mr. Lentz. 

30. Prior to releasing the defendant, respondent directed him with 

respect to his attorney, "[Y]ou're going to have to make an appointment with his office, 

and you're going to have to go there"; "You have to make each and every appointment 

with him"; and "If I'm going to release you in your own custody today, you're going to 

report to your attorney when he says to, you're going to do what he says, how he says. 

Understand?" 
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31. Respondent also told the 21-year old defendant, "Any of the people 

that you usually hang around with, you're not going to hang around with them anymore''; 

"stay out of trouble" and "when you're not working, go home, watch TV, do something 

different, right?"; and "There will not be any drinking of alcohol until this case is closed, 

and God forbid you go out there and do any illegal drugs." Mr. Lentz had no co

defendants on the pending charges, and there was no indication in the papers that alcohol 

was involved in the matters. 

32. In addition, respondent told Mr. Lentz, who had not pied to any 

offense, "Start a little community service or something, maybe. Is that going to hurt 

you?"; "you need to start some community service, get yourself a few hours going, 20, 

25 hours ... you're going to start doing some community service, right?" He also asked 

Mr. Lentz, "Do you go to church? ... Well maybe you need to start ... So, you can, you 

know. check out the churches .... " 

33. On November 3, 2010, Mr. Pettit faxed a letter to the court asking to 

be relieved as Mr. Lentz's attorney and stating that Mr. Lentz had missed his first 

appointment and had indicated he would not appear for his next appointment because of a 

lack of transportation. Respondent signed a bench warrant for Mr. Lentz bearing a 

notation, "Failed to meet conditions of ROR." Respondent testified that the warrant was 

a draft that was placed in the court file and was never given to a law enforcement agency 

or executed. 

34. At the hearing, Mr. Pettit testified that he did not object to 

respondent's instructions to Mr. Lentz because he regarded them as "unenforceable." 
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Respondent testified that while there is "no excuse" for his instructions to the defendant, 

he made those statements "because I care about this kid"; his "intent was to take this 

young man and get him set on the right course," and at the time he thought he "was doing 

the right thing." He recognizes that by engaging in such behavior, he improperly 

"bridge[ d] social work with being a judge" and testified that he will not repeat such 

conduct. 

As to Charge V of the Formal Written Complaint: 

35. On February 9, 2011, respondent presided over a status conference 

in People v. Adam J Colbert, involving a 21-year old defendant charged with two counts 

of Driving While Intoxicated, Inadequate Lights, and Unlawful Possession of Marijuana. 

Mr. Colbert was represented by Richard H. Jarvis, Esq. 

36. Mr. Colbert has a nose piercing and ear gauges. 

37. Respondent began the proceeding by saying to Mr. Colbert, "What's 

that thing in your nose, Adam?" and "When I was a kid we used to do that to all the bulls 

on the farm." Respondent's comments provoked laughter in the courtroom. A few 

moments later, respondent continued, "I was mentioning what we used to do. That's all, 

rings in their noses, made them behave better." Respondent then commented on Mr. 

Colbert's ear gauges, saying, "What is going on with your earlobes?" 

38. At the hearing, Mr. Colbert testified that he felt respondent "was 

poking a little fun at" his physical appearance and that he was nervous because he did not 

know if his ear gauges would affect "what was going on in court." 
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39. Five months later, on July 13, 2011, Mr. Colbert appeared before 

respondent to enter a plea. In reference to the ear gauges, respondent asked Mr. Colbert, 

"Aren't those bigger than the last time I saw you?" When Mr. Colbert acknowledged that 

that they were, respondent replied, "Well, why would you do that?" and said, "You afraid 

I'm not seeing you up here or something?" Respondent continued to speak about Mr. 

Colbert's physical appearance, stating: 

"Well, it's not because I don't care. I mean, I'm just concerned about 
his ears. Court will reflect into the record that Mr. Colbert just 
appeared, and I believe last time he had pierced ears with holes in 
them that were approximately dime size, and today he appears, and 
I'm not sure, but they're somewhere between quarter and half dollar, 
and that's what we're discussing." 

40. Mr. Colbert pleaded guilty to one count of Driving While 

Intoxicated in satisfaction of all charges. Respondent imposed a conditional discharge 

with a $1,000 fine, a $400 surcharge and 40 hours of community service. After imposing 

the sentence, respondent told Mr. Colbert: 

"Additional [sic], there will be no more, geez, how do we say this, 
how about we just put it this way, you don't increase the size of your 
earlobes for the next twelve months. Because if I have to look at you 
again, I don't want to look at that. 

* * * 
Man, you got to find a new hobby - I'm letting you know. 

* * * 
I don't know why you do that, hey, you know what- maybe that's 
cool, maybe that's what you like, I don't know." 

41. At the hearing, Mr. Colbert testified that he understood that his 

conditional discharge required that for a year he "was not to stretch the size of my ears 

anymore," that he was "not happy" because he "did not believe my ears had anything to 

12 



do with the case," and that he was embarrassed by respondent's comments and by 

laughter in the courtroom when respondent made them. He also testified that he believed 

that respondent "cared about" him. 

42. Mr. Colbert's attorney testified that respondent "had clearly taken an 

interest" in Mr. Colbert, "was monitoring him very, very closely" and had developed "a 

rapport" with him over numerous court appearances. He testified that he did not object to 

respondent's statements because he regarded them as "good natured" and did not think 

the defendant "was being ridiculed or embarrassed." 

43. At the argument before the Commission, respondent stated that his 

comments to Mr. Colbert were an "attempt which was fool-hearted to relax the 

atmosphere" for a young defendant whom he had a rapport with and cared about. He 

testified at the hearing, and reiterated at his appearance before the Commission, that he 

now recognizes that such comments are inappropriate and that he will not engage in such 

conduct in the future. 

As to Charge VI of the Formal Written Complaint: 

44. On November I 0, 20 I 0, D. C., who was 17 years old, appeared 

before respondent for arraignment on a charge of Imprudent Speed, a traffic infraction. 

Mr. C.' s father was present. 

45. Respondent asked Mr. C. to show him the documents he was 

holding, and Mr. C. gave him an accident information form. Without advising Mr. C. 

that he had a right to be represented by counsel or asking for a plea, respondent 
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questioned Mr. C. about the underlying incident, asking, inter alia, "So, you had an 

accident?"; "Was it your fault?"; "Was anybody hurt?" 

46. Respondent asked Mr. C. why he did not live with his parents and 

asked Mr. C.'s father whether he wanted D. "to move home." When Mr. C.'s father said 

he did, respondent asked Mr. C., "Been to the Public Safety Center? Never been to jail? 

... Thinking about it? ... I am." Respondent questioned Mr. C. several times about why he 

was not living at home. 

4 7. Respondent asked Mr. C. if he wanted to "'just plead guilty" and "go 

to the Public Safety Center" where he "could go for up to ten days just on this charge. 

That's a week and a half." He added, "You don't think you want to go there? ... It's jail." 

Respondent then engaged in the following exchange with the defendant: 

"JUDGE CLARK: Oh but that jogged you pretty well, didn't 
it? You don't want to go to jail? 

MR.C.: No. 
JUDGE CLARK: Me either. So, how soon can you move 

back home? 

take?" 

MR. C.: As quick as possible. 
JUDGE CLARK: Pardon me? 
MR. C.: As quick as possible. 
JUDGE CLARK: There you go. How long is that going to 

48. After Mr. C. confirmed that he would move in with his parents, 

respondent stated, "I'll tell you what, I'll make you a deal. How's that? You want my 

help ... or do you want to continue down the course you are heading right now?" 

49. Respondent directed Mr. C. to never again come to court without his 

report card so respondent could confirm that he was passing his classes, then stated, 
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"Then if you're doing what I think you ought to be doing, I'll line up a meeting with you 

and the district attorney, and you can try and negotiate your way through this. Maybe 

he'll offer you a lesser charge." Respondent continued: 

"But, I'm the ultimate authority that decides what happens to this. 
Now, if you earn your way through this by going back home to 
live, like you should be anyways, and forgetting all about your 
goombas, and you get good grades in school, and you don't get in 
more trouble, you never know, maybe I'll dismiss it ... do you want 
part of the deal or not? ... Do we have a contract between us?" 

50. Respondent then told Mr. C. he would adjourn the case for 60 days 

"to give you a couple months to perform." Respondent summarized the terms he had set: 

"To achieve a C-level in school, report cards, and the promise. Promises will let you 

negotiate with the ADA, and then I'll do what I think is right, up to and including the 

possibility of 15 days of incarceration." 

51. The case history report in the C. case contains a notation stating: 

"def needs to move back home ... needs to imp[r]ove on his grades, bring grades to court.'" 

For the next four months Mr. C. returned to respondent's court several times to provide 

respondent with his report cards. The case history report indicates that the defendant met 

with the district attorney on March 20, 2011, four months after his arraignment. 

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a matter 

of law that respondent violated Sections 100 .1, 100 .2(A ), 100 .3 (B )( 1 ), 100 .3 (B )(3 ), 

100.3(B)(6) and 100.3(B)(7) of the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct ("Rules") and 

should be disciplined for cause, pursuant to Article 6, Section 22, subdivision a, of the 

New York State Constitution and Section 44, subdivision 1, of the Judiciary Law. 
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Charges I through VI of the Formal Written Complaint are sustained insofar as they are 

consistent with the above findings and conclusions, and respondent's misconduct is 

established. 

The record before us demonstrates that in performing his judicial duties in 

several cases in 2010 and 2011, respondent overreached his judicial authority, 

misapprehended his role as a judge and failed to comply with well-established legal 

requirements. As respondent has acknowledged, he deserves to be disciplined for his 

behavior, which was inconsistent with ethical standards requiring every judge, inter alia, 

to be an exemplar of courtesy, to be faithful to the law and maintain professional 

competence in it, and to accord to every person with a legal interest in a proceeding the 

right to be heard according to law (Rules, §§100.3[B][3], 100.3[B][l], 100.3[B][6]). 

Although it appears that in many respects respondent's conduct was well-intentioned and 

that his errors of law were isolated and unintentional, it is not disputed that he 

disregarded his ethical obligations and abused the power of his office. 

Most serious, we believe, was respondent's misconduct in connection with 

the Colbert and Stuper matters. 

Respondent's remarks regarding Mr. Colbert's appearance, delivered at two 

separate court appearances five months apart, were improper and unfitting for a judge. 

At a time when the young defendant facing serious charges was appearing before the 

judge to report on his treatment and later for sentencing, respondent commented on Mr. 

Colbert's nose piercing and ear gauges, remarking, inter alia, "What's that thing in your 
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nose? ... When I was a kid we used to do that to all the bulls on the farm"; "What is 

going on with your earlobes?"; "Aren't those bigger than the last time I saw you? ... Why 

would you do that?" Further, in sentencing Mr. Colbert to a conditional discharge on a 

plea to Driving While Intoxicated in satisfaction of multiple serious charges, respondent 

advised him, "Additional [sic] ... you don't increase the size of your earlobes for the next 

twelve months. Because if I do have to look at you again, I don't want to look at that." 

As the referee aptly stated, "That these comments were aimed at a twenty one year old 

young man struggling with a substance abuse problem only accentuates their 

inappropriateness." 

Conceding that his comments, on their face, appear to be mocking the 

defendant, respondent asserts that he was only attempting to "relax the atmosphere" for a 

young defendant whom he cared about and had developed a rapport with over numerous 

court appearances. Mr. Colbert, testifying about the incident four years later, said that 

while he had felt embarrassed by respondent's remarks, he believed that respondent 

"cared about" him, and his attorney concurred that the judge "had clearly taken an 

interest in this young man" and spoke to him in a manner that was "good-natured," not 

mean-spirited. Even if dispensed with good intentions, such comments to a vulnerable 

young defendant, delivered in a courtroom full of spectators, were inconsistent with 

Section 100.3(B)(3) of the Rules, which requires ajudge to be "patient, dignified and 

courteous" to litigants; at the very least, they could be perceived as demeaning and 

belittling and thus were detrimental to the public's confidence in this particular judge to 

perform his judicial duties in an appropriate manner, as well as in the judiciary as a 
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whole. Even a single instance of denigrating, disrespectful statements to a litigant, 

standing alone, may warrant public discipline. See, e.g., Matter of Hannigan, 1998 

NYSCJC Annual Report 131 (during plea discussions, judge referred to a young 

defendant as "trash" and "garbage" who had used her "constitutional right ... to lay back, 

... to have babies, ... to be stupid"); Matter of Going, 1998 NYSCJC Annual Report 129 

(judge told a litigant he appeared to be "more than a little nuts" and repeated the remark 

when the litigant objected). See also Matter of Assini, 2006 NYSCJC Annual Report 

191. 

In the arraignment of defendant Matthew Stuper on a Harassment charge, 

which occurred on the same date that respondent sentenced Mr. Colbert, the transcript of 

the proceeding indicates that respondent increased the bail from $3,500 to $5,000 with no 

explanation after Mr. Stuper indicated that he was prepared to post the initial amount, 

suggesting that respondent increased the amount simply because the defendant could post 

it. While respondent maintains that he spoke too quickly in setting the initial bail amount 

since he was still reviewing the file and that he subsequently determined that a higher 

amount was appropriate because of the defendant's prior convictions and pending 

charges, respondent failed to ensure that the record reflected the statutorily mandated 

criteria he considered in changing his bail determination (see CPL §510.30[2]). In the 

absence of such a record, respondent's increase of the bail amount appeared to be 

arbitrary and punitive, which demeaned the critical importance of procedural regularity 

and fairness in determining bail. See Matter of Hopkins, 1987 NYSCJC Annual Report 

93 (judge revoked recognizance, set bail and jailed a defendant charged with a traffic 
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violation after he requested an adjournment). This was contrary to respondent's ethical 

obligation to be faithful to the law and to avoid impropriety and the appearance of 

impropriety in performing his judicial duties (Rules §§ 100.3[B][ 1 ], 100.2[A]). 

On the same date, in Matter of Fuller, respondent made a pre-emptive, 

peremptory denial of a motion for the defendant's release by announcing "Motion 

denied" before any application had been made. Before making that comment, 

respondent, who had just assigned counsel to represent the defendant, remarked that the 

attorney was "probably" going to move for the defendant's release. The defendant's 

attorney never made a bail application, testifying at the hearing that she chose not to 

"push the issue" because she believed that the bail respondent had set was fair and 

because she felt it would be futile to do so in view of respondent's comments and prior 

bail decisions. Respondent's comment, at the very least, discouraged the attorney from 

making an application and therefore constituted a failure to accord to every person who 

has a legal interest in a proceeding the right to be heard in violation of Section 

100.3(8)(6) of the Rules. Procedural due process, which includes allowing a defendant 

an opportunity to be heard regarding his or her liberty interests, is of fundamental 

importance not only to the defendant, but to the public's confidence in the fairness, 

integrity and competence of the judiciary. See Matter of Jung, 11 NY3d 365 (2008). 

Whether the application would have been futile or not, the defendant was denied the right 

to be heard regarding his release. 

In two other arraignments, both involving young defendants, respondent 

overstepped his judicial authority by appearing to impose improper and far-ranging 
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conditions that had no basis in law and no relation to the charges against the defendants. 

In Matter of Lentz, he released on his own recognizance a 21-year old defendant charged 

with various offenses after directing the defendant, inter alia, to "make each and every 

appointment" with his assigned counsel and "do what he asks you to do ... how he says, 

what he says"; he further advised the defendant that "when you're not working, go home, 

watch TV, do something different, right?"; "the people you usually hang around with, 

you're not going to hang around with them anymore"; and no "drinking of alcohol until 

this case is closed." He even told the defendant, who had not been convicted of any 

offense, to "start a little community service or something, maybe. Is that going to hurt 

you? ... get yourself a few hours going, 20, 25 hours"; and after asking the defendant if 

he went to church, respondent told him, "Well maybe you need to start ... check out the 

churches." In Matter of C., involving an unrepresented 17-year old charged with a traffic 

infraction, respondent coerced the defendant to agree to move back home by 

underscoring his authority to send the young man to jail and pressing him for an 

explanation of why he did not live with his parents before asking, "So, how soon can you 

move back home?" Respondent also directed the defendant to bring his report cards to 

subsequent court appearances as a condition for "lin[ing] up a meeting between you and 

the DA" to discuss a possible plea. Despite respondent's professed motive to help the 

young defendants whom he "cared about" to get "set on the right course," such actions 

were an abuse of his judicial authority and, as he has acknowledged, wrongfully 

"bridge[ d] social work with being a judge." Respect for the law is better fostered by 

strict compliance with the requirements of due process than by ad hoc, informal 
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procedures that, even if well-intentioned, abrogate those requirements. 

Finally, it was improper for respondent to dismiss traffic charges in three 

cases and to reduce a charge (from the misdemeanor of Aggravated Unlicensed Operation 

to a traffic infraction in Scafidi) without according the prosecution an opportunity to be 

heard. While a judge has discretion to dismiss a charge sua sponte in the furtherance of 

justice "even though there may be no basis for dismissal as a matter oflaw" (CPL 

§170.40), such dispositions require notice to the prosecutor (CPL §§170. 45, 210.45), and 

reducing a charge requires the prosecutor's consent (CPL §220.10[3]). In each instance, 

respondent appears to have acted based on information he acquired, in the prosecutor's 

absence, during colloquy with the defendants concerning their military or community 

service. By his actions, respondent failed to be faithful to the law and maintain 

professional competence in it and failed to accord every person who has a legal interest in 

a proceeding the right to be heard according to law in violation of Sections 100.3(B)(l) 

and 100.3(B)(6) of the Rules. See Matter of Cook, 2006 NYSCJC Annual Report 119 

(censuring a judge, inter alia, for reducing or dismissing charges in 40 cases without 

notice to or the consent of the prosecution, in many instances based on ex parte 

communications). Admitting that these dispositions were inconsistent with statutorily 

required procedures, respondent testified that he had mistakenly believed that he could 

dismiss a traffic infraction in the interest of justice and had authority from the district 

attorney to reduce an AUO charge in certain circumstances. We note that there is no 

indication in the record before us that the district attorney, who appeared in respondent's 

court only once a month although respondent presided twice each week, ever objected to 
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or appealed these dispositions. Further, though the dispositions were improper, it appears 

that respondent's leniency was prompted by what he had ascertained about the 

defendants' character and conduct, not by favoritism or other improper purpose. 

In considering the sanction, we note that the Court of Appeals has stated 

that "the extreme sanction of removal" should be imposed only in the event of "truly 

egregious circumstances" (Matter of Steinberg, 51 NY2d 74, 83 [1980]). While serious 

in several respects, the misconduct described herein does not rise to the level of "truly 

egregious" misbehavior that has been held to warrant the sanction of removal (compare, 

e.g., Matter of Restaino, IO NY3d 577 [2008]; Matter of Bauer, 3 NY3d 158 [2004]; 

Matter ofSardino, 58 NY2d 286 [1983]). Based on the totality of the record before us, 

we therefore conclude that the sanction of censure is appropriate and consistent with 

Commission precedents, especially in view of the mitigating circumstances presented 

here. It appears that respondent's comments and directions to defendants, while 

improper, were well-intentioned, that he believed he was acting in the interests of justice, 

and that his errors of law were isolated and unintentional (compare, e.g., Matter of 

Duckman, 92 NY2d 141 [1998] [removing a judge for knowingly ignoring the law and 

demonstrating bias and intemperate conduct on repeated occasions]). We are also 

mindful that respondent appears to be a caring, hard-working judge in a busy court and 

that, at the hearing and oral argument, he readily acknowledged that his actions were 

improper and has vowed not to repeat them. Finally, we note that all of respondent's 

misconduct occurred more than five years ago, with no indication in the record before us 

of any prior or subsequent complaints regarding his judicial service (see Matter of 

22 



Skinner, 91 NY2d 142, 144 [1997]). Based on the totality of the record presented, we are 

persuaded that respondent is committed to ensuring that his conduct in the future is 

consistent with the ethical standards required of every judge. 

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the appropriate 

disposition is censure. 

Mr. Belluck, Mr. Harding, Judge Acosta, Mr. Cohen, Ms. Comgold, Mr. 

Emery, Judge Klonick, Judge Leach, Mr. Stoloff and Judge Weinstein concur. 

Mr. Emery files a concurring opinion. 

Ms. Yeboah did not participate. 

CERTIFICATION 

It is certified that the foregoing is the determination of the State 

Commission on Judicial Conduct. 

Dated: March 13, 2017 
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Jean M. Savanyu, Esq. 
Clerk of the Commission 
New York State 
Commission on Judicial Conduct 



STATE OF NEW YORK 
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT 

In the Matter of the Proceeding 
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4, 
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to 

MICHAEL R. CLARK, 

a Justice of the Hastings Town Court, 
Oswego County. 

CONCURRING OPINION 
BY MR. EMERY 

I concur in the sanction of censure despite my first reaction to Judge 

Clark's inexcusable comments to a vulnerable young defendant. At a time when the 

young man, facing serious charges and struggling with substance abuse issues, was 

appearing before the judge to report on his treatment and later for sentencing, Judge 

Clark's gratuitous statements about the youth's nose piercing and ear gauges mocked and 

denigrated his appearance. Without question, such comments are "improper and unfitting 

for a judge," as the Commission's determination states. See, e.g., Matter of Duckman, 92 

NY2d 141 (1998) Uudge who engaged in intemperate, bullying tirades towards 

prosecutors, inter alia, appeared to mock a blind attorney by waving papers in his face 

and saying, "Do you see me?"); Matter of Hannigan, 1998 NYSCJC Annual Report 131 

(during plea discussions, judge referred to a young defendant and her witnesses as "trash" 

and "garbage" and referred to her constitutional rights "to relax, to lay back, ... to have 



babies, ... to be stupid"). In my view, Judge Clark's comments to this defendant, standing 

alone, might warrant the ultimate sanction of removal, as recommended by Commission 

counsel, since such behavior so seriously damages public confidence in this particular 

judge to perform his judicial duties in an appropriate manner, as well as, in the judiciary 

as a whole. 

The Commission's Determination fairly describes the mitigating factors 

which support the result we reach. One of them, however, deserves a bit more 

elucidation, in my view. The chronology of this case, though long delayed for reasons 

not in the record, has ironically aided this judge in his quest to remain on the bench. The 

events took place more than five years ago and the record before us does not reveal any 

similar misconduct before or, more importantly, since. Because we took so long to bring 

this case to conclusion, the judge plainly benefited from his, apparently, blemishless 

record. Ironically, the delay in this case supports the conclusion that Judge Clark has 

demonstrated that he can perform his duties properly and effectively and, therefore, is not 

a threat to the public. 

By noting this factor in this case, I do not want to imply that we should 

suspend our process so that a judge can demonstrate her fitness after misconduct has 

occurred. I do not think there was any intent to allow this case to meander for so long. 

It is indisputable that delays of this length are bad for the judge, the Commission and the 

public. It just so happens that in this case, notwithstanding that the charges pending 

against the judge must have weighed heavily on his mind, the lengthy delay and the 
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judge's ability to function effectively during the pendency of his case worked to his 

benefit. Hopefully, we can make fair decisions without inordinate delay. 

For these reasons, I respectfully concur with the determined sanction of 

censure. 

Dated: March 13, 2017 ~ 
Richard D. Emery, Esq., Member :::S-
New York State 
Commission on Judicial Conduct 
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

MICHAEL M. FEEDER,

a Justice of the Hudson Falls Village Court,
Washington County.

THE COMMISSION:

Honorable Tholnas A. Klonick, Chair
Honorable Terry Jane Ruderman, Vice Chair
Honorable Rolando T. Acosta
Joseph W. Belluck, Esq.
Joel Cohen, Esq.
Richard D. Elnery, Esq.
Paul B. Harding, Esq.
Nina M. Moore
Honorable Karen K. Peters
Richard A. Stoloff, Esq.

APPEARANCES:

DETERMINATION

Robert H. Telnbeckjian (Jill S. Polk and Charles Farcher, Of Counsel)
for the Comlnission

Honorable Michael M. Feeder, pro se

The respondent, Michael M. Feeder, a Justice of the Hudson Falls Village

Court, Washington County, was served with a Formal Written COlnplaint dated April 23,



2010, containing five charges. The Fonnal Written Complaint alleged that respondent:

(i) accepted a plea froin an unrepresented defendant at arraignment and sentenced hiin to

30 days in jail notwithstanding that the defendant's ability to understand the proceedings

was itnpaired by alcohol (Charge I), and (ii) in four cases, held defendants in SUlnlnary

contelnpt without cOlnplying with procedures required by law (Charges II-V).

Respondent filed a verified answer dated June 20, 2010.

By Order dated Septeinber 16, 2010, the COlnlnission designated Gregory S.

Mills, Esq., as referee to hear and report proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law.

A hearing was held on November 12, 2010, in Albany, and the referee filed a report dated

September 12, 2011.

The parties subinitted briefs with respect to the referee's report and the

issue of sanctions. Counsel to the COlnlnission recommended the sanction of removal,

and respondent recolnluended a sanction less than reinoval. On Deceluber 8, 2011, the

COlnmission heard oral argument and thereafter considered the record of the proceeding

and made the following findings of fact.

1. Respondent has been a Justice of the Hudson Falls Village Court,

Washington County, since October 1999. From 1998 to 2005 he served as a Justice of the

Kingsbury Town Court. His current term expires on March 31, 2012. He is not an

attorney.
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As to Charge I of the Fonnal Written Complaint:

2. On August 6, 2007, Donald Hmnmond was charged with

Unnecessary Noise, a violation of Section 138-5 of the Code of the Village of Hudson

Falls. Mr. Halnmond was issued an appearance ticket directing hhn to appear in the

Hudson Falls Village Court on August 23, 2007.

3. Throughout the day on August 23, 2007, Mr. Hamlnond consulned at

least 24 beers and several "shots" of alcohol. He failed to appear in court as required, and

respondent issued a warrant for Mr. Hammond's arrest.

4. At approximately 9:47 PM on August 23,2007, Mr. Hmnmond was

arrested by the Hudson Falls Police Departlnent. The Incident Report stated that the

defendant "appear[ed] to be impaired with alcohol" at the time of his arrest. At 9:57 PM,

Patrohnan B. D. Kinderman completed a Suicide Screening Report, indicating that Mr.

Halnmond had a "history of drug and alcohol abuse," a "history of counseling and mental

health evaluation/treatment" and a "previous suicide attempt." Mr. Hammond was held

in custody overnight.

5. On August 24,2007, at approximately 7:00 AM, Mr. Hammond was

transported by the Hudson Falls Police to the Hudson Falls Village Court to be arraigned

by respondent. At the time of the arraignment, respondent was aware of the defendant's

extensive criminal history and his history of drug and alcohol abuse.

6. At arraignment, respondent allowed Mr. Hmnlnond to waive his

right to counsel, accepted his guilty plea to the charge ofUnnecessary Noise and
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sentenced hilTI to 30 days in j ail. I

7. Mr. HatTIlTIOnd was still under the influence of alcohol at the tilTIe he

waived his right to counsel and entered his plea of guilty.

8. After arraignment, Mr. HatTIlTIOnd was transported to the Washington

County Correctional Facility, where an initial Medical and Suicide Screening Report was

prepared. The Medical Screening Report indicated that Mr. HamlTIOnd had been "drunk

last night," had consulTIed "24 beers/couple shots" and drank "daily." The Suicide

Screening Report, completed at 8:37 AM, indicated that Mr. Hammond appeared to be

"under the influence of alcohol or drugs" and was exhibiting "signs of withdrawal." The

report also noted "DT's starting." (DT's refer to Delirium Tremens, a symptom of severe

alcohol withdrawal.) The officer who prepared the report suggested a I5-minute

"medical check for DT's."

9. Mr. HamlTIOnd had attained an eighth grade education and suffered

from learning disabilities causing him difficulties in reading and writing. Prior to

accepting Mr. HalTIlTIOnd's guilty plea, respondent did not ascertain or consider Mr.

HamlTIOnd's educational background and/or his learning disabilities.

10. Prior to accepting Mr. HatTIlTIOnd's guilty plea, respondent did not

conduct a searching inquiry, as required by law, to determine whether Mr. HalTImond had

knowingly and intelligently waived his right to counsel, including his appreciation of

IThe arraignments in Hammond and Belair (Ch. II) were not recorded. These two proceedings
predate the statewide Administrative Order of the Chief Administrative, effective June 16, 2008,
requiring that town and village justices mechanically record court proceedings.
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the value of counsel and the inherent risks of self-representation.

11. Prior to accepting Mr. Hmnlnond' s guilty plea, respondent did not

ascertain whether Mr. Hamlnond was under the influence of alcohol or drugs in the hours

before his arrest or at the time of his arraignment. At the hearing before the referee,

respondent testified that his knowledge of Mr. Hamlnond's history of alcohol abuse,

based upon Mr. Hammond's previous appearances before him, influenced his

detennination that the defendant was sufficiently sober to understand the proceedings.

12. At the hearing before the referee, respondent also testified that Mr.

Hmnmond "indicated" that he did not want an attorney. Respondent acknowledged that

he "did not adequately explain" the importance of the right to counsel and testified that

his knowledge of Mr. Hmnmond's prior crhninal history influenced his detennination that

the defendant had knowingly and intelligently waived the right to counsel.

13. Respondent acknowledges that: (i) he should have ascertained and

considered Mr. Halnmond's educational background prior to accepting his plea; (ii) he

should have conducted a searching inquiry to detennine whether Mr. Hammond

knowingly and intelligently waived his right to counsel; and (iii) he should have

ascertained to what extent Mr. Hmnlnond was under the influence of alcohol or drugs

during arraignment to detennine his Inental capacity and ability to knowingly and

intelligently waive the right to counselor enter a plea.

As to Charge II of the Fonnal Written COlnplaint:

14. On August 26, 2007, at approximately 12:00 AM, Joshua Belair was
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arrested by the Hudson Falls Police Departlnent and charged with Disorderly Conduct, for

allegedly arguing with police officers and yelling obscenities outside of a bar. In the five

hours preceding his arrest, Mr. Belair had consumed approximately twelve beers.

15. At approximately 2:30 AM, Mr. Belair was brought before

respondent for arraignlnent. Prior to arraignment, respondent was provided with Mr.

Belair's Arrest Report, which stated that Mr. Belair "appears to be ilnpaired with

alcohol."

16. During the arraignlnent, Mr. Belair was disruptive and directed

obscenities at the court. Respondent detennined that the defendant was refusing to be

arraigned and did not complete the arraignment. Respondent sUlnlnarily held Mr. Belair

in contelnpt of court and sentenced hhn to 30 days in jail.

17. Respondent prepared a commitlnent order stating that the defendant

"did continue to use obscene language after being told on several occasions not to use that

kind of language" and "refus[ed] to be arraigned."

18. Before holding Mr. Belair in contempt and sentencing him to jail,

respondent did not ascertain to what extent the defendant was still under the influence of

alcohol.

19. Prior to holding Mr. Belair in contelnpt, respondent failed to warn

him that his continued conduct would result in contelnpt and did not offer him an

opportunity to apologize or to Inake a statelnent on his own behalf.

20. Mr. Belair was transported to the Washington County Correctional

6



Facility, where an initial Medical and Suicide Screening Report was prepared and

cOlnpleted at 4: 11 AM. The report noted that Mr. Belair had a "history of drinking,"

appeared to be "acting and/or talking in a strange manner," and was "apparently under the

influence of drugs or alcohol"; the report included the COlnment "INTOX" and suggested

a I5-lninute "check for alcohol."

21. Mr. Belair served nine days in jail. On Septelnber 4, 2007,

respondent ordered Mr. Belair produced at the request of his newly retained defense

counsel, Elan Cherney.

22. On that date, Mr. Belair and his attorney appeared before respondent.

Mr. Belair apologized to the court and was purged of the contempt charge. Respondent

arraigned Mr. Belair on the Disorderly Conduct charge; Mr. Belair pled guilty and was

sentenced to a $100 fine, a mandatory surcharge and a one-year conditional discharge. As

a condition of discharge, respondent ordered Mr. Belair to undergo an alcohol evaluation.

23. Respondent acknowledges that prior to holding Mr. Belair in

contempt of court, respondent should have ascertained the extent to which he was under

the influence of alcohol prior to his arrest and arraignment and should have considered

his level of intoxication.

24. Respondent acknowledges that Mr. Belair did not completely

comprehend the consequences of his behavior and that before holding him in contempt of

court, respondent should have offered Mr. Belair an opportunity to apologize and to lnake

a statelnent on his own behalf.
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As to Charge III of the Formal Written Complaint:

25. On October 29, 2007, Anthony Genier, Jr., was charged with

Conspiracy in the Sixth Degree and Endangering the Welfare of a Minor. On December

16, 2007, Mr. Genier was charged with Violation of Curfew Ordinance, a violation of

Section 82-3 of the Code of the Village of Hudson Falls. On Deceluber 17, 2007, Mr.

Genier was charged with two counts of Petit Larceny.

26. On January 15, 2008, respondent accepted a plea agreement whereby

Mr. Genier, with the assistance of counsel, pled guilty to Endangering the Welfare of a

Minor,2 a single count of Petit Larceny and Disorderly Conduct in satisfaction of all

charges. Respondent adjourned the matter for completion of a presentence investigation

and sentencing.

27. On March 4, 2008, Mr. Genier appeared with his attorney before

respondent for sentencing. Respondent was aware that Mr. Genier was 16 years old at

that tilne. Respondent sentenced Mr. Genier to a $150 fine, a $165 surcharge,

participation in a Values Itnprovement Progrmn and a one-year conditional discharge on

the charge of Endangering the Welfare of a Minor, and a $350 fine, restitution and a one-

year conditional discharge on the charges of Petit Larceny and Disorderly Conduct. After

2 Both the transcript from the March 4, 2008 court proceeding and the Orders and Conditions of
Conditional Discharge evince that the Endangering and Conspiracy charges were merged, with
the defendant entering a guilty plea to the Endangering charge. The Memorandum of Plea
Agreement also shows that the two charges were to be merged, but erroneously indicates that the
defendant was to plead guilty to Conspiracy.
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sentencing, respondent ordered Mr. Genier to sit in the courtrooin while his paperwork

was completed.

28. While Mr. Genier was seated in the courtroom, respondent ordered

him to stop talking. Several minutes later, respondent stated to Mr. Genier, "[Y]ou just

got yourself 15 days" and suminarily held him in contelnpt of court for talking,

notwithstanding that Mr. Genier was talking quietly in the back of the courtroOln.

Respondent directed a court officer to "face [Mr. Genier] into a corner" of the courtroom.

29. At the oral argument before the Commission, respondent stated that

he ordered that Mr. Genier's chair be turned towards the wall for the purpose of

segregating him from other defendants in order to avoid further disruption.

30. Respondent sentenced Mr. Genier to 15 days in jail for contempt.

On the cOlnlnitlnent order, respondent stated that the defendant "did continue to talk

during Court after being warned three tifnes not to talk."

31. In his verified answer, respondent asserts that prior to holding Mr.

Genier in contempt, he issued several warnings to the defendants asseinbled in the back

of the courtroom not to talk or be disruptive.

32. Prior to holding Mr. Genier in contempt, respondent failed to warn

him that his conduct could result in sUlnmary contempt resulting in incarceration and

failed to offer Mr. Genier the opportunity to desist froin the conduct or to make a

stateinent on his own behalf.

33. Respondent acknowledges that Mr. Genier did not completely
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comprehend that his behavior could lead to his incarceration. Respondent also

acknowledges that before finding him in contempt, respondent should have warned Mr.

Genier that his conduct could result in contelnpt of court and should have offered hitn an

opportunity to desist froln the conduct and to lnake a statelnent on his own behalf.

34. Mr. Genier served 15 days in jail on the summary contempt charge.

As to Charge IV of the Fonnal Written COlnplaint:

35. On March 17,2008, Tholnas Butterfield was brought before

respondent for arraignlnent on charges of Crilninal Contelnpt in the First Degree,

Burglary in the Second Degree, Criminal Mischief in the Fourth Degree and Harassment

in the Second Degree.

36. Prior to the arraignment, respondent was provided with a copy of Mr.

Butterfield's Arrest Report, which stated that Mr. Butterfield "appears to be impaired

with alcohol." Based upon his past experience with Mr. Butterfield, respondent knew

that the defendant's usual demeanor was argumentative.

37. Prior to the arraignment, respondent was aware that Mr. Butterfield

was intoxicated and more argulnentative than usual, but respondent took no steps to

ascertain how much alcohol Mr. Butterfield had consumed prior to his arrest or the level

of his intoxication during arraignment.

38. During the arraignment, Mr. Butterfield asserted his right to counsel

and stated that he did not understand the charges. (The transcript indicates that

respondent advised Mr. Butterfield of the right to counsel and that the public defender
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was present.) When Mr. Butterfield stated that the proceedings were "a God damn joke,"

respondent replied that Mr. Butterfield was "going to get conteInpt of court." Mr.

Butterfield repeated "it's a joke," and respondent told Mr. Butterfield that he could not

"address the court this way." After respondent said that he had not received a letter froin

the purported victim, Mr. Butterfield called respondent's stateinent "a God damn lie," at

which thne respondent sumlnarily held Mr. Butterfield in contempt of court and

sentenced him to 15 days in jail.

39. Upon being held in contempt, Mr. Butterfield stated, "Big deal.

Give me 100 days." Respondent offered Mr. Butterfield the opportunity to retract his

statement and apologize; Mr. Butterfield declined, stating, "No I will not." Respondent

then increased Mr. Butterfield's sentence to 30 days in jail. Mr. Butterfield again called

respondent "a God damn liar" and used obscenities.

40. Respondent prepared a cOinmitInent order stating that the defendant:

... did refuse to allow Ine to cOinplete the arraignment, started
to yell during the arraigninent, continually interrupted Ine,
said this was a "God Dainn joke' and that I am a "God Datnn
liar." When warned that he would be held in contempt and
given an opportunity to apologize, he screamed that I should
apologize to hiIn and to give hiIn 100 days. He then said
"you're a God Damn liar Feeder; I hope you rot in f***ing
hel1."

41. Mr. Butterfield served 30 days in jail on the SUInlnary conteInpt charge.

42. Before finding Mr. Butterfield in conteInpt, respondent did not warn

him that his conduct could result in sUInmary conteInpt resulting in incarceration or offer

him the opportunity to desist from the conduct, to make a statement on his own behalf or
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to apologize to the court.

43. Before increasing his sentence, respondent did not warn Mr.

Butterfield that this refusal to retract his statelnent and apologize could result in

additional incarceration or offer hhn the opportunity to desist from the conduct or to make

a statelnent on his own behalf.

44. Respondent acknowledges that before finding Mr. Butterfield in

contempt, he should have warned him that his conduct could result in sumlnary contelnpt

resulting in incarceration and should have offered hitn the opportunity to desist from the

conduct and to make a statement on his own behalf.

45. Respondent acknowledges that he should not have increased Mr.

Butterfield's sentence without warning him that his refusal to retract his statement or

apologize would result in a further period of incarceration, and without providing him

with an opportunity to make a statetnent.

46. On March 28, 2007, respondent transferred the charges to County

Court after they were subsulned in a Grand Jury Indictlnent.

As to Charge V of the FonnalWritten Complaint:

47. On March 26, 2008, Robert Syversen appeared before respondent for

arraignment on a charge of Operating an Uninspected Motor Vehicle, a violation of

Vehicle and Traffic Law Section 306(b), for which the maximutn penalty was a $100

fine.

48. On several occasions during the arraignment, respondent told Mr.
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Syversen that he would be held in contempt of court for, inter alia, refusing to provide his

date of birth, refusing to listen to a reading of his rights and refusing to enter a plea. Mr.

Syversen asserted that he was not refusing to be arraigned but believed that he was not

required to provide his date of birth, that he could waive the reading of his rights and that

the entry of his plea could be adjourned.

49. Mr. Syversen ultilnately provided respondent with his date of birth

and other pedigree information. During the discussion of his plea, when Mr. Syversen

asked respondent if he would "consider dropping the charge," respondent advised Mr.

Syversen that he was being held in conteInpt of court and sentenced to 15 days in jail

unless he apologized. Mr. Syversen apologized and pled guilty to the traffic violation,

and respondent imposed a $50 fine, a $55 mandatory surcharge and a conditional

discharge.

50. When Mr. Syversen objected to and refused to sign the conditional

discharge on the basis that it violated his religious beliefs, respondent sUIninarily held Mr.

Syversen in contempt of court and sentenced hitn to 15 days in jail. The transcript states:

DEFENDANT: .. .1 can't sign that it's against Iny
religion. Sorry.

COURT: What do you mean it's against your religion
sir?

DEFENDANT: It's, I'm a Christian and that violates
Iny religion principles.

COURT: How's it violate your religions principles?
DEFENDANT: It's, just generally, I'd have to study,

study the document, I can't sign it.
COURT: Are you refusing to sign this order sir?
DEFENDANT: It's against my religion, my religions

principles, my religions principles as a Christian.
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COURT: And what religions principles is it violating?
What religions principles is it violating sir?

DEFENDANT: I can't, you're asking Ine to explain
that right now under duress and--

COURT: We're done. Place him in custody. You've
got 15 days for contempt of court sir.

51. On the cOInmitlnent order, respondent stated that the defendant "did

continue to refuse to be arraigned, insisted on entering a plea only under duress, refused

to sign the conditional discharge and continued to disrupt the proceedings after being

given numerous opportunities to cOInply."

52. Mr. Syversen served six days in jail before respondent ordered hiln

produced on April 1, 2008. On that date, Mr. Syversen apologized to the court and was

purged of the contelnpt charge.3

53. On April 29, 2008, Mr. Syversen pled guilty by Inail to Operating an

Uninspected Motor Vehicle. Respondent ilnposed a $50 fine and a mandatory surcharge.

54. Respondent did not include a conditional discharge as part of the

disposition.

55. Respondent did not warn Mr. Syversen that his refusal to sign the

conditional discharge could result in summary contempt resulting in incarceration.

56. Before finding Mr. Syversen in contempt, respondent did not offer

hiln the opportunity to desist froln the conduct, Inake a statement on his own behalf or

apologize.

3 The transcript erroneously indicates that Syversen appeared before respondent on April 4, 2008.
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57. Respondent acknowledges that he should have warned Mr. Syversen

that refusing to sign the conditional discharge could result in summary contelnpt resulting

in incarceration and that, before finding hhn in contelnpt, he should have offered Mr.

Syversen the opportunity to desist from the conduct and to make a statement on his own

behalf.

58. Respondent acknowledges that instead of holding Mr. Syversen in

contempt for his refusal to sign the conditional discharge, respondent should have

adjourned the matter for Mr. Syversen to obtain counsel.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Comlnission concludes as a Inatter

of law that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2(A), 100.2(C), 100.3(B)(I) and

100.3(B)(6) of the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct ("Rules") and should be disciplined

for cause, pursuant to Article 6, Section 22, subdivision a, of the New York State

Constitution and Section 44, subdivision 1, of the Judiciary Law. Charges I through V of

the Formal Written COlnplaint are sustained, and respondent's misconduct is established.

In five cases respondent showed a profound disregard for the rule of law

and failed to accord defendants fundamental due process while depriving them of liberty.

In four of these cases, within a span of a few months, he abused the sUlnlnary contelnpt

power, ignoring clear procedural safeguards mandated by law and sentencing individuals

to jail without issuing an appropriate warning or providing an opportunity to desist from

the contulnacious conduct. In an especially mean-spirited overreaction, he held in
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contelnpt a sixteen-year old defendant, who was about to be released on a conditional

discharge, and sentenced hitn to 15 days in jail for talking quietly in the back of the

courtroom. In another case, he accepted a guilty plea at arraignment from an

unrepresented defendant and sentenced hitn to 30 days in jail for a violation of local

ordinance (Unnecessary Noise), despite having good cause to believe that the defendant

was under the influence of alcohol and incapable of understanding and asserting his

rights. Exacerbating this record of egregious misconduct is respondent's censure in 2009

for a variety of ethical transgressions; indeed, the disciplinary charges in the earlier matter

were pending at the very titne he engaged in the Inisconduct depicted in this case.

Viewed in its totality, this record amply demonstrates that respondent lacks fitness for

judicial office and that the sanction of removal is appropriate.

In Hammond, involving a defendant who had been drinking heavily prior to

his arrest, the record establishes that prior to accepting the defendant's guilty plea at

arraignlnent, respondent failed to make a searching inquiry into whether the defendant

was capable of entering a plea or appreciated the "dangers and disadvantages" of waiving

the fundamental right to the assistance of counsel (see People v. Smith, 92 NY2d 516, 520

[1998] and cases cited therein). It is well-established that at an arraignlnent, a judge not

only Inust advise a defendant of the right to counsel and to have counsel assigned if he or

she cannot afford one, but must "take such affinnative action as is necessary to

effectuate" the defendant's rights; the court may permit a defendant to proceed without an

attorney only "if it is satisfied that [the defendant] made such decision with knowledge of
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the significance thereof' (CPL §170.10[4][a], [6]). As we have previously stated:

To detennine whether a defendant has knowingly and
intelligently waived this fundatnental right, the court must
"'undertake a sufficiently "searching inquiry'"'' in order to be
"'reasonably certain'" that a defendant appreciates the risks
inherent in proceeding without an attorney (People v. Smith,
supra, 92 NY2d at 520). While there is no rigid formula for
such an inquiry, the record as a whole must reflect that the
court has explored the relevant factors bearing on an
intelligent and voluntary waiver of the right to counsel,
including the defendant's age, education, occupation and
previous exposure to legal procedures (People v. Arroyo, 98
NY2d 101, 104 [2002]; People v. Smith, supra; People v.
Providence, 2 NY3d 579, 582 [2004]).

Matter ofDunlop, 2009 Annual Report 83.

Respondent has acknowledged that prior to accepting the plea in Hammond,

he did not conduct a searching inquiry, as required by law, to detennine whether the

defendant had knowingly and intelligently waived his right to counsel and appreciated the

inherent risks of self-representation and the consequences of a guilty plea. He did not

explore the defendant's educational background or ascertain that the defendant had an

eighth grade education and suffered from learning disabilities. Nor did respondent

explore whether the defendant was under the influence of alcohol or drugs - despite

knowing that the defendant had been intoxicated when arrested the previous evening, and

despite the fact that a short tilne after the arraignment, a Suicide Screening Report

prepared at the jail noted that the defendant appeared to be "under the influence of

alcohol or drugs" and was exhibiting "signs of withdrawal." Respondent's testilnony that

he simply "thought [the defendant] had been in the holding cell long enough to sober up
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considerably" (Tr. 133) is unpersuasive, especially in view of the absence of any

significant inquiry into whether this vulnerable defendant was competent to proceed. By

disregarding his obligations under well-established law, respondent engaged in

Inisconduct and abused the power of his office.

Depriving a litigant of fundamental rights not only constitutes legal error,

but may constitute judicial misconduct. See Matter ofDunlop, supra; Matter ofReeves,

63 NY2d 105,109-10 (1984); see also Matter ofFeinberg, 5 NY3d 206,215 (2005)

(legal error and Inisconduct "are not necessarily Inutually exclusive"). In nUlnerous cases

the Court of Appeals has held that a pattern of violating fundalnental rights of litigants

constitutes serious misconduct warranting removal from office. E.g., Matter ofBauer, 3

NY3d 158 (2004); Matter ofReeves, supra; Matter ofSardina , 58 NY2d 286 (1983);

Matter ofMcGee, 59 NY2d 870 (1983). Even a single instance of such behavior may

constitute misconduct, especially where there is an egregious violation of well-established

legal principles, resulting in a proceeding that was patently lacking in fundatnental

fairness (Matter ofDunlop, supra).

In four other cases, respondent abused his sumlnary contempt power and

deprived individuals of their liberty without due process. The exercise of the enormous

power of summary contempt requires strict compliance with mandated safeguards,

including giving the accused a warning that the conduct can result in contelnpt and

providing an opportunity to desist from the contumacious conduct and to Inake a

statelnent before a contempt adjudication (Jud Law §§750, 755; see Rodriguez v.
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Feinberg, 40 NY2d 994 [1976]; Katz v. Murtagh, 28 NY2d 234 [1971]; Pronti v. Allen,

13 AD3d 1034 [3d Dept 2004]; Loeber v. Teresi, 256 AD2d 747, 749 [3d Dept 1998]

["Contempt is a drastic remedy which necessitates strict cOlnpliance with procedural

requirelnents"]; Doyle v. Aison, 216 AD2d 634 [3d Dept 1995], Iv den 87 NY2d 807

[1996]). Here, respondent not only wielded the power without reasonable basis4 for

exalnple, in Genier, where the defendant was held in contempt for talking quietly in the

back of the courtroom - but ignored the mandated procedures prior to the adjudication of

contempt. Even if an individual is disorderly or disrespectful, a judge's strict adherence

to procedures required by law - including issuing a warning and providing an opportunity

to desist - Inay well avoid the necessity of imposing a contelnpt citation to maintain order

and decorum. The Court of Appeals and the Commission have held that abuse of the

sUlnmary contelnpt power and the failure to observe the procedural safeguards may

constitute Inisconduct warranting discipline. Matter ofHart, 7 NY3d 1 (2006); Matter of

Mills, 2005 Annual Report 185; Matter ofTeresi, 2002 Annual Report 163; Matter of

Recant, 2002 Annual Report 139. Respondent's exercise of the sumlnary contempt

power without complying with due process was a gross abuse ofjudicial authority.

4 Two intoxicated defendants were summarily held in contenlpt and sentenced to jail for their
behavior at arraignment: Joshua Belair received a 30-day sentence for using obscenities at his
2:30 AM arraignment (notwithstanding that the maximum sentence he faced for the underlying
charge was 15 days), and Thomas Butterfield received a IS-day sentence for calling the
proceedings "a God damn joke," a sentence which escalated to 30 days when the intoxicated
defendant responded to the sentence by saying, "Big deal. Give me 100 days." Another obviously
confused individual (Syversen) was held in contempt and sentenced to 15 days with no warning
for refusing to sign a conditional discharge because it violated his "religions principles [sic]."

19



With lnore than a decade ofjudicial experience, which included presiding

over a drug court, respondent should be familiar with the requirements of due process and

should understand that his duty to act in a neutral, judicious manner must take precedence

over impulses arising froln personal pique. Instead, his disregard of the rule of law and

the basic rights of litigants was inconsistent with the fair and proper administration of

justice. The conclusion is inescapable that respondent willfully ignored the law and, thus,

violated his duty to be faithful to the law (Rules, §100.3[B][1]).

While respondent's misconduct and the salient facts have been stipulated,

the record indicates that throughout this proceeding he offered various, inconsistent

rationalizations for his lnisconduct. For example, when asked at the oral argument about

the IS-day sentence for contempt he imposed in Genier, respondent explained, "I was

under the itnpression, the mistaken impression that the term for a contelnpt like that was

15 days. I didn't realize that it could have been shorter" (Oral argulnent, p. 22); he said

he could not recall why he believed a shorter sentence was unavailable (pp. 28-29).

Whether or not we believe that respondent an experienced judge who attended a judicial

training session on sUlnmary contempt procedures - harbored such a mistaken, draconian

view of the law, it does not in the slightest mitigate his actions in that case. Significantly,

he also acknowledged that during the 15 days that Mr. Genier served in jail, respondent

never considered that the defendant could be brought back to court to purge the contempt

(p. 27), though that is precisely what occurred in two other cases (Belair and Syversen),

where the defendants were returned to court after serving a portion of their sentence,
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apologized for their actions and were released. That history does not lend credence to

respondent's statements to the Commission. The record in its totality strongly suggests

that respondent, in a gross overreaction to Mr. Genier's courtrooln demeanor, simply

detennined that this young defendant, who was due to be released on a conditional

discharge after a negotiated plea, should spend 15 days in jail, then abused his judicial

authority to Inake that happen.

With respect to respondent's explanations regarding the issuance of a

warning prior to the contelnpt adjudications, the record is rife with inconsistencies.

While respondent repeatedly implied that his only error was that his warnings were

insufficiently clear,5 he has stipulated that he did not warn any of the defendants that the

conduct that provoked the contempt adjudications could result in contelnpt. Indeed, in

Genier, the record shows that respondent never Inentioned contempt at all before holding

the defendant in sUlnlnary contempt for talking in the back of the courtroOln. Nor does

the record substantiate respondent's portrayal of his warnings to Mr. Genier: although the

cOlnlnitlnent order states that the defendant "did continue to talk during Court after being

warned three times not to talk" (Stipulation, Ex W), the recording of the proceedings (Ex.

2) shows that respondent said once, "No Inore talking" before holding the defendant in

contempt several minutes after that warning was issued. Respondent then told Mr.

5 He stated in his verified answer that his warnings to defendants prior to the adjudication of
contempt "could have been more clearly given" (Answer, par 13, 20, 22, 28, 29, 38), and he
testified at the hearing, "I understand that I have to be much, much clearer in conveying to
defendants that their behavior or their actions are contemptuous" (Tr. 135).
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Genier, "You continued to talk after being repeatedly warned not to" (Ex. 2; Stipulation,

Ex U, p. 4), but no such "repeated" warnings are reflected on the record. In his answer,

respondent states that he had warned all the defendants asselubled in the courtroolU not to

talk (Answer, par. 22), but he was constrained to adluit that he never warned that talking

could result in contelupt or incarceration (Stipulation, par. 33). Moreover, although he

repeatedly insisted that Mr. Genier's "quiet" talking was disruptive (Answer, par. 21; Tr.

135-36, 166; Oral argument, p. 21), he conceded at the oral arguluent that the record in

Genier shows no indication that the proceedings were disrupted in any way (Oral

arguluent, p. 24). And while respondent repeatedly luaintained that he believed that he

"was properly exercising judicial contelupt powers pursuant to the protocol" he was

taught at his judicial training program, he adluitted that he "had not assiduously followed

all the requirements" (Brief, p. 3; see also Answer, par 13, 20, 27-29, 37, 38). No

explanation was offered for his failure to follow those requireluents - "assiduously" or

otherwise - in the cases here.

Viewed in their totality, respondent's handling of these matters showed a

disregard of fundmuentallegal principles and casts serious doubt on his fitness to serve as

a judge. In deciding the appropriate sanction, we consider both the severity of the

luisconduct depicted in this proceeding and respondent's prior censure for a variety of

ethical transgressions, including using his judicial power to effect the arrest of a motorist

and then taking action in the case, failing to disqualifY notwithstanding a clear conflict,

engaging in an ex parte cOlumunication, and huposing an adjournment in conteluplation
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of disluissal without the consent of the prosecutor (Matter ofFeeder, 2010 Annual Report

143). While the misconduct in the earlier proceeding is different from the conduct here,

respondent's argument that he has learned frolu his past Inistakes and desisted from

particular acts of luisconduct when they were brought to his attention is hardly reassuring.

His apparent inability to recognize and avoid luisconduct, to apply fundamental principles

of law and to adhere to the high ethical standards required ofjudges deluonstrates that he

is unfit to serve as ajudge (Matter ofCerbone, 2 NY3d 479 [2004]).

Accordingly, by reason of the foregoing, we detennine that the appropriate

disposition is removal, luaking hitu ineligible for judicial office in the future (NY Const

Art 6 §22[h]).

Judge Klonick, Judge Ruderman, Mr. Belluck, Mr. Cohen, Mr. Eluery, Ms.

Moore, Judge Peters and Mr. Stoloff concur.

Mr. Harding did not participate.

Judge Acosta was not present.

CERTIFICATION

It is certified that the foregoing is the detenuination of the State

COIUluission on Judicial Conduct.

Dated: January 31,2012

Jean M. Savanyu, Esq.
Clerk of the Commission
New York State
COInmission on Judicial Conduct
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

MICHAEL M. FEEDER,

a Justice of the Hudson Falls Village
Court, Washington County.

CONCURRING OPINION
BY MR. COHEN

Given the record established both at the hearing at which Judge Feeder

testified and in his answers during his pro se arguinent to the COlnlnission on

Deceinber 8, 2011, it is clear that he is not fit, under the circumstances, to continue to

serve as ajudge. Accordingly, I have voted with my unanitnous colleagues to reinove

hiin froin his judgeship.

Nonetheless, I write separately to address an issue not directly raised in the

Detennination, in order to underscore why it is indeed necessary for the Cominission to

proceed to remove him, even though he stated to us during argument that he will not

(have) run for re-election as Justice of the Hudson Falls Village Court to seek an

additional tenn when his current term expires on March 31,2012.

Notably, the Commission only learned of Judge Feeder's intention not to

seek re-election during the December 8, 2011 arguinent when he was directly asked by

COlnlnissioner Einery why, given the pattern of his misconduct as a judge, he wanted to



continue as a judge. Only then did he state that he had "already announced" his intention

not to seek re-election (Oral arguinent, pp. 36-37). When I inquired further about that

"announceinent" and whether it had been "fonnally" Inade, he stated that it had occurred,

curiously, just one day earlier when, Judge Feeder stated, a newspaper reporter called hhn

to detennine ifhe was intending to run (Id. at 42-43). The timing of his "announcement"

seemed odd indeed, given that Judge Feeder implied that it was unrelated to the fact that

oral argument was scheduled for the very next day.

There is also SOlne history here worth noting. As mentioned in the

Detennination (pp. 22-23), several years ago the Cominission filed unrelated charges

against Judge Feeder, resulting in the sanction of censure. According to the

Detennination in the prior Inatter, Judge Feeder had entered into a stipulation with the

COlnmission agreeing that if he vacated judicial office before the Commission rendered a

decision on the merits, the stipulation would be public and he would not seek or accept

judicial office in the future (Detennination 11/18/09, pp. 2-3). The record in that matter

reveals that five months after the stipulation, shortly before the scheduled hearing in

August 2008, the judge formally announced his resignation of his judgeship. When,

consistent with its standard practice and as part of its duties to the public, the

COlnmission made public the stipulation, Judge Feeder changed his mind, withdrew his

resignation and proceeded to litigate the charges at the hearing (Hearing transcript

8/18/08, pp. 2-3, 6-8).

I write here not to "pile on," given the unanilnous vote to remove, but to

explain why, notwithstanding the fact that Judge Feeder's tenn will expire very shortly, it
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is not sufficient to sitnply allow his term to silently run its course. Simply put, if the

COlnlnission were to close the matter in view of the judge's impending departure frOln

the bench, Judge Feeder would be free to run for, or perhaps be appointed to, another

judicial office, with the public never knowing the likely true reason that he decided not to

seek re-election, i. e., that these charges and their supporting proof are too substantial.

That would be turnstile justice indeed, and poor policy. The sanction of relnoval makes a

judge absolutely "ineligible" to hold judicial office in the future (NY Const. Art 6,

§22[hD. Parenthetically, if Judge Feeder had resigned his judgeship, the COlnlnission

under Judiciary Law Section 47 would retain jurisdiction for 120 days past his

resignation in order to file a determination of relnoval, likewise barring hitn froln judicial

office in the future; in extending the COlnlnission's jurisdiction for that purpose, the

statute underscores the rationale for relnoving a judge in certain cirCUlnstances

notwithstanding the judge's departure from the bench. Not so, however, if the judge

sitnply leaves the bench as his term expires, as he has asked to do here.

This is not to suggest - and is, in fact, part of the reason for this concurring

opinion - that there might not be sylnpathetic facts and circumstances where it would be

prudent and appropriate, indeed, for the COlnlnission to allow a respondent judge to walk

off into the sunset without a public detailing of the embarrassing allegations and facts that

lnight have led the COlnmission to prefer charges in the first place. The conduct of some

judges against wholn charges are brought sitnply does not warrant a public hUlniliation, if

it is clear that the conduct was aberrational for him or her and it is clear that that the

respondent's days on the bench are essentially over.
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This, however, is not such a case. Here, a continuation and public

resolution of these proceedings is necessary as a deterrent against this particular judge

holding further judicial office, and a vehicle to help ensure that his unfortunate conduct

will not be replicated either by himself or by others.

Dated: January 31, 2012

Joel Cohen, Esq., Member
New York State
COlnmission on Judicial Conduct
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OPINION OF THE COURT 
 
Per Curiam. 
 
On summary determination, the State Com-
mission on Judicial Conduct sustained one 
charge of misconduct against petitioner, a 
City Court Judge, for his failure to render 
timely decisions in 47 cases over a period of 
3 1/2 years and concluded that his conduct 
constituted a pattern of “persistent or delib-
erate neglect of his judicial duties” (Matter of 
Greenfield, 76 NY2d 293, 295 [1990]). We 
modify the determination and conclude that 
this matter should be remitted to the Com-
mission for a hearing before a referee. 
 

I. 
 
From 1994 to 2007, petitioner served as a 
part-time Judge of the Kingston City Court 
and maintained a private law practice. In 
February 2004, the Commission issued a 
confidential letter of dismissal and caution to 
him for failing to render timely decisions in 
two cases and failing to report one delayed 
case to his administrative judge as required 
by Rules of the Chief Judge (22 NYCRR) § 

4.1.1 In April 2007, he became a full-time 
judge of that court. 
 
In August 2008, the Commission filed a 
formal written complaint against petitioner, 
alleging that from July 2004 to February 
2008 petitioner delayed in rendering deci-
sions in 43 cases and four motions.2 The al-
legations are undisputed. In 25 of the cases, 
the delays ranged between two months and 
six months after final submission; in 17 cas-
es, the delays ranged between seven months 
to one year and two months; and, in one case, 
petitioner delayed the decision more than 2 
1/2 years. The delayed decisions on motions 
ranged between four and 11 months. No 
more than 13 decisions were pending at any 
given time. As required by 22 NYCRR 4.1, 
petitioner reported the delayed matters in 
quarterly reports to his administrative judge 
and cited “[i]nsufficient time” as a cause for 
many of the delays. In several cases, the lit-
igants or their attorneys wrote to petitioner or 
petitioner's administrative judge inquiring 
about the delayed decisions in their respec-
tive cases. 
 
Petitioner moved to dismiss the formal writ-
ten complaint, arguing that the Commission 
lacks jurisdiction to intrude into matters of 

1 The letter dismissed the complaint against him, 
but cautioned that he must “dispose of all judicial 
matters promptly, efficiently and fairly” and 
“submit complete and accurate quarterly reports 
of pending cases to [his] administrative judge.” 
The Commission further advised that the letter 
“may be used in a future disciplinary proceeding 
based on failure to adhere to [its] terms.” 

2 Pursuant to Uniform City Court Act § 1304, a 
“court must render judgment within thirty days 
from the time when the case is submitted for that 
purpose.” A court shall render a decision on a 
motion within 60 days (see Uniform City Ct Act 
§ 1001; CPLR 4213 [c]). 
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internal court administration. Petitioner ad-
mitted to the backlog and informed the 
Commission that, after becoming a full-time 
judge, he cleared his backlog and has re-
mained current. The administrator of the 
Commission opposed petitioner's motion and 
cross-moved for summary determination, 
sustaining the formal written complaint. The 
Commission denied the motion to dismiss 
and granted the cross motion for summary 
determination. After arguments on the issue 
of sanctions, the Commission determined 
that admonition was appropriate. Petitioner 
now asks the Court to review this matter 
pursuant to NY Constitution, article VI, § 22 
(d) and Judiciary Law § 44 (9), which confer 
on this Court plenary power to review the 
legal and factual findings of the Commission 
as well as the sanction. 
 

II. 
 
A judge has an ethical obligation to “dispose 
of all judicial matters promptly, efficiently 
and fairly” (22 NYCRR 100.3 [B] [7]). In 
Greenfield, this Court held that the Com-
mission generally lacks jurisdiction to disci-
pline a judge for a failure to timely dispose of 
pending matters (76 NY2d at 298). In that 
case, the Commission sustained one charge 
of misconduct against a Supreme Court jus-
tice, for his failure to render decisions 
promptly in eight cases. The delayed deci-
sions ranged from seven months to over nine 
years in those cases, and the petitioner con-
ceded that the delays were inexcusable. We 
concluded that the delays disclosed “serious 
administrative failings in [the] petitioner's 
handling of the cases,” but that there was “no 
persistent or deliberate neglect of his judicial 
duties rising to the level of misconduct” (id. 
at 295). The petitioner's hearing revealed 
that, during his judicial career, he had dis-
posed of approximately 25,000 cases and 
often worked evenings, weekends and holi-
days. Unique to that case, the petitioner's 

administrative judge explained that most of 
the delays occurred at the infancy of report-
ing rules, which had not been consistently 
applied and enforced, and that, prior to the 
disciplinary hearing, administrative action 
had been firmly interposed (see id. at 299). 
At that time, this Court concluded that it was 
important to draw a line 
“between the role of the Commission and 
court administrators in order to avoid confu-
sion and provide adequate notice to members 
of the judiciary as to when and under what 
circumstances delays in disposing of pending 
matters ceases to be a purely administrative 
concern and becomes a matter warranting 
punitive sanctions” (id. at 298). 
 
It still remains true that a judge's failure to 
promptly dispose of pending matters is pri-
marily a matter for administrative correction. 
But after nearly 20 years of experience with 
Greenfield, we think it is not workable to 
exclude completely the possibility of more 
formal discipline for such behavior, in cases 
where the delays are lengthy and without 
valid excuse. In Greenfield itself, we recog-
nized that when a judge “has defied admin-
istrative directives or has attempted to sub-
vert the system by, for instance, falsifying, 
concealing or persistently refusing to file 
records indicating delays,” the Commission 
has the authority to sanction a judge (id. at 
297; Matter of Washington, 100 NY2d 873, 
875 [2003]). We now hold that lengthy, in-
excusable delays may also be the subject of 
disciplinary action, particularly when a judge 
fails to perform judicial duties despite re-
peated administrative efforts to assist the 
judge and his or her conduct demonstrates an 
unwillingness or inability to discharge those 
duties. 
 
Because not every case involving caseload 
delays will rise to the level of misconduct, it 
is imperative that the context in which the 
delays occurred be fully explored. The 
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number of cases and the length of the delays 
should be assessed in light of the total num-
ber and complexity of cases that the judge 
presided over during the relevant time peri-
od, as well as the jurist's other judicial obli-
gations. The extent and nature of efforts 
taken by an administrative judge or other 
administrative personnel, as well as the 
judge's response to those efforts, should also 
be considered. Statistics alone are insuffi-
cient to support a finding of misconduct; 
disciplinary action must be based on a record 
demonstrating a judge's persistent lack of 
action in response to administrative recom-
mendations or warnings. 
 
Here, although petitioner had numerous 
lengthy delayed decisions and a prior letter 
from the Commission cautioning him to 
promptly dispose of pending matters, mis-
conduct was established on summary deter-
mination without a hearing. While we con-
clude that petitioner's motion to dismiss was 
properly denied because the Commission has 
jurisdiction to investigate complaints in-
volving delay and, where appropriate, pursue 
further proceedings, we are unpersuaded that 
the prior warning in this case was sufficient 
to render these delays misconduct as a matter 
of law, without the development of a record 
addressing the context in which they oc-
curred. On the record presented, it is not clear 
whether these delayed decisions were inex-
cusable and whether the problem could have 
been, or was, adequately dealt with adminis-
tratively. Indeed, we do not know the extent 
to which petitioner's administrative judge 
intervened. Given the Commission must es-
tablish that the delayed decisions were the 
product of misconduct, whether disciplinary 
action was warranted is not discernable from 
the existing record. 
 
Accordingly, the determination of the State 
Commission on Judicial Conduct should be 
modified, without costs, by denying the ad-

ministrator's cross motion for summary de-
termination and remitting to the Commission 
for a hearing on the charge contained in the 
formal written complaint, and as so modified, 
accepted. 
 
Judges Ciparick, Graffeo, Read, Smith, 
Pigott and Jones concur in per curiam opin-
ion; Chief Judge Lippman taking no part. 
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The respondent, James P. Gilpatric, a Judge of the Kingston City Court,

Ulster County, was served with a Formal Written Complaint dated August 8, 2008,

containing one charge. The Formal Written Complaint alleged that respondent failed to



render decisions in a timely manner in 47 cases despite having received a confidential

cautionary letter from the Commission in February 2004 for having delayed in rendering

decisions.

On September 8, 2008, respondent filed an Answer and a motion to dismiss

the Formal Written Complaint on the ground that, pursuant to Matter a/Greenfield, 76

NY2d 293,297 (1990), delayed decisions did not constitute misconduct absent certain

aggravating factors not present in the instant case (namely, where the judge "defied

administrative directives or has attempted to subvert the system by, for instance,

falsifying, concealing or persistently refusing to file records indicating delays"). On

October 6, 2008, the Administrator opposed the motion and cross-moved for summary

determination. By decision and order dated December 16, 2008, the Commission denied

respondent's motion and granted the Administrator's cross-motion.

After written and oral argument, the Commission rendered a determination

dated June 5, 2009, sustaining the charge and determining that respondent should be

admonished.

Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 7, of the Judiciary Law, respondent

requested review of the Commission's determination by the Court of Appeals. On

December 15,2009, after written and oral argument, the Court held that the Greenfield

doctrine was "not workable" and that, notwithstanding the absence of the specific

aggravating factors articulated in Greenfield, formal discipline could be appropriate for

"delays [that] are lengthy and without valid excuse." Matter a/Gilpatric, 13 NY3d 586,
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590 (2009). Noting that the summary proceedings in this matter did not present a

sufficient factual record for the Court to determine the appropriateness of an admonition,

the Court remitted the matter to the Commission for further proceedings.

On April 7, 2010, the Administrator of the Commission, respondent's

counsel and respondent entered into an Agreed Statement of Facts pursuant to Section 44,

subdivision 5, of the Judiciary Law, stipulating that the Commission make its

determination based upon the agreed facts, waiving further submissions and oral

argument and recommending that respondent be admonished.

On April 15,2010, the Commission accepted the Agreed Statement and

made the following determination.

1. Respondent is a Justice of the Supreme Court, Third Judicial District,

having been elected in November 2009 to a 14-year term that commenced on January 1,

2010.

2. From 1994 through 2009 respondent served as a Judge of the

Kingston City Court. Until April 1, 2007, respondent's position as a City Court judge

was part-time, with a judicial salary of $54,400 per year. From April 1, 2007, until

January 1,2010, respondent was a full-time judge of the City Court, with a judicial salary

of $1 08,800 per year.

3. Respondent was admitted to the practice oflaw in New York in

1977. While a part-time judge of the Kingston City Court, respondent maintained a

private law practice. Upon becoming a full-time judge, respondent closed his private law
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practice.

4. On February 5, 2004, the Commission issued a confidential letter of

dismissal and caution to respondent for failing to render decisions in a timely manner in

two cases and failing to report one delayed case to his administrative judge as required by

the Rules of the Chief Judge. The letter cautioned respondent that he must "dispose of all

judicial matters promptly, efficiently and fairly." The Commission also advised

respondent that the letter "may be used in a future disciplinary proceeding based on a

failure to adhere to [its] terms" and that the Commission "may also consider the letter...

in determining sanction in any future disciplinary proceeding, in the event formal charges

are sustained and misconduct is established."

5. Respondent recognizes that the letter of dismissal and caution should

have prompted him to render future decisions in a more timely manner.

6. Notwithstanding this caution, from July 2004 to March 2008, in 26

matters as set forth on Schedule A annexed to the Agreed Statement of Facts, respondent

failed to render decisions in a timely manner, either within 30 days of final submission as

required by Section 1304 of the Uniform City Court Act or within 60 days of final

submission as required by Section 1001 of the Uniform City Court Act and Section

4213(c) of the Civil Practice Law and Rules.

7. Not counting the first 30 or 60 days after final submission, as the

case may be, respondent's delays in rendering decisions in these 26 cases ranged from

136 days (over four months) to 935 days (over two and a half years). In ten of the cases,
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respondent delayed his decisions more than 240 days (eight months) beyond the 30 days

authorized by Section 1304 of the Uniform City Court Act.

8. Of the 26 delayed matters, 22 were small claims actions awaiting

decisions, three were summary proceedings awaiting decisions, and one was a motion in a

civil case. The delayed cases did not involve particularly complex legal or factual issues.

Most were typical small claims matters involving debt, damage or breach of contract

claims between two parties, such as a landlord and tenant, contractor and client, or vendor

and client. For example:

A. In Velez v. Birchwood Village, respondent delayed more than eleven

months before deciding whether the defendant was entitled to $450 in attorney's fees.

B. In Glass v. Krakle, LLC, respondent took eight months to decide

whether a tenant was entitled to the return of her $800 security deposit.

C. In Riviello v. Time Out Hair Salon, respondent took nine months to

decide a customer's action to recover $90 from a hair salon for a "botched color job."

D. In Rose v. Lockwood, respondent took seven months to decide a

small claims matter in which the claimant sought reimbursement for a $1,900 loan he had

made to his stepdaughter, who admitted accepting the loan.

9. Respondent's decisions in the 26 matters were generally from two to

three pages in length, contained summaries of the claims and the evidence and at most

contained a very brief discussion of any legal issues, often without citation to any legal

authority.
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10. In four cases, litigants or their attorneys wrote to respondent

inquiring about the delayed decisions, as set forth below.

A. Two months after Fabrico v. Eaton, a small claims action, was fully

submitted on May 10,2006, the defendant's attorney sent respondent a letter dated July

10, 2006, inquiring about the delayed decision. Respondent did not reply to the letter.

Without excuse or explanation for the delay, respondent issued a decision on February 2,

2007, almost seven months after that letter was sent and nearly eight months (238 days)

beyond the statutory time frame.

B. Five months after Nace v. Klein, a small claims action, was fully

submitted on February 23, 2007', the claimant's attorney sent respondent a letter dated

July 23,2007, inquiring about the delayed decision. Respondent did not reply to the

letter. Without excuse or explanation for the delay, respondent issued a decision on

October 30,2007, three months after that letter was sent and seven months (219 days)

beyond the statutory time frame.

C. Nearly one year after Rosenbaum v. Miller was fully submitted on

March 9,2007, the claimant's attorney sent respondent a letter dated February 18,2008,

inquiring about the delayed decision. Without excuse or explanation for the delay,

respondent issued a decision on February 26, 2008, more than ten months (324 days)

beyond the statutory time frame.

D. More than six months after Riviello v. Time Out Hair Salon, a small

claims action, was fully submitted on February 3, 2006, the claimant sent respondent a
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letter dated August 14, 2006, inquiring about the delayed decision. Respondent did not

reply to the letter. Without excuse or explanation for the delay, respondent issued a

decision on November 3, 2006, eight months (243 days) beyond the statutory time frame,

after receiving two letters from his administrative judge, Supreme Court Justice George

B. Ceresia, Jr., inquiring about the case (infra par. 11 [B]).

11. In two cases, Administrative Judge Ceresia communicated with

respondent about delayed decisions, as set forth below.

A. Judge Ceresia sent a letter to respondent on June 22,2005, inquiring

about the status of Morales v. Lopez, which was fully submitted on November 5, 2004.

Judge Ceresia enclosed a letter from the plaintiff, who requested that he intervene on her

behalf. Respondent did not reply to Judge Ceresia, who sent a second letter to respondent

on August 1,2005, asking for a response "within one week." Respondent replied on

August 10,2005, stating that he had been out of town assisting his wife on a business trip.

On the same date, respondent issued a decision in Morales, 248 days (eight months) later

than required by Section 1304 of the Uniform City Court Act.

B. Judge Ceresia sent a letter to respondent on September 7,2006,

inquiring about the status of Riviello v. Time Out Hair Salon, which was fully submitted

on February 3, 2006. Judge Ceresia enclosed a letter from the plaintiff, who stated that

she had written to respondent "pleading for a decision." Respondent did not reply,

prompting Judge Ceresia to send a second letter to respondent on October 2,2006,

requesting that he respond "immediately." Again respondent did not reply. A month
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later, on November 3, 2006, without excuse or explanation for the delay, respondent

issued a decision.

12. During the time periods set forth on Schedule A (July 2004 through

March 2008), respondent was also engaged in the private practice of law (up to April

2007) and in two campaigns for election to public office. In 2004 respondent sought his

party's nomination for Supreme Court Justice, and in 2007 respondent ran for Kingston

City Court Judge. Respondent recognizes that neither the obligations of his law practice

nor his political activity was an excuse for failing to render decisions in a timely manner

and that pursuant to Section 100.3(A) of the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct ("Rules"),

the judicial duties of a judge take precedence over all the judge's other activities.

13. Respondent continued to delay issuing decisions in cases even after

taking the bench full-time on April 1,2007. As of that date, five of the cases on Schedule

A were pending and already late. Litigants in three of those cases waited for periods of

seven or eight months, until October and November 2007, for decisions in their cases.

The litigants in Tripp v. Meehan waited until February 2008, 13 months after the decision

was due.

14. Respondent also delayed unduly in deciding a case that was fully

submitted to him after he became a full-time judge. He issued a decision in Robles v.

Anson, a small claims case, 258 days (more than eight months) beyond the statutory time

frame.
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Mitigating Factors

15. Respondent reported all delayed matters on his quarterly reports to

his administrative judge as required by the Rules of the Chief Judge (22 NYCRR §4.1).

16. There is no indication that respondent attempted to conceal the

delays or to subvert the efforts of court administrators to monitor the delayed matters.

17. In the spring of 2006, while a part-time judge, respondent assumed

additional adjudicative responsibilities by instituting a domestic violence court. Nine of

the delays for which he was responsible pre-dated his assumption of that assignment.

18. Respondent now recognizes and acknowledges that "the judicial

duties of a judge take precedence over all the judge's other activities" (Rules, §100.3[A])

and that whether serving part-time or full-time, he was obliged to perform his judicial

duties diligently and to establish procedures and priorities to ensure that decisions are not

unduly delayed. During the time respondent was receiving a salary of $54,400 per year

for serving as a half-time judge, he continued to engage in the private practice of law, as

permitted by the Rules. On seven of the eight quarterly reports of pending matters that

respondent submitted to his administrative judge in 2005 and 2006, respondent stated that

his delays were due to "insufficient time." Respondent concedes that because of his

private practice of law, he was not devoting the time necessary to reduce his backlog of

undecided cases.

Withdrawal of Specifications

19. After careful consideration of the Court of Appeals' decision in
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Matter ofGilpatric, supra, and further examination of the facts in light of that decision,

the Administrator withdraws 21 specifications from the Formal Written Complaint.!

Although respondent delayed rendering decision in each of these 21 cases beyond the

time required by statutory mandates, the Administrator notes that the delays in these 21

matters ranged between 60 and 120 days and that respondent was contemporaneously

rendering decisions in other matters and was otherwise attending to a busy calendar.

20. The Administrator does not suggest that decisional delays of less

than 120 days can never be misconduct or that there is any fixed numerical standard that

establishes when delay rises to the level of misconduct. Each case must be examined

individually. As to these 21 cases of lesser delay, the Administrator respectfully submits

that withdrawal is appropriate.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a matter

oflaw that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2(A), 100.3(A), 100.3(B)(1) and

100.3(B)(7) of the Rules and should be disciplined for cause, pursuant to Article 6,

Section 22, subdivision a, of the New York State Constitution and Section 44, subdivision

1, of the Judiciary Law. Charge I of the Formal Written Complaint is sustained insofar as

it is consistent with the above findings and conclusions, and respondenf s misconduct is

1 Little v. Herdman, McCausland v. Sands and Rizzo, Hanowitz v. Troeger, Peppers v.Mehl,
Mathis v. Olen, McMahon v. Wilkie, Rogers v. Ellenridge, Horowitz v. Chernick, Bohan v. Koltz,
Miller v. Terpening, Cammarata v. Malik, Clarke v. White, Dinoris v. Vandemark, Puffer v.
Gokey, Goralewski v. Brewer, Goralewski v. Kingston Pontiac, Hamberger v. Winkler,
Kapilevich v. E3, Inc., Boyd v. Oakley, Ulster Credit Union v. Baker and Fairjohn Realty v. IPE.
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established.

Within 18 months of receiving a confidential letter of dismissal and caution

from the Commission for failing to issue decisions in a timely manner, respondent

developed a sizeable backlog of delayed cases that persisted over several years.

Respondent's failure to render timely decisions in 26 cases over a period of more than

three and a half years constitutes a pattern of "persistent or deliberate neglect of his

judicial duties" (Matter afGreenfield, 76 NY2d 293,295 [1990]), which is aggravated by

numerous factors, including that: (1) respondent failed to heed the Commission's

previous cautionary warning about such delays; (2) respondent received numerous letters

from litigants or their attorneys inquiring about the delayed decisions; (3) in three cases in

which litigants or their attorneys had written to him about the delays, respondent did not

issue a decision until several months after receiving such letters; (4) in two cases,

respondent received letters from his administrative judge inquiring about the delayed

decisions; (5) in each of those two cases, respondent did not respond to his administrative

judge's inquiry or issue a decision promptly, which necessitated a follow-up letter from

the administrative judge; and (6) after his administrative judge's intervention, respondent

did not eliminate his backlog of delayed cases and continued to have delays in subsequent

matters. These persistent delays evidence deliberate neglect that warrants public

discipline.

Respondent's delays were contrary to ethical standards and statutory

mandates. A judge is required to "dispose of all judicial matters promptly, efficiently and
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fairly" (Rules, §100.3[B][7]). Contrary to the time limits imposed by law (30 days for

small claims and 60 days for motions2
), respondent delayed decisions for periods ranging

from more than four months to (in two cases) more than a year. In Quick v. Viviani, a

civil case consolidated with small claims, respondent's decision was delayed for over two

and a half years.

We view such delays as significant misconduct because of the adverse

consequences on individual litigants, who are deprived of the opportunity to have their

claims resolved in a timely manner, and on public confidence in the administration of

justice. Twenty-two of the delayed matters were small claims actions, which generally

involve relatively simple issues and do not require a lengthy analysis. The "informal and

simplified" procedures for small claims are intended to provide litigants with an efficient

and just resolution to their legal disputes (Uniform City Court Act §1804). This goal is

thwarted and litigants are adversely affected when decisions are unduly delayed.

Litigants in such matters, who are often unrepresented and are hoping to receive a prompt

adjudication of their claims, have little recourse when months pass without a decision;

understandably, they may be concerned that if they complain about the delay, they risk

antagonizing the judge who will be deciding their case.

2 Uniform City Court Act §1304 ("Time for rendering judgment or decision. If a jury trial is not
demanded or directed as provided in §1303, the court must render judgment within thirty days
from the time when the case is submitted for that purpose, except when further time is given by
the consent of the parties"); CPLR §4213(c) ("Time for decision. The decision of the court shall
be rendered within sixty days after the cause or matter is finally submitted or within sixty days
after a motion under rule 4403, whichever is later, unless the parties agree to extend the time").

12



The cases depicted in this record offer a cross-section of the kinds of

disputes that the "informal and simplified" procedures of small claims are intended to

resolve expeditiously. In cases where the law required a decision to be issued within 30

days, a man claiming he was owed $1,900 by a relative had to wait seven months for a

judgment; a tenant seeking the return of her $800 security deposit had to wait eight

months for respondent's decision; and respondent took nine months to decide a

customer's claim seeking $90 from a hair salon. To the litigants who filed these claims,

the sums at issue were significant and the delays onerous. Moreover, for some litigants

such cases may represent their only personal involvement with the courts, and an unduly

delayed resolution of their dispute would necessarily have the effect of leaving them with

the impression that our judicial system is inefficient and insensitive to their concerns.

Here, the record indicates that in several cases litigants or their attorneys

who finally wrote to respondent inquiring about the delayed decisions did not receive any

response from the court and still had to wait months for a decision. In two cases, litigants

in delayed matters were constrained to contact respondent's administrative judge, who

wrote to respondent; yet, even after hearing from his administrative judge, respondent did

not issue a decision promptly or even reply to the administrative judge's letter, and a

follow-up letter from the administrative judge was required before respondent finally

issued a decision. Significantly, the inquiries from his administrative judge, which

occurred in the summer of 2005 and in the fall of 2006, had no apparent effect in

inducing respondent to issue prompt decisions in other delayed matters or to avoid delays

13



in the future.

In considering this record of delays, we find of particular significance

respondent's failure to heed a Commission letter of dismissal and caution issued in

February 2004, which addressed respondent's failure to render timely decisions in two

cases as well as his failure to report a delayed case as required on his administrative

reports. The Commission's directive, which warned that the letter "may be used in a

future disciplinary proceeding based on a failure to adhere to [its] terms," reminded

respondent of his obligation to "dispose of all judicial matters promptly, efficiently and

fairly." Respondent has acknowledged that this cautionary letter should have prompted

him to issue decisions in a more timely manner. Ajudge's disregard of a prior warning in

a letter of dismissal and caution that his or her conduct was contrary to the Rules is a

significant aggravating factor in disciplinary proceedings. Matter ofCerbone, 2 NY3d

479 (2004); Matter ofAssini, 94 NY2d 26,30-31 (1999) ("[r]ather than scrupulously

following the letter and spirit of the Commission's caution, [the judge] continued the

[prohibited activity]"); Matter ofRobert, 89 NY2d 745,747 (1997).

Despite this cautionary letter, despite receiving numerous inquiries from

litigants about delays and despite the involvement of his administrative judge, respondent

continued to have persistent delays. Therefore, based on the particular facts presented

here, we conclude that respondent's conduct was contrary to the ethical rules and

warrants a disciplinary sanction.

In making this determination, we are mindful of Matter ofGilpatric, 13
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NY3d 586, 589-90 (2009), in which the Court of Appeals, reviewing the prior

determination filed in this case, held that while "a judge's failure to promptly dispose of

pending matters is primarily a matter for administrative correction," formal discipline

could be appropriate "where the delays are lengthy and without valid excuse." In that

decision, the Court expanded the parameters previously imposed on the Commission's

jurisdiction over decisional delays by Matter ofGreenfield, supra, where the Court had

rejected a disciplinary sanction and dismissed a charge that a Supreme Court justice had

engaged in misconduct by failing to render timely decisions in eight civil cases. In

Greenfield, the Court identified specific aggravating factors as a jurisdictional predicate

for a finding of misconduct based on delays in issuing decisions, namely, ajudge's

"defi[ance ofJ administrative directives" or "attempt[ ] to subvert the system by, for

instance, falsifYing, concealing or persistently refusing to file records indicating delays"

(supra, 76 NY2d at 297). In Gilpatric, the Court modified those jurisdictional boundaries

in light of the facts presented therein, stating:

[A]fter nearly twenty years of experience with Greenfield, we
think it is not workable to exclude completely the possibility
of more formal discipline for such behavior, in cases where
the delays are lengthy and without valid excuse ...We now
hold that lengthy, inexcusable delays may also be the subject
of disciplinary action, particularly when a judge fails to
perform judicial duties despite repeated administrative efforts
to assist the judge and his or her conduct demonstrates an
unwillingness or inability to discharge those duties.
(Matter ofGilpatric, supra, 13 NY3d at 589-90)

Finding the factual record insufficient for the Court to determine the appropriateness of

the sanction, the Court remitted the matter for further proceedings in which "the context
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in which the delays occurred [would] be fully explored," especially the judge's total

caseload and other responsibilities, the involvement of administrative personnel and the

judge's response to administrative intervention (Id. at 590). As the Court stated:

Statistics alone are insufficient to support a finding of
misconduct; disciplinary action must be based on a record
demonstrating a judge's persistent lack of action in response
to administrative recommendations or warninQs Ud.t

-0 -" /

In light of these guidelines, we have carefully considered the facts presented

in this case. Based on the number of delayed decisions as well as the factors noted above

(i.e., respondent's failure to heed the Commission's cautionary warning, his failure to

issue a decision promptly even after litigants had contacted his court about the delays, his

failure in two cases to issue a decision promptly after receiving a letter from his

administrative judge or even to respond to the administrative judge's inquiry, and his

inability to eliminate his persistent backlog of delayed cases or to avoid further delays

after his administrative judge's intervention), we find that respondent's behavior falls

within the parameters of misconduct established in Greenfield and Gilpatric.

In Greenfield, which involved delayed decisions in eight cases, the Court

found that there was "no persistent or deliberate neglect" ofjudicial duties and that "[i]n

the context of [the judge's] over-all performance these were isolated incidents" (supra, 76

NY2d at 295, 299). In contrast, the instant case involves a sustained pattern of delayed

decisions in 26 cases over a period of more than three and a half years. Those delays

were neither isolated nor inadvertent. There is no claim that respondent was unaware of

the delayed matters; indeed, he reported all of the delayed cases, as he was required to do,
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on his quarterly reports to his administrative judge. Yet, notwithstanding that he had

identified the delayed cases, respondent permitted numerous cases to linger for an

additional three-month reporting period - and, in some cases, for several such periods 

before finally disposing of the matters.

As respondent has acknowledged, neither the obligations of his law practice

nor his political activity during two campaigns for election to judicial office excuses the

delays depicted in this record. The judicial duties of a judge take precedence over all the

judge's other activities (Rules, §100.3[A]). Every judge, whether part-time or full-time,

is obligated to perform his or her duties appropriately with the resources provided and to

establish priorities to ensure that decisions are not unduly delayed.

In considering an appropriate sanction, we note that respondent has

acknowledged his misconduct and concedes that the Commission's letter of dismissal and

caution should have prompted him to issue decisions in a more timely manner. We also

note that respondent reported all the delayed matters as required on his quarterly reports.

Thus, there is no indication that he attempted to conceal the delays or to subvert the

efTorts of court administrators to monitor the delayed matters. Compare, Matter of

Washington, 100 NY2d 873 (2003). It has also been stipulated that during this period

respondent assumed additional adjudicative responsibilities.

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the appropriate

disposition is admonition.
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Judge Klonick, Mr. Coffey, Judge Acosta, Mr. Emery, Mr. Harding, Ms.

Hubbard, Ms. Moore and Judge Ruderman concur in the above determination.

Mr. Belluck concurs in the result.

Judge Peters did not participate.

CERTIFICATION

It is certified that the foregoing is the determination of the State

Commission on Judicial Conduct.

Dated: April 27, 2010

~M~o---
Jean M. Savanyu, Esq.
Clerk of the Commission
New York State
Commission on Judicial Conduct
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT
-------------~--------

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

DETERMINATION
EDIE M. HALSTEAD,

a Justice of the Davenport Town Court,
Delaware County.

------------~----~----

THE COMMISSION:

Honorable Thomas A. Klonick, Chair
Stephen R. Coffey, Esq., Vice Chair
Honorable Rolando T. Acosta
Joseph W. Belluck, Esq.
Joel Cohen, Esq.
Richard D. Emery, Esq.
Paul B. Harding, Esq.
Elizabeth B. Hubbard
Nina M. Moore
Honorable Karen K. Peters
Honorable Terry Jane Ruderman

APPEARANCES:

Robert H. Tembeckjian (Thea Hoeth, Of Counsel) for the Commission

Honorable Edie M. Halstead, pro se

The respondent, Edie M. Halstead, a Justice of the Davenport Town Court,

Delaware County, was served with a Formal Written Complaint dated August 10,2010,



containing four charges. The Formal Written Complaint alleged that respondent failed to

deposit and remit court funds in a timely manner, filed reports with the State Comptroller

that falsely and/or inaccurately stated the amounts collected, and engaged in impropriety

with respect to various traffic violations with which she was charged. Respondent filed

an answer on October 1,2010.

By motion dated November 17, 2010, the administrator of the Commission

moved for summary determination, pursuant to Section 7000.6(c) of the Commission's

Operating Procedures and Rules (22 NYCRR §7000.6[cD. No response to the motion

was received from respondent. By Decision and Order dated December 8, 2010, the

Commission granted the administrator's motion and determined that the charges were

sustained and that respondent's misconduct was established.

The Commission scheduled oral argument on the issue of sanctions for

January 26, 2011. Oral argument was not requested and thereby was waived. Counsel to

the Commission filed a memorandum recommending that respondent be removed from

office. No papers on the issue of sanctions were received from respondent.

On January 26,2011, the Commission considered the record of the

proceeding and made the following findings of fact.

1. Respondent was a Justice of the Davenport Town Court, Delaware

County, from January 1,2009, until her resignation on October 1,2010. She is not an

attorney.

2. From in or around 2006 through December 31, 2008, respondent
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served as the court clerk to Davenport Town Justice Britt Kelch. At all relevant times

herein, the Davenport Town Court had a single town justice.

As to Charge I of the Formal Written Complaint:

3. From on or about January 1,2009 to on or about December 31,2009,

as set forth on Schedule A annexed to the Formal Written Complaint and as described

below, respondent failed to deposit over $11,000 in court funds into her court bank

account within 72 hours of receipt, as required by Section 214.9 of the Uniform Civil

Rules for the Justice Courts. During that period, respondent received court funds on over

100 occasions that she failed to deposit in a timely manner.

4. Respondent made 34 deposits in her court account between January

1, 2009 and December 31, 2009, in which the amount of money deposited did not match

the sum of the funds received by the court since the previous deposit. On 20 occasions

the amount respondent deposited was less than the amount received by her court since the

previous deposit, and on 14 occasions the amount deposited was more than the amount

received since the previous deposit.

5. Respondent's failure to deposit court funds in a timely manner as

required by law resulted in a cumulative deficiency in her court bank account of

$3,511.45 as of December 31,2009. From May 27, 2009, to December 31,2009, the

cumulative deficiency in respondent's court account was consistently more than $3,500,

and on September 30,2009, the deficiency reached $5,098.95.
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As to Charge II of the Fonnal Written Complaint:

6. From in or about February 2009 through in or about November 2009,

in the 19 cases set forth on Schedule B annexed to the Fonnal Written Complaint and as

described below, respondent failed to report court funds totaling $2,203.95 to the State

Comptroller within ten days of the month succeeding collection, as required by Section

1803 of the Vehicle and Traffic Law and Section 27.1 of the Town Law, and failed to

remit those funds to the State Comptroller or to the Chief Fiscal Officer of the Town of

Davenport, as required by Sections 2020 and 2021 ofUnifonn Justice Court Act, Section

1803 of the Vehicle and Traffic Law, Section 27.1 of the Town Law and Section 99-a of

the State Finance Law.

7. With respect to seven of the cases on Schedule B, respondent falsely

and/or inaccurately certified in her reports to the State Comptroller that she had dismissed

the case or collected no fine, when in fact she had collected funds totaling $1,110 in those

cases.

As to Charge III of the Formal Written Complaint:

8. In November and December 2008, as the clerk of the Davenport

Town Court, respondent deposited court funds into the court account of then-Davenport

Town Justice Britt Kelch and prepared Judge Kelch's monthly reports to the State

Comptroller and remittances to the Davenport Chief Fiscal Officer.

9. On January 1,2009, respondent replaced Judge Kelch as the

Davenport Town Justice. Respondent maintained Judge Kelch's court account and funds
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through April 2009.

10. In or about February and March 2009, respondent prepared and

submitted reports to the State Comptroller with respect to funds received by the

Davenport Town Court or deposited into the court account in November and December

2008. As set forth on Schedule C annexed to the Formal Written Complaint, those

reports falsely and/or inaccurately failed to report court funds totaling $5,700 that were

received by the court or deposited into the court account in 29 cases. With respect to two

of these cases, the reports indicated that Judge Kelch had dismissed the case or collected

no fine, when in fact the court had collected $470 in those cases.

11. In November 2008 respondent deposited $1,248 from her personal

funds into Judge Kelch's court account in order to cover deficiencies in the account.

12. Upon becoming a judge on January 1,2009, respondent took no

action to report the deficiencies in the court account, audit the books, examine the court's

administrative procedures or otherwise determine the circumstances which had led her to

cover the deficiency with her personal funds.

As to Charge IV of the Formal Written Complaint:

13. Respondent failed to respect and comply with the law and failed to

uphold high standards of conduct by: (i) asserting the prestige of the Davenport Town

Court with regard to Vehicle and Traffic Law violations charged against her in the

Princetown Town Court, (ii) failing to appear in court on scheduled return dates and/or

failing to pay fines and surcharges imposed with regard to Vehicle and Traffic Law
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violations charged against her in the Princetown and Richmondville Town Courts, (iii)

failing to maintain vehicle liability insurance coverage and (iv) operating a motor vehicle

notwithstanding that her license had been suspended by the Department of Motor

Vehicles.

Town ofPrincetown 2008 Speeding Violation

14. On or about April 3, 2008, respondent was charged in the Town of

Princetown, Schenectady County, with Speeding in violation of Section 1180(d) of the

Vehicle and Traffic Law.

15. On or about April 28, 2008, respondent mailed her not guilty plea to

the Princetown Town Court in an envelope bearing the return address "Hon. Britt Turner

Kelch, Davenport Town Court."

16. On or about September 4,2008, the Princetown Town Court mailed

respondent a notice of trial and set a pre-trial conference for November 12,2008.

Respondent never appeared or communicated with the court for an adjournment.

17. On or about May 12,2009, the Department of Motor Vehicles

notified respondent that her driver's license would be suspended for her failure to answer

the summons. Respondent did not subsequently appear or otherwise communicate with

the Princetown Town Court, and her license was suspended on June 19,2009.

18. On or about March 14,2010, after receiving a letter from the

Commission requesting her appearance to give testimony concerning, inter alia, the

suspensions of her driver's license, respondent mailed a letter to the Princetown Town
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Court in which she changed her plea to guilty. Respondent sent the letter in an envelope

bearing the pre-printed return address of the "Davenport Town Court," which was crossed

out but still legible.

19. On or about March 17,2010, the Princetown Town Court issued

respondent a notice of fine, surcharge and fee totaling $220.

20. On or about March 22, 2010, respondent paid a fee to lift the

suspension of her license for the violation in the Town of Princetown. As of the date of

the Formal Written Complaint, respondent had not paid the fine or surcharge to the court.

Town ofRichmondville 2009 Seat Belt Violation

21. On or about January 6,2009, respondent was charged in the

Richmondville Town Court, Schoharie County, with a Seat Belt violation under Section

1229-c(3) of the Vehicle and Traffic Law. Respondent pled guilty to the charge by mail.

22. On or about February 2,2009, the Richmondville Town Court

notified respondent that her guilty plea had been accepted and that a fine and surcharge

totaling $110 were imposed, payable to the court by March 4, 2009. Respondent failed to

pay the fine and surcharge as required.

23. On or about June 17,2009, the Department of Motor Vehicles

notified respondent that her license would be suspended for failure to pay the fine owed

to the Richmondville Town Court. Respondent did not pay the fine, and her license was

suspended on July 22,2009.

24. On or about March 23,2010, respondent paid a fee to the
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Richmondville Town Court to lift the suspension of her driver's license. The court

granted respondent until April 7, 2010 to pay the fine and surcharge. As of the date of the

Formal Written Complaint, respondent had not paid the fine or surcharge for the

underlying offense.

2009 Suspension Order fOr Lapsed Vehicle Liability Insurance Coverage

25. On or about December 4,2009, the Department of Motor Vehicles

sent respondent a suspension order informing her that her driver's license would be

suspended indefinitely effective December 17,2009, for her failure to maintain

continuous vehicle liability insurance coverage.

Town ofSidney Aggravated Unlicensed Operation Violation

26. On or about March 31, 2010, respondent was charged in the Sidney

Town Court, Delaware County, with Aggravated Unlicensed Operation of a Motor

Vehicle in the Third Degree, a misdemeanor, in violation of Vehicle and Traffic Law

Section 511(l)(a), for driving while knowing or having reason to know that her driver's

license was suspended. Respondent pled guilty to the charge by mail.

27. On or about June 28,2010, the Sidney Town Court notified

respondent that her guilty plea had been accepted and that a fine and surcharge totaling

$540 were imposed, payable to the court by July 22, 2010.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a matter

oflaw that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2(A), 100.2(C), 100.3(B)(l),

100.3(C)(l) and 100.4(A)(2) of the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct ("Rules") and
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should be disciplined for cause, pursuant to Article 6, Section 22, subdivision a, of the

New York State Constitution and Section 44, subdivision 1, of the Judiciary Law.

Charges I through IV of the Formal Written Complaint are sustained, and respondent's

misconduct is established.

The record establishes that throughout her first year as a judge, respondent

repeatedly failed to comply with clear statutory requirements governing the depositing,

reporting and remitting of court funds and filed reports that falsely and/or inaccurately

understated the amounts collected by the court. The failure to comply with these statutory

mandates constitutes a serious dereliction of a judge's duties since the handling of public

monies is one of a judge's most important responsibilities. See, Matter ofRater, 69

NY2d 208 (1987); Matter ofPetrie, 54 NY2d 807 (1981); Matter ofCooley, 53 NY2d 64

(1981). "The mishandling of public money by a judge is 'serious misconduct' even when

not done for personal profit" (Bartlett v. Flynn, 50 AD2d 401,404 [4
th

Dept 1976]).

All funds received by a town justice must be deposited within 72 hours of

receipt and must be reported and remitted to the State Comptroller or the town's Chief

Fiscal Officer by the tenth day of the month following collection (Uniform Civil Rules for

the Justice Courts §214.9 [22 NYCRR §214.9]; UJCA §2021[1]; Town Law §27; Vehicle

and Traffic Law §1803). Having made deposits and prepared the required monthly

reports when she had served as the court clerk under her predecessor, respondent was

presumably familiar with these important administrative responsibilities, but, as a judge,

she was apparently unwilling or unable to comply with the statutorily mandated
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procedures. She failed to make timely deposits and frequently made deposits that did not

match the total amounts received by the court since the previous deposit, resulting in a

cumulative deficiency in the court bank account of more than $3,500 by the end of her

first year as a judge. Her reports to the State Comptroller were inaccurate and

incomplete, failing to report the receipt of more than $2,200 and stating, as to seven

cases, that she had dismissed the cases or collected no fines when in fact she had

collected funds totaling $1,110 in those cases. The reports she prepared for the final two

months of her predecessor's term were similarly deficient. In the final months of her

tenure as court clerk, respondent deposited $1,248 from her personal funds into the court

account in order to cover deficiencies in the account.

With respect to such financial and administrative transgressions, the Court

of Appeals has stated:

The severity of the sanction imposed for this variety of
misconduct depends upon the presence or absence of
mitigating and aggravating circumstances. Certainly, in the
absence of any mitigating factors, the failure to make timely
deposits in the court account and timely reports and
remittances to the State might very well lead to removal
(Matter ofPetrie , 54 NY2d 807; Matter ofCooley, 53 NY2d
64). On the other hand, if a Judge can demonstrate that
mitigating circumstances accounted for such failings, such a
severe sanction may be unwarranted (id.; Matter ofRogers,
51 NY2d 224).

Matter ofRater, supra, 69 NY2d at 209. We find no mitigation here. This record of

pervasive derelictions cannot be excused by respondent's claim that the court's records

were inaccurate and unreliable because of persistent computer problems and
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administrative deficiencies that she inherited from her predecessor. The fact that

respondent was aware of those problems should have prompted her to take whatever steps

were necessary to obtain assistance in order to ensure that the records were accurate and

that all court monies were properly accounted for. "The judicial duties of a judge take

precedence over all the judge's other activities" (Rules, §100.3).

Compounding this misconduct is a pattern of impropriety by respondent

with respect to a series of traffic violations. She failed to appear in court in response to a

summons; failed to pay fines and surcharges imposed for two traffic violations, resulting

in her license suspension; failed to maintain vehicle liability insurance coverage; and was

convicted of Aggravated Unlicensed Operation, a misdemeanor, for driving with a

suspended license. These transgressions represent a pattern of failing to respect and

comply with the law that is unacceptable for a judicial officer. Such conduct diminishes

public confidence in the judiciary as a whole and irreparably damages her authority as a

judge.

In its totality, respondent's conduct shows a pervasive disregard for the

ethical and administrative responsibilities of her judicial office, which establishes that she

is unfit to serve as a judge. "[T]he purpose ofjudicial disciplinary proceedings is 'not

punishment but the imposition of sanctions where necessary to safeguard the Bench from

unfit incumbents'" (Matter ofReeves, 63 NY2d 105, III [1984], quoting Matter of

Waltemade, 37 NY2d [a], [lll] [Ct on the Jud 1975]). In view of respondent's resignation,
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the sanction of removal is necessary to ensure that she is ineligible for judicial office in

the future (NY Const Art 6 §22[h]).

This determination is rendered pursuant to Judiciary Law Section 47 in

view of respondent's resignation from the bench.

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the appropriate

disposition is removal.

Judge Klonick, Mr. Coffey, Mr. Cohen, Mr. Emery, Ms. Hubbard, Judge

Peters and Judge Ruderman concur.

Judge Acosta, Mr. Belluck and Mr. Harding dissent as to the sanction and

vote that the matter be closed in view of respondent's resignation.

Ms. Moore was not present.

CERTIFICATION

It is certified that the foregoing is the determination of the State

Commission on Judicial Conduct.

Dated: January 27, 2011

Jean M. Savanyu, Esq.
Clerk of the Commission
New York State
Commission on Judicial Conduct
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,
of the judiciary Law in Relation to

DETERMINATION
DENNIS LABOMBARD,

a Justice of the Ellenburg Town Court,
Clinton County.

THE COMMISSION:

Raoul Lionel Felder, Esq., Chair
Honorable Thomas A. Klonick, Vice Chair
Stephen R. Coffey, Esq.
Colleen C. DiPirro
Richard D. Emery, Esq.
Paul B. Harding, Esq.
Marvin E. Jacob, Esq.
Honorable Jill Konviser
Honorable Karen K. Peters
Honorable Terry Jane Ruderman

APPEARANCES:

Robert H. Tembeckjian (Cathleen S. Cenci and Kathryn J. Blake,
Of Counsel) for the Commission

Peter A. Dumas for the Respondent

The respondent, Dennis LaBombard, a Justice of the Ellenburg Town

Court, Clinton County, was served with a Formal Written Complaint dated September 22,

2006, containing seven charges. The Formal Written Complaint alleged that respondent:



(i) presided over two cases in which his step-grandchildren were the defendants, (ii)

contacted the judge presiding in a case in which his step-grandson was the defendant and

lent the prestige of his judicial office to advance his step-grandson's interests, (iii)

released a defendant based on the ex parte request of a fonner co-worker, (iv) asserted his

judicial office to advance his private interests after a car accident, (v) improperly

delegated his judicial duties, (vi) condoned a display in the court office that mocked two

state troopers, and (vii) failed to supervise his court clerk who obtained and filed a false

statement as a complaint against respondent's election opponent. Respondent filed a

Verified Answer dated November 2, 2006, an amendment to his answer dated November

21, 2006, and a letter dated January 31, 2007, further amending his answer.

By Order dated November 9,2006, the Commission designated Philip C.

Pinsky, Esq., as referee to hear and report proposed findings of fact and conclusions of

law. A hearing was held on March 6 and 7 and April 10, 2007, in Albany. The referee

filed a report dated August 17, 2007.

Commission Counsel filed a brief with respect to the referee's report and

recommended the sanction of removal. Respondent did not file a brief with the

Commission. On November 1,2007, the Commission heard oral argument and thereafter

considered the record of the proceeding and made the following findings of fact.

As to Charge I of the Fonnal Written Complaint:

1. On August 9,2004, Trooper Thomas C. Willette verified two

Infonnations and issued appearance tickets to Devin LaClair: one for Criminal Mischief
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in the Fourth Degree (Penal Law §145.00), a Class A misdemeanor, and the other for

Criminal Trespass in the Third Degree (Penal Law §140.10), a Class B misdemeanor.

The two Informations, relying on facts contained in the supporting deposition of Richard

A. Cole, alleged that a trespass and property damage had occurred on Mr. Cole's property

on August 4, 2004, in the Town of Clinton. The appearance tickets directed the

defendant to appear in the Ellenburg Town Court on August 19,2004.

2. Devin LaClair is a relative of former Clinton Town Justice Daniel

LaClair, who at that time was the only Town Justice in the Town of Clinton.

3. Trooper Willette decided, without consulting respondent or Judge

LaClair, to make the appearance tickets returnable in Ellenburg rather than in Clinton

because he knew that Devin LaClair was related to Judge LaClair and, a year earlier, a

speeding ticket he had issued to Mr. LaClair in the Town of Clinton had been sent to the

Town of Ellenburg due to that relationship.

4. Trooper Willette notified Judge LaClair that he had arrested Devin

LaClair and that he was going to send the matter to Ellenburg unless Judge LaClair

obj ected. Judge LaClair told the trooper to "Go ahead and send it to Ellenburg." Judge

LaClair then telephoned respondent concerning the LaClair case and told him that he was

"sending over the case" because of a conflict of interest involving his relative.

5. After notifying the district attorney's office that the LaClair arraignment

was going to take place in Ellenburg due to the conflict, Trooper Willette sent respondent

a note stating as follows:
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I am sure you are familiar with the name on this paperwork. I
didnt send him to T/Clinton because of the conflict of interest.
I attempted to contact Ed Narrow with negative results. I did
talk to Nancy at DA's office who said it was fine. Any
questions call me.

6. After speaking with assistant district attorney Edward F. Narrow,

Trooper Willette sent a note to Mr. Narrow stating: "I issued these at Ellenburg for

known reasons. I have about eight more arrests with this incident. Any questions call

me. I'm on vacation until 08/23."

7. On August 17,2004, Mr. Narrow sent respondent a plea offer for People

v. Devin LaClair and asked respondent to provide it to the defendant or his counsel at the

arraignment. The plea offer was to reduce the original misdemeanor charges to a

Trespass violation (Penal Law §140.05). The plea offer included a "recommended

sentence" of"15 days injail conditionally discharged upon the defendant completing 75

hours community service." Subsequently, the 75 hours was changed by the district

attorney to 25 hours. On August 19,2004, the LaClair case was adjourned to September

2,2004.

8. Trooper Willette advised respondent that he would be filing criminal

charges against several other individuals, including Kristin Drown and Patrick Drown, in

connection with the alleged incident on Mr. Cole's property. Kristin and Patrick Drown

are the stepchildren of respondent's daughter. Respondent did not inform the trooper that

the Drowns were related to him, and he agreed to have those cases filed in his court.

9. Trooper Willette verified Informations against four individuals,
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including Kristin Drown and Patrick Drown, charging them with Criminal Trespass in the

Third Degree (Penal Law §140.1O), a Class B misdemeanor, arising out ofthe events on

Mr. Cole's property, and on August 23,2004, the four defendants were issued appearance

tickets returnable in the Ellenburg Town Court on September 2, 2004.

10. On September 2, 2004, respondent presided over the cases of the five

defendants, including Devin LaClair, Kristin Drown and Patrick Drown. The defendants

were present at the proceeding with their parents, including respondent's son-in-law and

daughter, the father and stepmother of Kristin and Patrick Drown. Assistant district

attorney Edward Narrow was also present. Respondent did not disclose to Mr. Narrow

that he was related to Kristin and Patrick Drown, and Mr. Narrow did not know of the

relationship.

11. None of the defendants was represented by counsel. All five

defendants received youthful offender status.

12. With respect to Devin LaClair, respondent accepted the defendant's

plea to the Trespass violation that had been offered by the district attorney's office. With

respect to the remaining defendants, including Kristin and Patrick Drown, respondent

granted an adjournment in contemplation of dismissal with the consent of the prosecutor.

After the pleas were accepted but before the proceedings were concluded, Mr. Narrow

left the court.

13. After Devin LaClair had pled guilty to Trespass as set forth in the plea

offer, and after Mr. Narrow had departed, respondent sentenced Mr. LaClair to a weekend
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in jail and did not impose any community service. The sentence respondent imposed did

not comport with the plea offer.

14. As to the other four defendants, including his step-grandchildren

Kristin and Patrick Drown, respondent did not impose community service as a condition

of the adjournment in contemplation of dismissal. Mr. Narrow had consented to the

disposition in each of those cases conditioned upon each of those defendants performing

25 hours of community service, as authorized by the Criminal Procedure Law

(§ 170.55[6]). Respondent did not advise Mr. Narrow that he would not be imposing a

community service requirement on the five defendants.

15. A month or two later, Mr. Narrow learned that community service had

not been imposed on the five defendants. He did not move to vacate the sentences

imposed.

As to Charge II of the Formal Written Complaint:

16. On November 1, 2004, Patrick Drown was charged in the Clinton

Town Court with Criminal Mischief in the Third Degree (Penal Law §145.05), a Class E

felony, based on allegations that he had damaged a motor vehicle. Mr. Drown was also

charged with Making a Punishable False Written Statement (Penal Law §21O.45), a Class

A misdemeanor. Patrick Drown is the stepson of respondent's daughter.

17. The matter was transferred to the Mooers Town Court. On November

5,2004, Mooers Town Justice Orville Nedeau arraigned Mr. Drown.

18. The next day, respondent telephoned Judge Nedeau and introduced
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himself as either "Judge LaBombard" or "Dennis LaBombard." Respondent knew that

Judge Nedeau knew him to be ajudge. The telephone conversation lasted about ten

minutes.

19. In the conversation, respondent said that Patrick Drown was his step

grandson, inquired as to the date of the next court appearance, and told Judge Nedeau that

Mr. Drown was a "good kid." Respondent also made some statements about "the other

people involved" in the events underlying the Criminal Mischief charge. Respondent's

statements gave Judge Nedeau the impression that other individuals "maybe weren't

telling the right information," "had been in trouble" and were more culpable than

respondent's relative.

20. On December 9, 2004, Patrick Drown appeared with his attorney in the

Mooers Town Court before Judge Nedeau. Respondent attended the proceeding with his

daughter, Mr. Drown's stepmother, and sat in the back of the courtroom. He did not

speak with Judge Nedeau.

21. On March 3,2005, with the consent of the district attorney's office,

Patrick Drown pled guilty before Judge Nedeau to the reduced charge of Criminal

Mischief in the Fourth Degree (Penal Law §145.00), a Class A misdemeanor, and was

sentenced to make restitution and perform community service. Judge Nedeau testified at

the Commission hearing that respondent's call had no influence on his handling of the

case.
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As to Charge III of the Formal Written Complaint:

22. On October 17,2004, State Trooper Richard Moore, who was off duty,

approached Ryan Guay's truck after he had observed Mr. Guay and his brother

"spotlighting" fields, an illegal method of deer hunting. After seeing rifles in the truck

and speaking with the defendant, Trooper Moore called the station. Before the patrols

arrived, the defendant allegedly threatened Trooper Moore with a piece of wood. Trooper

Christopher Gonyo arrived at the scene and arrested Mr. Guay. The defendant was

charged with Criminal Possession of a Weapon in the Third Degree (Penal Law §26S.02),

a Class D felony; Menacing in the Third Degree (Penal Law §120.lS), a Class B

misdemeanor; and violations of the Environmental Conservation Law. The defendant

was taken to the State Police Barracks in Ellenburg for arraignment, and respondent was

contacted to conduct the arraignment.

23. At the arraignment on October 17, 2004, respondent set bail of $S,OOO

cash or $10,000 bond as recommended by the district attorney's office.

24. The defendant's mother, Helen Guay, was present at the arraignment

but did not speak to respondent. Respondent knew Ms. Guay since they had worked in

the same department of Wyeth Laboratories for several years. (At the time of these

events, respondent was no longer working there.) Respondent knew that the de~endant,

Ryan Guay, was Ms. Guay's son.

2S. After respondent set bail, the defendant told respondent that he would

lose his job ifhe did not go to work the next day. Respondent replied that he would
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"make some phone calls" in the morning and "see what we can do about it, if I can

release you and let you get to your job." Trooper Gonyo heard respondent make a

comment about contacting the district attorney's office the next day "to make some sort of

arrangement on the bail."

26. The defendant was unable to post bail and was transported to the

Clinton County Jail.

27. The next morning Helen Guay telephoned respondent and said she was

concerned that her son would lose his job. Respondent told her that he would confer with

the district attorney's office to see what could be done to get the defendant out ofjail so

that he could get to work.

28. After speaking with Ms. Guay, respondent released Mr. Guay on his

own recognizance based on the ex parte requests of the defendant and his mother.

Respondent maintains that assistant district attorney Edward Narrow consented to the

defendant's release; Mr. Narrow denies speaking to respondent about the matter or

consenting to the defendant's release.

29. Respondent testified at the hearing that if the charge had not been a

felony and had been before him for a disposition, he would have disqualified himself

because of his work-related relationship with the defendant's mother.

With respect to Charge IV of the Formal Written Complaint:

30. On September 23,2004, a car being driven by Valencia Baldwin in the

Village of Chateaugay stopped for a red light and then waited to make a right tum in
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order to allow a bicycle to cross the road. As Ms. Baldwin waited for the bicycle to cross,

her car was hit from behind by a car driven by respondent.

31. After both cars pulled over to the curb, respondent told Ms. Baldwin

that she was wrong in having stopped her car and that he was a judge and knew what he

was talking about. He repeatedly told Ms. Baldwin in that conversation that he is a judge.

Ms. Baldwin noticed that respondent's car had a "SMA" (State Magistrates Association)

license plate, which she knew designated a town justice.

32. Ms. Baldwin went into a nearby barber shop to use a telephone to call

the police. While she was on the phone, respondent, who also had entered the shop,

continued to state several times that he is a judge. Several individuals overheard

respondent's statements.

33. After giving Ms. Baldwin contact information, respondent left the

scene, saying that he had to get to a doctor's appointment. Since there was no property

damage and no physical injury, respondent was not required to remain at the scene until

the police arrived.

As to Charge V of the Formal Written Complaint:

34. The charge is not sustained and therefore is dismissed.

As to Charge VI of the Formal Written Complaint:

35. The charge is not sustained and therefore is dismissed.
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As to Charge VII of the Formal Written Complaint:

36. The charge is not sustained and therefore is dismissed.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a matter

oflaw that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2(A), 100.2(C), 100.3(B)(1),

100.3(B)(6), 100.3(E)(1) and 100.3(E)(1)(d)(i) ofthe Rules Governing Judicial Conduct

("Rules") and should be disciplined for cause, pursuant to Article 6, Section 22,

subdivision a, of the New York State Constitution and Section 44, subdivision 1, of the

Judiciary Law. Charge I, paragraph 5, subdivision (B) and Charges II through IV of the

Formal Written Complaint are sustained insofar as they are consistent with the above

findings and conclusions, and respondent's misconduct is established. Charge I,

paragraph 5, subdivisions (A) and (C), and Charges V, VI and VII are not sustained and

therefore are dismissed.

Respondent engaged in a series of willful, egregious misdeeds, both on and

off the bench, in which he abused the power and prestige of his judicial office for his own

personal advantage and for the benefit of others. The record establishes that he presided

over the cases of his relatives and a former co-worker's son, changed his bail decision

after an ex parte call from the defendant's mother, initiated an ex parte communication

with the judge handling his relative's case, and asserted his judicial office after a car

accident. Such "a pattern of injudicious behavior and inappropriate actions ...cannot be

viewed as acceptable conduct by one holding judicial office." Matter of VonderHeide, 72
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NY2d 658, 660 (1988).

It is a fundamental precept ofjudicial ethics that a judge may not preside

over a case in which a relative is a party (Rules, §100.3[E][I][d][iJ). As the Court of

Appeals has stated:

The handling by a judge of a case to which a family member
is a party creates an appearance of impropriety as well as a
very obvious potential for abuse, and threatens to undermine
the public's confidence in the impartiality of the judiciary.
Any involvement by a judge in such cases or any similar
suggestion of favoritism to family members has been and will
continue to be viewed by this court as serious misconduct.

Matter ofWait, 67 NY2d 15, 18 (1986). See also, Matter ofThwaits, 2003 Annual

Report 171 (Comm on Judicial Conduct); Matter ofPulver, 1983 Annual Report 157

(Comm on Judicial Conduct).

Notwithstanding this well-established ethical prohibition, respondent

presided over the cases of two step-grandchildren, granting the defendants an

adjournment in contemplation of dismissal. Not even the presence in the courtroom of

his daughter and son-in-law, the defendants' stepmother and father, prompted him to

recognize the manifest impropriety ofhandling his relatives' cases. In addition, the fact

that respondent eliminated the community service requirement effectively delivered a

more favorable disposition to his family members than that agreed to by the district

attorney and circumvented the procedural requirements applicable to them.

We reject respondent's argument that his misconduct is mitigated in any

way by the rationale that he intended to treat his relatives the same as, or even more
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harshly than, any other defendants. While handling a relative's case would be improper

regardless of the disposition imposed, the result here is plainly a favorable one, which

compounds the impropriety. We also reject as a mitigating factor respondent's claim that

he did not impose community service for any defendants at that time because it was

unavailable nearby. If respondent was unwilling to impose the community service

condition required by the district attorney, he was obliged to so inform that office so that

it would have an opportunity to reconsider its consent to the dispositions. Instead, he

acted without notice to the district attorney under circumstances suggesting a deliberate

effort to circumvent the procedural requirements for the benefit of his relatives as well as

their co-defendants.

It was also improper for respondent to preside at a felony arraignment in

which the defendant was his former co-worker's son. If, as respondent has

acknowledged, his work-related relationship with the defendant's mother required his

disqualification had the case been before him for a disposition, he should not have

handled the arraignment. See, Matter of Valcich, 2008 Annual Report _ (Comm on

Judicial Conduct). Respondent seriously exacerbated his misconduct and conveyed the

appearance of favoritism by releasing the defendant the next day after receiving an ex

parte telephone call from the defendant's mother, who told respondent that she was

concerned that her son would lose his job. Regardless ofwhether he consulted with the

district attorney before releasing the defendant, respondent's conduct was improper. By

considering an ex parte request with respect to the defendant's bail and acceding to the

13



implicit plea for special consideration, respondent violated well-established ethical rules

and allowed his personal relationships to influence his actions as a judge. Such conduct

impairs public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary. See, e.g.,

Matter afGassman, 1987 Annual Report 89 (Comm on Judicial Conduct) (after setting

bail for three defendants, judge released them on recognizance after an ex parte contact

by another judge).

Even more seriously, on two occasions respondent abused the prestige of

judicial office by engaging in off-the-bench conduct that invoked his judicial status, both

implicitly and explicitly, for his and his family's benefit. Especially improper was his

telephone call to the judge handling a criminal case in which respondent's step-grandson

had been charged. Notwithstanding respondent's claim that his intent was simply to

inquire about the next court date, he should have recognized the importance of avoiding

any involvement in the matter -- and specifically any contact with the judge handling the

case, who knew respondent as a fellow judge -- in order to avoid any perception of using

his judicial status to gain an advantage for his relative's interests. Presumably, a phone

call inquiring about the court date could have been made by the defendant's parents or

attorney. Respondent's call went well beyond a simple inquiry and could have had only

one purpose: to influence the judge to give special consideration to respondent's relative.

After initiating contact with the judge handling the case, respondent advised

the judge that the defendant was his relative and was "a good kid." Such conduct is

improper, even in the absence of any specific request for favorable treatment, since it
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appears to be an implicit request for special consideration. Matter ofEdwards, 67 NY2d

153 (1986). Such conduct "is wrong, and has always been wrong" and undermines public

confidence in the fair and impartial administration ofjustice. Matter ofByrne, 47 NY2d

(b), (c) (Ct on the Judiciary 1979). Judges are prohibited from using the prestige of

judicial office to advance private interests (Rules, §100.2[C]), and doing so on behalf of a

friend or relative facing criminal charges is improper. See, e.g., Matter ofKiley, 74 NY2d

364 (1989); Matter ofEdwards, supra; Matter ofHorowitz, 2006 Annual Report 183

(Comm on Judicial Conduct); Matter ofSharlow, 2006 Annual Report 232 (Comm on

Judicial Conduct); Matter ofKolbert, 2003 Annual Report 128 (Comm on Judicial

Conduct); Matter ofLoRusso, 1988 Annual Report 195 (Comm on Judicial Conduct).

Respondent's conduct was especially pernicious since he used his judicial

influence not only to vouch for his relative, but to denigrate other individuals involved in

the underlying incident. During his ten-minute conversation with the judge who was

handling the case, respondent made additional statements that conveyed to the judge the

clear impression that the other individuals were more culpable than respondent's relative.

This was a reprehensible abuse of his judicial clout. See, Matter ofKaplan, 1997 Annual

Report 96 (Comm on Judicial Conduct); see also, Matter ofHowell, 2001 Annual Report

115 (Comm on Judicial Conduct); Matter ofStevens, 1999 Annual Report 153 (Comm on

Judicial Conduct).

Finally, during the same period, respondent abused the prestige ofjudicial

office when he repeatedly identified himself as a judge after a minor traffic accident. The
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record establishes that he asserted his judicial status in the context of blaming the other

motorist, and not simply, as respondent has claimed, to assure the other motorist that she

would be able to reach him. Injecting his judicial status into the dispute was unnecessary

and unseemly. Respondent's repeated references to the fact that he is a judge were a

blatant misuse of his judicial prestige, demonstrating that he was using his judicial status

for his personal advantage. See, Matter ofWerner, 2003 Annual Report 198 (Comm on

Judicial Conduct) (judge identified himself as a judge when his car was stopped by

police); see also, Matter ofD'Amanda, 1990 Annual Report 91 (Comm on Judicial

Conduct) (judge used judicial prestige to avoid receiving three traffic tickets).

As the Court of Appeals has stated, removal is "a drastic sanction which

should only be employed in the most egregious circumstances" (Matter ofCohen, 74

NY2d 272,278 [1989]) and '''where necessary to safeguard the Bench from unfit

incumbents'" (Matter ofReeves, 63 NY2d 105, 111 [1984], quoting Matter of

Waltemade, 37 NY2d [a], [lll] [Ct on the Judiciary 1979]). The totality of respondent's

willful misdeeds, both on and off the bench, shows a blatant disregard for the high ethical

standards required ofjudges and renders him unfit to remain in office.

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the appropriate

disposition is removal.

Judge Klonick, Mr. Coffey, Mr. Emery, Mr. Harding, Mr. Jacob, Judge

Konviser, Judge Peters and Judge Ruderman concur except as follows.

Mr. Harding and Mr. Jacob dissent only as to the finding of misconduct as
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to Charge I, paragraph 6 of the Formal Written Complaint concerning respondent's

elimination of the community service requirement.

Mr. Felder and Ms. DiPirro were not present.

CERTIFICATION

It is certified that the foregoing is the determination of the State

Commission on Judicial Conduct.

Dated: December 12,2007

~M.~_
Jean M. Savanyu, Esq.
Clerk of the Commission
New York State
Commission on Judicial Conduct
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APPEARANCES: 

DETERMINATION 

Robert H. Tembeckjian (Erica K. Sparkler, Of Counsel) for the Commission 

Godosky & Gentile, P.C. (by David M. Godosky) for the Respondent 

The respondent, Carl J. Landicino, a Justice of the Supreme Court, 2nd 

Judicial District, Kings County, was served with a Formal Written Complaint dated 

March 5, 2014, containing two charges. The Formal Written Complaint alleged that in 



October 2012 respondent drove his motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol, 

resulting in his conviction for Driving While Intoxicated, and that he repeatedly asserted 

his judicial office to advance his private interests in connection with his arrest. 

Respondent filed a verified Answer dated November 26, 2014. 

The Commission rejected an Agreed Statement of Facts on July 17, 2014, 

and denied a request to reconsider the Agreed Statement on November 4, 2014. 

By Order dated November 7, 2014, the Commission designated Honorable 

Felice K. Shea as referee to hear and report proposed findings of fact and conclusions of 

law. A hearing was held on February 9 and 10, 2015, in New York City. A stipulation of 

facts was received in evidence; respondent testified on his own behalf and called nine 

witnesses. The referee filed a report dated July 15, 2015. 

The parties submitted briefs with respect to the referee's report. Both sides 

recommended the sanction of censure. On October 1, 2015, the Commission heard oral 

argument and thereafter considered the record of the proceeding and made the following 

findings of fact. 

I. Respondent has been a Justice of the Supreme Court, 2nd Judicial 

District, Kings County, since January 1, 2012. His term expires on December 31, 2025. 

As to Charge I of the Formal Written Complaint: 

2. On October 17, 2012, respondent drove his car on Interstate 87 from 

Saratoga Springs to Colonie, New York, after voluntarily consuming a sufficient number 

of alcoholic beverages to cause him to become legally intoxicated within the meaning of 
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Vehicle and Traffic Law ("YTL") Section 1192(3). 

3. Respondent had left Saratoga Springs around 3 :00 PM on that date, 

after attending a judicial conference. He testified at the hearing that he "drank pretty 

heavily" the preceding night, and while he did not recall drinking that day, it was "not 

unlikely" he did so. The night before his arrest, respondent also took Xanax, which he 

had been prescribed, in an undetermined amount; however, the effect, if any, of this 

medication on his actions is uncertain and unquantifiable. 

4. At about 4:00 PM, State Police Sergeant Mary McGreevy, who was in 

an unmarked car, observed respondent, through her rear view and side view mirrors, 

driving aggressively, making unsafe lane changes and following her vehicle too closely. 

5. Respondent passed Sergeant McGreevy and accelerated to 80 miles 

per hour, in excess of the posted speed limit of 55 miles per hour. Sergeant McGreevy 

pursued respondent for two miles with her emergency lights and siren activated. She 

changed the tone of her siren two times in order to get respondent's attention, after which 

he abruptly came to a stop at the side of the road. 

6. Sergeant McGreevy pulled over behind respondent's car and radioed 

her location and respondent's license plate number to a State Police operator. The license 

plate was a standard-issue New York State license plate that did not identify the vehicle 

as belonging to a judge. 1 

1 Two months later, on or about December 21, 2012, respondent replaced the license plate on his 
vehicle with one that identified him as a Justice of the Supreme Court. Two years later, two months 
prior to the hearing in this proceeding, respondent replaced the judicial license plate with a 
standard-issue plate. 
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7. When Sergeant McGreevy approached the car and spoke to 

respondent, she detected an odor of alcohol on his breath and observed that he had glassy 

eyes and slurred speech. Respondent stumbled when exiting his car and had an unsteady 

gait, and his gross motor movements were mechanical and slow. 

8. Sergeant McGreevy asked respondent ifhe had any drugs on his 

person, and respondent said that he had prescription drugs in his luggage. 

9. Respondent was cooperative and polite in his interactions with 

Sergeant McGreevy. 

10. New York State Park Police Officer Shaun Rooney arrived at the 

scene shortly after 4:00 PM. He detected an odor of alcohol on respondent's breath and 

observed that respondent was unsteady on his feet. 

11. At about 4:25 PM, State Police Trooper Eric Terraferma arrived at 

the scene. He detected an odor of alcohol on respondent's breath and observed that 

respondent had difficulty keeping his balance. 

12. Trooper Terraferma conducted three field sobriety tests - the 

horizontal gaze nystagmus, one-leg stand and finger-to-nose tests - all of which 

respondent failed. 

13. Trooper Terraferma asked respondent to take a portable breath test, 

but respondent refused to do so. Respondent was then placed under arrest. 

14. While seated in Trooper Terraferma's police car, respondent again 

was asked if he would submit to a chemical breath test. Respondent stated that he would 

not do so. 
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15. Respondent was taken to the State Police Station in Latham, New 

York. At the police station, respondent was asked two more times to submit to a breath 

test, and he refused to do so. At the hearing in this proceeding, respondent testified that 

his refusal to submit to a breath test was "unconscionable." 

16. By simplified traffic information respondent was charged with 

Driving While Intoxicated (VTL § 1192[3]); Driving While Ability Impaired (VTL 

§1192[1]); Following Too Closely (VTL §l 129[a]); Moving from a Lane Unsafely (VTL 

§ 1128[a]); Speeding (VTL § 1180[b]); and Refusal to Take a Breath Test (VTL 

§1194[1][b]). On January 2, 2013, respondent was indicted by a Grand Jury in Albany 

County and charged with Driving While Intoxicated (VTL §1192[3]); Reckless Driving 

(VTL §1212); Refusal to Take a Breath Test (VTL §1194[l][b]); Following Too Closely 

(VTL §1129[a]); Speeding (VTL §1180[d][l]); and Moving from a Lane Unsafely (VTL 

§l 128[a]). 

17. On January 29, 2013, respondent appeared before Judge Stephen W. 

Herrick in Albany County Court and pied guilty to Driving While Intoxicated in violation 

of VTL Section 1192(3 ), a misdemeanor, in full satisfaction of all charges. Respondent 

was sentenced to a one-year conditional discharge, a $500 fine and a $395 surcharge. 

Respondent was also required to successfully complete substance abuse treatment and to 

attend the Victim Impact Panel and the Drinking Driver Program. Respondent's driver's 

license was revoked for one year, and he was required to have an ignition interlock 

device installed on his car for one year. 
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As to Charge II of the Formal Written Complaint: 

18. On October 17, 2012, at about 4:00 PM, when Sergeant McGreevy 

stopped respondent's car, she asked for his driver's license and vehicle registration. In 

response, respondent handed her his driver's license and his Unified Court System 

judicial identification card, which identified him as a judge. 

19. Thereafter, respondent at least twice volunteered that he was coming 

from a judicial conference although Sergeant McGreevy had not asked him where he was 

coming from or where he had been. 

20. Respondent told Sergeant McGreevy that he wanted to show her his 

luggage in the trunk of his car in order to prove that he was coming from a judicial 

conference, and, despite Sergeant McGreevy's request that respondent not open the trunk, 

he did so. 

21. After respondent was placed under arrest and handcuffed, he said to 

Sergeant McGreevy, in words or substance, "Is this how you treat a Supreme Court 

Judge?" 

22. During the drive to the State Police Station in Latham, respondent 

referred to the fact that he was a judge. 

23. At the station house, respondent said, in words or substance, "Is this 

the way you treat a Supreme Court Justice?" and "Couldn't this just be resolved with a 

Speeding ticket?" and/or "Couldn't this just be made a Speeding ticket?" 

Additional Factors 

24. Respondent acknowledges that he is an alcoholic and has been 
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suffering from alcoholism for approximately the last four years. He states that his arrest 

was a trigger for him to obtain the help that he needed to treat his condition. 

25. Respondent attended an inpatient alcohol rehabilitation program for 

19 days in November 2012. Beginning in January 2013, he attended an intensive 

outpatient alcohol rehabilitation program four times per week for approximately two 

months, followed by a relapse prevention alcohol rehabilitation program two times per 

week for approximately four months. Since August 2013, he has attended a weekly 

outpatient alcohol rehabilitation group. Respondent avers that he has regularly attended 

Alcoholics Anonymous meetings at least once a week since November 2012, and the 

Administrator has no evidence to the contrary. From December 2012 through May 2014, 

respondent attended individual therapy sessions with a psychologist twice a week. Since 

June 2014, respondent has attended individual therapy sessions with a psychologist once 

a week. In addition, after attending the Victim Impact Panel as required by his sentence, 

respondent has returned to speak to other drunk driving offenders about his life 

experience as a judge before and after conviction to demonstrate that the law treats all 

offenders equally. 

26. Respondent avers that he has not had an alcoholic drink since May 

2013, and the Administrator has no evidence to the contrary. 

27. Respondent acknowledges that it was wrong under these 

circumstances to identify himself as a judge to the police. He regrets that he did not 

behave in a manner consistent with the integrity and dignity required of all judges, on or 

off the bench. 
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28. Respondent avers that he has never been impaired at any time while 

attending to his official judicial duties and that the consumption of alcohol has never 

impacted on his ability to preside over any case. The Administrator has no evidence to 

the contrary. There is no claim in the pending Complaint that respondent engaged in on

the-bench misconduct or committed any other dereliction with respect to the discharge of 

his adjudicative responsibilities. 

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a matter 

oflaw that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2(A), 100.2(C) and 100.4(A)(2) of 

the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct ("Rules") and should be disciplined for cause, 

pursuant to Article 6, Section 22, subdivision a, of the New York State Constitution and 

Section 44, subdivision 1, of the Judiciary Law. Charges I and II of the Formal Written 

Complaint are sustained, and respondent's misconduct is established. 

As the Court of Appeals recently stated, Driving While Intoxicated 

("DWI") is "'a very serious crime' ... that has long posed a 'menace' to highway safety 

... and has caused many tragic consequences" (People v. Washington, 23 NY3d 228, 231 

[2014] [internal citations omitted]). In language that seems applicable to the facts 

presented here, "[g]rievous harm to innocent victims could have been caused by 

defendant's driving with a blood alcohol level of .15% while speeding and weaving in 

and out of lanes, had [he] not been caught and stopped" (County of Nassau v. Canavan, 1 

NY3d 134, 140 [2003]). 

Respondent violated his ethical obligation to respect and comply with the 
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law by operating a motor vehicle at a high speed while legally intoxicated, resulting in his 

conviction for DWI, a misdemeanor. His unlawful, reckless conduct - which occurred 

just after he had attended a judicial conference, and which included leading police on a 

high-speed two-mile pursuit prior to his arrest - endangered public safety and brought the 

judiciary as a whole into disrepute. See Matter of Martineck, 2011 NYSCJC Annual 

Report 116, and cases cited therein. Moreover, during his arrest respondent engaged in 

additional egregious misconduct by repeatedly asserting his judicial status, in 

contravention of well-established ethical standards (Rules, § 100.2[C]), leaving no doubt 

that he was seeking favorable treatment simply because of his judicial position. See, e.g., 

Matter of Maney, 2011 NYSCJC Annual Report 106. In its totality, respondent's 

behavior warrants a severe sanction. 

In determining an appropriate disposition for alcohol-related driving 

offenses, the Commission in prior cases has considered mitigating and/or aggravating 

circumstances, including the level of intoxication, whether the judge's conduct caused an 

accident or injury, whether the conduct was an isolated instance or part of a pattern, the 

conduct of the judge during arrest (including whether the judge was cooperative or 

asserted his or her judicial position), and the judge's acceptance of responsibility and 

willingness to seek appropriate treatment. See Matter of Newman, 2014 NYSCJC Annual 

Report 164 (judge was convicted of Driving While Ability Impaired ["D WAI"] after 

rear-ending a car stopped at a traffic light; was uncooperative and engaged in "unruly, 

self-destructive and at times suicidal behavior" during his arrest [censure]); Matter of 

Apple, 2013 NYSCJC Annual Report 95 (DWI conviction, based on a blood alcohol 
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content ["BAC"] of .21 % [censure]); Matter of Maney, supra (DW Al conviction; judge 

made an illegal U-tum to avoid a checkpoint, repeatedly identified himself as a judge and 

asked for "professional courtesy" [censure]); Matter of Martineck, supra (DWI 

conviction, based on a BAC of .18%, after driving erratically and hitting a mile marker 

[censure]); Matter of Burke, 2010 NYSCJC Annual Report 110 (DW AI conviction after 

causing a minor accident [censure, in part for additional misconduct]); Matter of Mills, 

2006 NYSCJC Annual Report 218 (though acquitted of DWI, judge admitted operating a 

motor vehicle after consuming alcoholic beverages, "vehemently" protested her arrest 

and made offensive statements to the arresting officers [censure]); Matter of Pajak, 2005 

NYSCJC Annual Report 195 (DWI conviction after a property damage accident 

[admonition]); Matter of Stelling, 2003 NYSCJC Annual Report 165 (DWI conviction 

following a prior conviction for DWAI before he was a judge [censure]); Matter of 

Burns, 1999 NYSCJC Annual Report 83 (DWAI conviction [admonition]); Matter of 

Henderson, 1995 NYSCJC Annual Report 118 (DWAI conviction; judge referred to his 

judicial office during the arrest and asked, "Isn't there anything we can do?" 

[admonition]); Afatter a/Siebert, 1994 NYSCJC Annual Report 103 (DWAI conviction 

after causing a three-car accident [admonition]); Matter of Innes, 1985 NYSCJC Annual 

Report 152 (DWAI conviction; judge's car struck a patrol car while backing up 

[admonition]); Matter of Quinn, 54 NY2d 386, 395 (1981) (DWI conviction after a 

prior conviction for DWAI and other alcohol-related incidents; judge was uncooperative 

and abusive to arresting officers and repeatedly referred to his judicial position [removal 

reduced to censure by the Court of Appeals in view of the judge's retirement and ill 
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health, noting "his manifest unfitness for judicial office"]); Matter of Barr, 1981 

NYSCJC Annual Report 139 (two alcohol-related convictions; judge asserted his judicial 

office and was abusive and uncooperative during his arrests, but had made "a sincere 

effort to rehabilitate himself' [censure]). 

In this matter, the record establishes that respondent operated his vehicle 

while intoxicated, at a high speed (at least 80 miles per hour) and in an unsafe manner, 

and continued to do so for two more miles while pursued by police, with emergency 

lights and siren activated, before stopping abruptly. While he was not charged with 

attempting to flee, his conduct imperiled the lives of others, including other motorists, 

their passengers and law enforcement personnel. Although he refused to take a breath 

test2, the field sobriety tests and the observations of several police officers leave no doubt 

that respondent's ability to drive safely was seriously impaired by alcohol. Indeed, he 

has acknowledged that "due at least in part" to the degree of his intoxication at the time, 

he "does not specifically recall the details of all of his statements and actions" during and 

after his arrest. 

Exacerbating this serious misconduct, throughout this entire incident 

respondent invoked his judicial position, creating the appearance that he was using the 

2 New York's "implied consent" law requires a driver to submit to such testing upon the request 
of an officer who reasonably suspects impairment by drugs or alcohol, and refusing to do so 
triggers serious consequences, including a one-year suspension of the driver's license and a fine 
(YTL §l 194.2(a][l]). The Court of Appeals has stated that such testing is "an important 
investigative tool" in an attempt to combat the scourge of alcohol-related driving offenses 
(People v. Washington, supra, 23 NY3d at 231 ). At the hearing, respondent testified that refusing 
to take the breath test was "unconscionable," and indeed - despite the stipulation that he was 
"cooperative" during the arrest - he acknowledged that he "wouldn't characterize my behavior 
as polite or cooperative" (Tr 51, 64). 
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prestige of judicial office in an attempt to minimize the consequences of his unlawful 

behavior. Respondent does not dispute the recollections of various law enforcement 

personnel that on repeated occasions - at the scene of his arrest, in the police car, and at 

the police station - he referred to his judicial status. While respondent attributes this 

behavior to his diminished capacity and judgment due to his intoxication, that factor in no 

way excuses or diminishes his responsibility for his actions. 

Initially, respondent interjected his judicial status into the incident by 

producing his judicial identification card when asked for his driver's license and vehicle 

registration, conveying the appearance that he was asserting his judicial office in order to 

obtain special treatment by the police. Standing alone, such behavior can warrant public 

discipline. See Matter of Werner, 2003 NYSCJC Annual Report 198 (although acquitted 

of D WL judge was admonished for giving the police officer his judicial ID when stopped 

and asked for his driver's license). Thereafter, respondent continued to invoke his 

judicial position. He volunteered "at least twice" that he was coming from a judicial 

conference and offered to show his luggage in his trunk to prove it; then, refusing to heed 

the officer's specific instruction that he not open his trunk, he proceeded to do so. It was 

unnecessary and completely irrelevant for respondent to mention his attendance at a 

judicial conference, except as a means of calling attention to his judicial status and 

conveying the message that, as a judge, he was entitled to special consideration. Finally, 

respondent underscored that message by stating several times, in words or substance, "Is 

this how you treat a Supreme Court Justice?", while asking ifthe matter could be 

resolved with a Speeding ticket - an unmistakable, specific request for special treatment 
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based on his judicial status. The implicit message in respondent's actions and statements 

- that because he is a high-ranking judge, he should be exempt from the ordinary 

standards of law enforcement that apply to others - is repugnant and inconsistent with 

ethical standards prohibiting a judge from using the prestige of judicial office to advance 

private interests (Rules, § 100.2[C]). As the Commission has stated: "Public confidence 

in the fair and proper administration of justice requires that judges, who are sworn to 

uphold the law, neither request nor receive special treatment when the laws are applied to 

them personally" (Matter of Werner, supra, 2003 NYSCJC Annual Report at 199). 

In determining the appropriate sanction, we must consider whether this 

single incident, which occurred during respondent's first year as a judge, has irreparably 

damaged his effectiveness as a judge and whether the public interest is served by 

permitting him to remain on the bench in the face of such serious misconduct. 3 While we 

view respondent's misconduct as extremely serious, we have concluded that it does not 

establish that he is "unfit to remain in office" (lvfatter of Reeves, 63 NY2d 105, 111 

[1984]). 

In making this determination, we are mindful of respondent's frank 

acknowledgment that he suffers from the insidious disease of alcoholism and his 

assertion that this episode "was a trigger for him to obtain the help that he needed to treat 

3 We note that although there is no evidence that respondent's consumption of alcohol affected 
his performance of judicial duties, that fact "is not determinative" since a judge "also has a 
higher obligation to insure that his conduct off the Bench does not undermine the integrity of the 
judiciary or public confidence in his character and judicial temperament" (Matter of Quinn, 
supra, 54 NY2d at 392). 
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his condition" (Stipulation, par 29). In this regard, the record before us of his ongoing 

rehabilitative efforts and his commitment to sobriety is compelling. Since his arrest more 

than three years ago, as the referee has noted, respondent has "made extensive efforts to 

become rehabilitated as well as to assist others similarly afflicted" (Report, p 1 O); he has 

undergone inpatient and outpatient treatment and counseling, continues to regularly 

attend individual therapy sessions and Alcoholics Anonymous meetings, and has 

continued to appear at the Victim Impact Panel to speak to other drunk driving offenders 

about his own experiences as a judge who is an alcoholic. 

Despite some admitted relapses after the incident, respondent avers that he 

has not had an alcoholic drink since May 2013. Were it not for the abundant evidence 

that respondent has taken significant steps to rehabilitate himself, and seems to be 

succeeding, we would vote to remove him for his egregious conduct. 

To be sure, the Commission has encouraged judges who need assistance 

with alcohol-related problems to take advantage of the services that exist "before the 

effects of alcoholism exhibit themselves in behavior that must be addressed in a 

disciplinary setting" (2014 NYSCJC Annual Report 23 [emphasis added]). While we 

give due weight to respondent's rehabilitative efforts, we emphasize that the result in this 

case should not suggest that professing a commitment to sobriety after an alcohol-fueled 

incident of misconduct will guarantee that a judge can avoid removal for egregious 

misconduct (see Matter of Aldrich, 58 NY2d 279, 283 [1983] [judge was removed for 

presiding over two court sessions while under the influence of alcohol, engaging in 

conduct that included "displays of vulgarity and racism and ... threats of violence both on 

14 



and off the Bench"). 

In determining the sanction here, we are also mindful of the referee's 

findings that respondent has been "cooperative" and "contrite" and that his "candid" and 

"forthright" testimony at the hearing reflects that he "has insight into the nature of his 

disease" and "has taken responsibility for his actions" (Report, pp 10-11 ). We thus 

conclude, based on the totality of the record before us, that respondent should be 

censured. 

As we have stated recently in several cases involving alcohol-related 

driving offenses with significant aggravating factors (Matter of Newman, Matter of 

Martine ck and Matter of Maney, supra), were the sanction of suspension from judicial 

office without pay available to us, we would have imposed it in those cases, and would 

impose it here, to reflect the seriousness of such behavior. Absent that alternative, we 

have concluded that censuring respondent not only underscores the seriousness of such 

misconduct, but also serves as a reminder to respondent and to the public that judges at 

all times are held to the highest standards of conduct, even off the bench (Rules, 

§ 100.2[A]). 

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the appropriate 

disposition is censure. 

Judge Klonick, Judge Ruderman, Judge Acosta, Mr. Belluck, Ms. 

Comgold, Mr. Emery, Mr. Harding, Mr. Stoloff and Judge Weinstein concur. Mr. 

Belluck files a concurring opinion, which Mr. Emery and Judge Weinstein join. 
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Mr. Cohen was not present. 

CERTIFICATION 

It is certified that the foregoing is the determination of the State 

Commission on Judicial Conduct. 

Dated: December 28, 2015 
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Jean M. Savanyu, Esq. 
Clerk of the Commission 
New York State 
Commission on Judicial Conduct 



STATE OF NEW YORK 
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT 

In the Matter of the Proceeding 
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4, 
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to 

CARL J. LANDICINO, 

a Justice of the Supreme Court, 
2nd Judicial District, Kings County. 

CONCURRING OPINION 
BY MR. BELLUCK, 

WHICH MR. EMERY 
AND JUDGE 

WEINSTEIN JOIN 

As I have noted in previous disciplinary cases involving alcohol-related 

driving offenses, I believe that the Commission's past decisions for such behavior have 

been unduly lenient given the serious consequences of drunk driving. See Matter of 

Maney. 2011 NYSCJC Annual Report 106; Matter of Burke, 2010 NYSCJC Annual 

Report 110. I have stated before, and still believe, that in most circumstances drunk 

driving should lead to removal, particularly where there are aggravating factors. 

Nevertheless, for the reasons set forth below, I respectfully concur that in this case 

censure is the appropriate result. I write separately to address the circumstances that have 

persuaded me to vote for censure in this case and to underscore that in future cases 

involving similar conduct, I may argue strenuously for removal - especially in the 

absence of a persuasive record demonstrating a judge's acceptance of his or her 

alcoholism and commitment to rehabilitation. 

The conduct presented here - respondent drove drunk, endangered innocent 



victims, asserted his judicial office and engaged in conduct after the incident from which 

it could be inferred that he was trying to game the system - is unquestionably repugnant 

and would ordinarily require the sanction of removal. Holding judicial office is not a 

right, but a privilege that can be forfeited when a judge engages in behavior that is so 

plainly inconsistent with the high standards of conduct that our society requires both on 

and off the bench. 

Judges hold powerful positions in which they are entrusted to sit in 

judgment of the conduct of others, including adjudicating and sentencing drunk drivers. 

In addition, for good reason, they are also highly respected members of their 

communities. I have the utmost respect for members of the judiciary and have previously 

written about the increasing workloads and demands being placed on judges. Few 

positions carry with them a higher level of respect from the legal community and the 

public. However, no judge is above the law. A judge whose personal behavior flouts the 

law and puts others at risk of death and serious injury should not be allowed to continue 

to have the protection and privileges of judicial office. 

Despite these considerations, there is compelling mitigation that weighs 

against the sanction of removal in this case. 1 I give little weight to the majority's 

1The Court of Appeals has underscored that the severity of the sanction imposed for many types 
of misconduct "depends upon the presence or absence of mitigating and aggravating 
circumstances" (Matter of Rater, 69 NY2d 208, 209 [1987] ["in the absence of any mitigating 
factors, [such conduct] might very well lead to removal. ... On the other hand, if a judge can 
demonstrate that mitigating circumstances accounted for such failings, such a severe sanction 
may be unwarranted"]). See also, e.g., Matter of Edwards, 67 NY2d 153, 155 (1986) ("as a 
general rule, intervention in a proceeding in another court should result in removal," but this 
"should not ... preclud[e] consideration of mitigating factors"); Matter of Dixon, 47 NY2d 523, 
525 (1979) ("In so deciding [the appropriate sanction] we consider various mitigating factors"). 
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findings that respondent has been "cooperative" and "contrite" (Determination, p 15), 

since cooperation with a Commission inquiry should be expected of every judge, and 

contrition may be strategic and insincere. What is most compelling - and uncontroverted 

- is that respondent suffers from the disease of alcoholism and that, in the three years 

since the incident, he has demonstrated a strong commitment to fighting his disease and 

helping others similarly afflicted. In that regard, respondent's subsequent behavior, 

documented at length in the record before us, demonstrates an apparently sincere, 

determined effort to ensure that his conduct will not be repeated. These efforts, I believe, 

deserve strong consideration because he has convinced me that his acknowledgment of 

his alcoholism and commitment to treatment are sincere. 

Both Congress and the Legislature of this State have recognized that 

alcoholism is an illness that must be treated as a serious public health problem ( 42 USC 

§4541[a]; NY Mental Hygiene Law §1.03[13] ["'Alcoholism' means a chronic illness in 

which the ingestion of alcohol usually results in the further compulsive ingestion of 

alcohol beyond the control of the sick person to a degree which impairs normal 

functioning"). It is a disease from which no group in our society, including judges, is 

exempt. 

To be sure, respondent's alcoholism in no way diminishes his responsibility 

for his terrible behavior, but I believe that his subsequent actions compellingly show that 

he recognizes the harm that could have come from this episode and thus, that he can 

continue to serve as a productive member of the bench, the bar and society. As both 

sides here have acknowledged, while his rehabilitative efforts appear to be succeeding, 
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whether they are ultimately successful can only be measured over his lifetime. However, 

the fact that three years have passed since the incident and all indications are that he has 

maintained his treatment and sobriety since May 2013, allows some measure of optimism 

that he will not endanger himself or others in the future. Even though there are no 

guarantees that the conduct will not recur, I have been convinced that he should remain 

on the bench. 

My sincere hope is that all judges recognize the high stakes roulette that is 

involved when they drive drunk and will heed the Commission's increasing penalties as a 

stem warning to avoid gambling with their lives and the lives of others. However, I do 

not want to create an environment where judges are afraid to seek assistance that may 

help them to avoid discipline. Judges who suffer from alcoholism or other addictions 

should feel increasingly free to come forward and get help (see "Seeking Treatment for 

an Alcohol Problem," 2014 NYSCJC Annual Report 23). Judges should know that if 

they suffer from these illnesses getting help before engaging in dangerous conduct on or 

off the bench will be viewed with empathy by court administrators and be a mitigating 

factor for this Commission. 

Accordingly, on the facts presented here, I concur that the sanction of 

censure is appropriate. 

Dated: December 28, 2015 

oseph W. Belluck, Esq., Member 
New York State 
Commission on Judicial Conduct 
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

DAVID RAY,

a Justice of the Brookfield Town Court,
Madison County.

THE COMNIISSION:

Raoul Lionel Felder, Esq., Chair
Honorable Thomas A. Klonick, Vice Chair
Stephen R. Coffey, Esq.
Colleen C. DiPirro
Richard D. Emery, Esq.
Paul B. Harding, Esq.
Marvin E. Jacob, Esq.
Honorable Jill Konviser
Honorable Karen K. Peters
Honorable Terry Jane Ruderman

APPEARANCES:

DETERMINATION

Robert H. Tembeckjian (John 1. Postel, Of Counsel) for the Commission

Honorable David Ray, pro se

The respondent, David Ray, a Justice of the Brookfield Town Court,

Madison County, was served with a Formal Written Complaint dated October 15,2007,

containing one charge. The Formal Written Complaint alleged that respondent convicted



the defendants in a code violation case without a trial or guilty plea. Respondent filed an

Answer dated November 5, 2007.

On January 22,2008, the Administrator of the Commission and respondent

entered into an Agreed Statement of Facts pursuant to Judiciary Law §44(5), stipulating

that the Commission make its determination based upon the agreed facts, recommending

that respondent be admonished and waiving further submissions and oral argument.

On January 29,2008, the Commission accepted the Agreed Statement and

made the following determination.

1. Respondent has been a Justice of the Brookfield Town Court since

January 1,2004. He is not an attorney. He has been employed as a maintenance

mechanic at Revere Inc., for the past ten years.

2. Prior to December 2004, Jacqueline McComber Harris took ownership

of certain real property in Madison County, located at 2769 Vidler Road, West Edmonton,

New York.

3. In December 2004, Christopher and Michele Bridge began residing as

tenants at the Vidler Road property. At the time they moved in, there was a dilapidated

garage and a large volume of used tires on the property, neither of which belonged to

them.

4. On April 28, 2005, Ms. Harris, who still owned the Vidler Road

property, entered into an access agreement with the New York State Department of

Environmental Conservation concerning removal of the large volume of used tires from
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the property.

5. The Vidler Road property was also the subject of a local property code

violation proceeding, and in May 2005, the code violation proceeding was concluded with

Ms. Harris's payment of a $500 fine to the town.

6. On July 19, 2005, Charles E. Sullivan, Jr., Director of the New York

State Department of Environmental Conservation's Division of Environmental

Enforcement, wrote to respondent providing him with a copy of the access agreement.

The access agreement provided for the state to conclude its cleanup of the property before

2011.

7. On August 11,2005, Madison County took possession of the Vidler

Road property due to non-payment of delinquent taxes.

8. On January 3,2006, Christopher and Michele Bridge were charged in

the Brookfield Town Court with violating Local Law Number 1 (Section 3) of the

Brookfield Town Code, as well as Sections 302, 303, and 305 of the New York State

Property Maintenance Law, in connection with the dilapidated garage and the large pile

of used tires that was still located on the Vidler Road property.

9. On January 10,2006, Christopher and Michele Bridge were arraigned

before respondent. Each defendant pleaded not guilty and declined counsel. Respondent

told the defendants to keep the tires covered and adjourned the case until February 28,

2006.

10. On February 28,2006, the defendants appeared before respondent and
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reached an agreement with Geoffrey B. Wordon, the Town of Brookfield Code

Enforcement Officer, to destroy the dilapidated garage by March 15,2006. The

agreement made no mention of covering any tires.

11. On March 14, 2006, Christopher and Michele Bridge took ownership of

the property from Madison County. A copy of the resolution of the Madison County

legislature was provided to respondent during the pendency of the code violation action.

12. On April 25, 2006, Officer Wordon appeared in court for a proceeding

in the matter. The Bridges did not appear. Officer Wordon told respondent, ex parte, that

he had driven past the Vidler Street property and observed that portions of the tires on the

property were uncovered.

13. On May 7,2006, respondent, based upon his ex parte communication

with Officer Wordon, sent Christopher and Michele Bridge a letter stating that he was

fining them $100 for not keeping the tires covered. Respondent did so because he

believed that the Bridges were intentionally violating his direction to keep the tires

covered pending the conclusion of the case.

14. On May 23, 2006, Ms. Bridge appeared in court and paid the $100 fine.

15. On June 30, 2006, Officer Wordon sent respondent a letter stating that

he had visited the Vidler Street property and found that a portion of the tires were still

uncovered.

16. On July 12, 2006, respondent sent Christopher and Michele Bridge a

letter advising them that they had been convicted of the original charges, fining them an
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additional $100, imposing a one-year conditional discharge and stating that payment was

due to the court by August 11, 2006. Respondent also warned them that if their fine was

not paid by the due date, their drivers' licenses would be suspended. Respondent did so

notwithstanding that the Bridges had pleaded not guilty, and without affording them a

trial or the opportunity to present a defense, cross-examine witnesses, testify on their own

behalf or offer witnesses or other evidence.

17. The conditional discharge period concluded on July 12,2007, without

further action in the case. Respondent waived payment of the $100 fine. No further

action has been taken in the matter.

18. As to both the fine for not keeping the tires covered and the imposition

of a conditional discharge, respondent recognizes that he did not act pursuant to law.

Respondent was confused as to when responsibility for the Vidler Road property

transferred from the prior owner, Ms. Harris, to the current owners, the Bridges. He

understands that this confusion would likely have been avoided had he not acted

peremptorily against the Bridges, and he now has an enhanced appreciation of the

significance of both avoiding unauthorized ex parte communications and according

litigants the right to be heard according to law.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a matter

oflaw that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2(A), 100.3(B)(I) and 100.3(B)(6) of

the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct ("Rules") and should be disciplined for cause,

pursuant to Article 6, Section 22, subdivision a, of the New York State Constitution and
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Section 44, subdivision 1, of the Judiciary Law. Charge I of the Formal Written

Complaint is sustained, and respondent's misconduct is established.

Respondent's handling of a code violation case reveals a misunderstanding

ofbasic legal procedures. Without a trial or guilty plea, he convicted the defendants and

imposed two consecutive fines and a one-year conditional discharge based on

unsubstantiated ex parte information from the code enforcement officer. Such conduct

violates well-established ethical standards and warrants discipline.

The record indicates that after the defendants had pleaded not guilty to

charges involving uncovered tires on property where they resided, respondent adjourned

the case and ordered the defendants to cover the tires. At the next scheduled court date,

the defendants did not appear, and the code enforcement officer told respondent that the

tires were still uncovered. Respondent sent the defendants a letter stating that he was

adjourning the case for a month and imposing a $100 fine "for not covering the tires like I

asked." Two months later, after the defendants had paid the fine, the code enforcement

officer told respondent ex parte that the tires were still uncovered, whereupon respondent

sent the defendants another letter imposing another $100 fine and a one-year conditional

discharge. Respondent has acknowledged that he never afforded the unrepresented

defendants the right to be heard and to present a defense, including the fact that at the

time the original charges were filed, the defendants did not even own the property at

Issue.

It is the responsibility of every judge, lawyer or non-lawyer, to maintain
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professional competence in the law (Rules, §100.3[B][I]) and to ensure that every

defendant is afforded basic procedural due process. Matter ofHise, 2003 Annual Report

125 (Comrn on Judicial Conduct) (judge convicted and sentenced a defendant charged

with a zoning violation, without a trial or guilty plea). A judge is also required to accord

to all interested parties a full right to be heard under the law (Rules, §100.3[B][6]). See,

e.g., Matter ofMarshall, 8 NY3d 741 (2007); Matter ofMore, 1996 Annual Report 99

(Comm on Judicial Conduct) (judge dismissed charges in three traffic cases without

notice to the prosecutor and disposed of three other cases based on ex parte

communications). Depriving defendants of well-established rights is not just legal error,

but can be judicial misconduct. See Matter ofReeves, 63 NY2d 105, 109-10(1984).

Respondent, who had served as a judge for two years at the time he handled

this case, has acknowledged that his actions were inconsistent with the required

procedures and that his confusion about the ownership of the property would likely have

been avoided had he not acted so peremptorily against the defendants. Further, it has

been stipulated that respondent now has an enhanced appreciation of the significance of

both avoiding unauthorized ex parte communications and according litigants the right to

be heard according to law.

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the appropriate

disposition is admonition.

Judge Klonick, Mr. Coffey, Mr. Harding, Judge Konviser, Judge Peters and
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Judge Rudennan concur.

Ms. DiPirro and Mr. Emery dissent and vote to reject the Agreed Statement

of Facts on the basis that the disposition is too lenient.

Mr. Felder and Mr. Jacob were not present.

CERTIFICATION

It is certified that the foregoing is the detennination of the State

Commission on Judicial Conduct.

Dated: February 26, 2008

~v~h
Clerk of the Commission
New York State
Commission on Judicial Conduct
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STATE OF NEW YORK
CONIMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

DAVID RAY,

a Justice of the Brookfield Town Court,
Madison County.

DISSENTING OPINION
BY IVIR. EIVIERY, IN

WHICH MS. DIPIRRO
JOINS

In my view entering into an Agreed Statement with Commission Staff

should not be a "Get Out of Jail Free" card in a game ofjudicial misconduct. The

sanction of admonition that Justice David Ray receives for fundamental breaches of due

process - convicting citizens without any trial and fining citizens based only on ex parte

conversations with a law enforcement official- is so inconsistent with our precedent and

what the public expects of us that it betrays an expedient approach to judicial discipline

not consistent with our constitutional obligations.

While it may on occasion be appropriate to negotiate Agreed Statements

that accurately ret1ect the facts and allow for resolutions of allegations ofjudicial

misconduct, the sanctions imposed pursuant to such resolutions should not be outliers in

our jurisprudence. Clearly a judge should get credit for recognizing his/her misconduct

and admitting to it in an Agreed Statement. But when the misconduct is so fundamental

that it betrays a basic ignorance and insensitivity to ajudge's most fundamental

responsibility - to hear both sides before imposing punishment - even post hoc



recognition of wrongdoing should not compromise the sanction decision to the point of

wrist-slapping.

I have complained previously about the expedient use of Agreed

Statements. See, Matter ofHonoroj, 2008 Annual Report _ (Emery Dissent); Matter of

Clark, 2007 Annual Report 93 (Emery Dissent); Matter ofCarter, 2007 Annual Report

79 (Emery Concurrence). I have also argued that ex parte evidence is corrosive of due

process. See, Matter ofMarshall, 2008 Annual Report _ (Emery Opinion Concurring

in Part and Dissenting in Part) (judge's "high-handed ex parte activity" showed

"disregard for fundamental due process rights" which, standing alone, warrants removal);

Matter of Williams, 2008 Annual Report _ (Emery Dissent) (judge's ex parte

conversation with a trooper, which appeared to influence his decision, was "inexcusable"

and warrants removal, particularly after prior discipline for similar misconduct). In this

case, however, the level of result-oriented resolution reaches unprecedented levels. Here

a judge twice illegally imposed fines based on a verbal report of a local code enforcement

officer on residents of land who had pleaded not guilty to the charges and were never

afforded a trial or opportunity to present a defense. It appears he fined them twice for the

same code violations and then entered a conviction with no notice whatsoever. This

conduct, reminiscent of Politburo justice, has no place even in rural New York, where it

seems we give more leeway than we should.

The fact that many justice courts suffer from the absence of lawyers

presiding is no excuse for us to allow town justices to escape responsibility for

fundamental violations of well-established individual rights. Many non-lawyer town
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justices do fine work, scrupulously protecting the rights of the litigants who appear before

them. In this case, the judge had presided for more than two years and certainly should

have understood his obligation to be fair. Apparently he did not, and his betrayal of the

trust invested in him requires more response from us than an admonition conveys.

I have no doubt that if this judge had contested the charges he would have

been removed. It cannot be that his willingness to enter into an Agreed Statement

warrants such a severe reduction in sanction that admonition is appropriate. It may be

that if we were convinced that he had learned from this process and was sincerely

apologetic to the victims of his excess, a censure would be justified. But this record,

comprised only of the Agreed Statement, does not support a result less severe than

removal.

There is another troubling aspect to this case. Sadly, the qualifications for

judicial office in town and village courts are so minimal that persons who should not be

judges are. There is no educational or vocational prerequisite for service as a town or

village justice. The result is that, among the many judges who serve, there are some who

clearly would be unqualified if there were reasonable, minimum standards. Respondent's

"Answer" in this case betrays such a poor facility with basic writing skills that it is

glaringly reflective of the problem of having no minimum standards for judicial office.

Current judicial training programs are, regrettably, not a solution to this problem since

demonstrably unqualified judges regularly complete them successfully. We should all be

deeply concerned with the easy escape route we have provided in this case to a judge who

submitted such a troubling, but revealing Answer. Here, the Agreed Statement deprives
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us of any infonnation describing respondent's educational background or life experience.

If the case had proceeded to a hearing at least we would know more than we know now

about the respondent. On this record, it is clear to me that he should not continue to serve

as a judge.

Therefore, I dissent and would reject the Agreed Statement and the

negotiated sanction of admonition.

Dated: February 26,2008

Richard D. Emery, Esq., Member
New York State
Commission on Judicial Conduct
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

MARIE ROLLER,

a Justice of the Veteran Town Court and
Acting Justice of the Millport Village
Court, Chemung County.

THE COMMISSION:

Honorable Thomas A. Klonick, Chair
Stephen R. Coffey, Esq., Vice Chair
Joseph W. Belluck, Esq.
Colleen C. DiPirro
Richard D. Emery, Esq.
Paul B. Harding, Esq.
Elizabeth B. Hubbard1

Marvin E. Jacob, Esq.
Honorable Jill Konviser
Honorable Karen K. Peters
Honorable Terry Jane Ruderman

APPEARANCES:

DETERMINATION

Robert H. Tembeckjian (John 1. Postel, Of Counsel) for the Commission

Honorable Marie Roller, pro se

I Ms. Hubbard was appointed to the Commission on June 10, 2008. The vote in this matter was
taken on May 8, 2008.



The respondent, Marie Roller, a Justice of the Veteran Town Court and

Acting Justice of the Millport Village Court, Chemung County, was served with a Formal

Written Complaint dated January 24, 2007, containing three charges. The Formal Written

Complaint alleged that respondent failed to make timely deposits of court monies

(Charges I and II) and failed to notifY the Department ofMotor Vehicles regarding

defendants who did not answer charges or pay fines as required (Charge III). Respondent

filed an Answer dated February 15,2007.

By Order dated July 3,2007, the Commission designated William T.

Easton, Esq., as referee to hear and report proposed findings of fact and conclusions of

law. A hearing was held on August 14,2007, in Syracuse. Schedules A and B of the

Formal Written Complaint were amended at the hearing. The referee filed a report dated

March 20, 2008.

The parties submitted briefs with respect to the referee's report. Oral

argument was waived. On May 8, 2008, the Commission considered the record of the

proceeding and made the following findings of fact.

1. Respondent is a Justice of the Veteran Town Court and has served in

that capacity since January 1, 2000. Since 2003, she has also served as an Acting Justice

of the Millport Village Court.

2. Respondent's co-justice of the Veteran Town Court is Thomas P.

Brooks, II, who assumed his position at the same time as respondent.

3. During her tenure as Veteran Town Justice, respondent was assisted
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Before taking office as a town justice, respondent attended a training

by three court clerks: Jane Briggs (from January 2000 to August 2000), Beverly

Michalko (from November 2000 to December 2002), and Carol Zachary (from May 2003

to May 2005).

4.

course sponsored by the Office of Court Administration, and since that time she has

regularly attended and successfully completed Office of Court Administration training

programs.

As to Charge I of the Fonnal Written Complaint:

5. In April 2005, during a scheduled examination of Veteran Town

Court records pursuant to a Commission investigation, Commission investigator Rebecca

Roberts discovered $430 in undeposited court funds in a file cabinet in respondent's

office at the court. These funds included: (a) a $25 money order from John Howells that

was noted as received by the court on July 9, 2001; (b) a $20 money order from David

Clowers that was noted as received by the court on August 14, 2002; (c) $110 in cash that

was noted as being paid by Kimberly Marshall to the court in September 2002; (d) a $75

money order from Alice Seymour that was noted as received by the court on May 27,

2004; and (e) a $200 money order from Elizabeth Mousaw that was noted as received by

the court on October 12, 2004.

6. These payments were not deposited into the court bank account until

at least February 2006.

7. The cases of Howells, Clowers and Marshall were resolved in
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respondent's court. The cases of Seymour and Mousaw pre-dated respondent's tenure as

Veteran Town Justice, but those payments were received by the court when respondent

was a judge and thus were under her control and supervision.

8. The undeposited payments in Howells, Clowers and Marshall

represented partial payments of fines and surcharges.

9. Respondent was aware from the time she assumed her position as

Veteran Town Justice that Section 214.9(a) of the Uniform Civil Rules for the Justice

Courts requires judges to deposit court funds within 72 hours of receipt, exclusive of

Sundays and holidays.

10. Although respondent was confused during this period whether the

court could accept partial payments, respondent was aware that partial payments, if

received, were not exempt from the rules governing deposit of court funds.

11. Three of the five undeposited payments (Howells, Clowers and

Marshall) were received during the tenure of Court Clerk Beverly Michalko, and two

(Seymour and Mousaw) were received during the tenure of Court Clerk Carol Zachary.

As to Charge II of the Formal Written Complaint:

12. From May 2004 until April 2005, respondent deposited court funds

into the Veteran Town Court account on a monthly basis rather than within 72 hours of

receipt.

13. Respondent held court sessions at least twice per month during this

period, and the court also received payment of fines and surcharges between court
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sessions, including payments by mail.

14. Because respondent was depositing funds on a monthly basis and not

within 72 hours of receipt, respondent's practice resulted in the accumulation of

substantial amounts of undeposited funds.

15. Respondent's practice also resulted in a substantial discrepancy

between the payments received in every month and the funds deposited, as follows:

(a) In May 2004, respondent received $6,140 in payments, but deposited

$1,050 into her court account.

(b) In June 2004, respondent received $2,410 in payments, but deposited

$6,140 into her court account.

(c) In July 2004, respondent received $2,430 in payments but deposited

$2,410 into her court account.

(d) In August 2004, respondent received $3,980 in payments but deposited

$2,325 into her court account.

(e) In September 2004, respondent received $4,440 in payments but

deposited $3,980 into her court account.

(f) In October 2004, respondent received $4,645 in payments but deposited

$4,440 into her court account.

(g) In November 2004, respondent received $3,567 in payments but

deposited $4,745 into her court account.

(h) In December 2004, respondent received $12,505 in payments but
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deposited $3,567 into her court account.

(i) In January 2005, respondent received $2,655 in payments but made no

deposits into her court account.

U) In February 2005, respondent received $4,950 in payments but

deposited $15,160 into her court account.

(k) In March 2005, respondent received $9,000 in payments but deposited

$4,930 into her court account.

(1) In Apri12005, respondent received $4,055 in payments but deposited

$12,920 into her court account.

16. Respondent personally deposited funds into the court account during

this period. Respondent's court clerk during this period, Carol Zachary, prepared deposit

slips for respondent but never made deposits.

17. Although respondent was aware during this time that Section

214.9(a) of the Uniform Civil Rules for the Justice Courts requires court funds to be

deposited within 72 hours of receipt, respondent never informed her court clerk of this

requirement; nor did respondent direct her clerk to prepare deposit slips to enable

respondent to deposit these funds in compliance with the Rules.

18. Respondent's professional relationship with her clerk, Carol

Zachary, became acrimonious during Ms. Zachary's tenure.

As to Charge III of the Formal Written Complaint:

19. From April 2001 through February 2006, respondent failed to notify
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the Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) regarding 110 defendants who had either

failed to answer their charges within 60 days of the return date or failed to pay the fines

respondent had imposed, as indicated on Schedule B to the Formal Written Complaint as

amended at the hearing.

20. Of these cases, 49 defendants had failed to appear in court or answer

the charges against them, and 61 defendants had failed to pay fines and/or surcharges

imposed by respondent. As a result of respondent's failure to notifY DMV, these

defendants did not have their licenses suspended or have points assessed against their

licenses, and $7,430 of imposed fines and/or surcharges was not collected.

21. The above cases were returnable before respondent during the time

when Beverly Michalko and Carol Zachary served as court clerk, as well as during

several months when respondent had no court clerk.

22. Respondent was aware of her obligation to notifY DMV regarding

such defendants. Respondent neither notified DMV herself nor instructed her court clerk

to do so.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a matter

oflaw that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2(A), 100.3(B)(l), 100.3(C)(l) and

100.3(C)(2) of the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct and should be disciplined for cause,

pursuant to Article 6, Section 22, subdivision a, ofthe New York State Constitution and

Section 44, subdivision 1, of the Judiciary Law. Charges I through III of the Formal

Written Complaint as amended are sustained, and respondent's misconduct is established.
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A town or village justice is personally responsible for monies received by

the court (1983 Op. of the State Comptroller, No. 83-174). Such monies must be

deposited within 72 hours of receipt (Uniform Civil Rules for the Justice Courts

§214.9[a] [22 NYCRR §214.9(a)]). While this responsibility may be delegated, ajudge is

required to exercise supervisory vigilance over court staff to ensure the proper

performance of this important function. See Matter ofCavotta, 2008 Annual Report 107

(Comm on Judicial Conduct); Matter ofJarosz, 2004 Annual Report 116 (Comm on

Judicial Conduct). See also, Matter ofBrooks, 2008 Annual Report 89 (Comm on

Judicial Conduct).

Respondent failed to perform her administrative and supervisory duties

adequately, resulting in the careless handling of funds collected by the court. The record

reveals a pattern of deposits that were untimely and incomplete. For example, in one

month respondent received $12,505 in payments but deposited $3,567 into the court

account; the next month she received $2,655 but made no deposits; and the following

month, $4,950 was received and $15,160 was deposited. In five cases, monies received

by the court totaling $430, including $110 in cash, were simply placed in a file cabinet,

where they remained for months or years. These monies, some of which represented

partial payments of fines and surcharges, remained undeposited until they were

discovered during a Commission investigation.

The administration ofjustice is compromised when public funds entrusted

to a judge are handled in a careless manner. When such carelessness involves substantial
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amounts of money and continues for years, the damage to public confidence in the

judge's court is considerable.

In addition, respondent neglected 110 motor vehicle cases pending in her

court by failing to use the legal means available to compel defendants to answer the

charges or to pay fines totaling $7,430 she had imposed. Section 514(3) of the Vehicle

and Traffic Law requires a judge to notifY the Commissioner of Motor Vehicles of such

derelictions so that the defendants' drivers' licenses can be suspended. By failing to do

so, respondent pennitted defendants to avoid legal process by ignoring the summonses

they were issued or the fines levied against them. Respondent's neglect is unacceptable

since it promotes disrespect for the administration ofjustice, deprived state and local

authorities of thousands of dollars that should have been collected, and enabled

defendants whose licenses should have been suspended to continue to drive for months or

years. See, Matter afWare, 1991 Annual Report 79 (Comm on Judicial Conduct).

Respondent's problems with her court clerk over some of this period do not

excuse these administrative lapses. Indeed, those circumstances should have prompted

respondent to take particular care to insure that her administrative duties were being

properly perfonned.

In mitigation, there is no evidence that court funds were misused, and

respondent has taken steps to insure that funds are now deposited promptly, as required

by law.
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By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the appropriate

disposition is censure.

Judge Klonick, Mr. Emery, Mr. Harding, Mr. Jacob, Judge Konviser, Judge

Peters and Judge Ruderman concur.

Mr. Belluck and Mr. Coffey concur as to Charge III and the sanction of

censure, but dissent as to Charges I and II and vote to dismiss the charges on the basis

that the administrative problems have been remedied and there is no indication that

. . .
momes were mIssmg.

Ms. DiPirro was not present.

CERTIFICATION

It is certified that the foregoing is the determination of the State

Commission on Judicial Conduct.

Dated: July 7, 2008
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Jean M. Savanyu, Esq.
Clerk ofthe Commission
New York State
Commission on Judicial Conduct



In re Romano, 93 NY2d 161 (1999) 

 Court of Appeals of New York 
In the Matter of Ralph T. ROMANO, a Jus-
tice of the Haverstraw Town Court and Act-

ing Justice of the Village Court of West 
Haverstraw, Rockland County, 

Petitioner. 
State Commission on Judicial Conduct, 

Respondent. 
March 30, 1999. 

Tracy, Bertolino & Edwards, New City 
(John S. Edwards of counsel), for petitioner. 
Robert H. Tembeckjian, New York City, for 
respondent. 

OPINION OF THE COURT 
 
PER CURIAM. 
 
[1] Petitioner, a Town Justice of the Town 
of Haverstraw Justice Court and Acting Jus-
tice of the West Haverstraw Village Court, 
Rockland County, brings this proceeding to 
review a determination of the State Com-
mission on Judicial Conduct. The Commis-
sion sustained 9 of the 10 charges against 
petitioner and determined that he should be 
removed from office. Pursuant to our plena-
ry review of the record, and upon our evalu-
ation of the Commission's findings and con-
clusions, we conclude that charges III 
through VI and part of charge VIII1 were 
*163 established by evidence in the record 
and justify removal. These charges derive 
from petitioner's conduct over a period of 
time both on and off the Bench. 
 

1 Insofar as it charges that petitioner made nu-
merous statements to various individuals indicat-
ing his bias against domestic abuse victims and 
in favor of the alleged abusers, charge VIII is 
established by evidence in the record. 

The most recent incident occurred at an ar-
raignment on April 17, 1997, where a de-
fendant was charged with violating an order 
of protection and assaulting his wife. The 
record contains credible evidence that peti-
tioner, after reading the charges, made a 
trivializing statement from the Bench, to the 
effect: “What's wrong with that? You've got 
to keep them in line once in a while.” Peti-
tioner testified that he could not recall hav-
ing made the statement, but the record nev-
ertheless contains evidence that following 
petitioner's statement, the defense attorney 
responded by making an equally inappropri-
ate joke that drew laughter and no rebuke 
from petitioner. The April 17, 1997 ar-
raignment follows an arraignment on April 
2, 1997, where a female defendant was 
charged with sexually abusing a 12-year-old 
boy. After the arraignment and while in the 
presence of the court clerk, the bailiff, an 
intern, and one or more State Troopers, peti-
tioner joked about the nature of the alleged 
abuse in either the case before him or in a 
similar case from another jurisdiction. Peti-
tioner's conduct during these arraignments 
evinces his outspoken insensitivity concern-
ing charges involving domestic violence and 
sexual abuse. 
 
An additional charge derives from an ar-
raignment in August 1995 during which pe-
titioner uttered profane and disparaging re-
marks about a complainant who was a for-
mer client of petitioner's private law prac-
tice. Petitioner's failure to recuse himself 
from the case compounded the severity of 
this violation. 
 
Finally, one charge arises out of petitioner's 
attempt in December 1993 to cause the po-
lice to instigate a criminal complaint against 
a person for the benefit of a friend and client 
of petitioner's private practice. During his 
conversations with the police chief, petition-
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er offered to use his influence with the Town 
Board to reward the chief for instigating the 
complaint. We conclude that evidence in the 
record supports the Commission's finding 
that petitioner seriously abused his judicial 
authority. 
 
We conclude that in the course of the events 
giving rise to the foregoing charges, at a 
minimum petitioner violated sections*164 
100.1 (requiring a Judge to “participate in 
establishing, maintaining and enforcing high 
standards of conduct, and * * * personally 
observe those standards so that the integrity 
and independence of the judiciary will be 
preserved”), 100.2 (requiring a Judge to 
“avoid impropriety and the appearance of 
impropriety in all of the judge's activities”), 
100.2(A) (requiring a Judge to “respect and 
comply with the law and * * * act at all 
times in a manner that promotes public con-
fidence in the integrity and impartiality of 
the judiciary”), 100.3(B)(2) (requiring a 
Judge to “require order and decorum in pro-
ceedings before the judge”), 100.3(B)(3) and 
its predecessor section 100.3(a)(3) (renum. 
eff. Jan. 1, 1996) (requiring a Judge to be 
“patient, dignified and courteous to litigants, 
jurors, witnesses, lawyers and others with 
whom the judge deals in an official capaci-
ty” and to “require similar conduct of law-
yers * * * and others subject to the judge's 
direction and control”), 100.3(B)(4) (prohib-
iting a Judge from manifesting bias or prej-
udice by words or conduct), 100.3(B)(5) 
(requiring a Judge to prohibit lawyers from 
manifesting bias or prejudice by words or 
conduct in proceedings before the Judge), 
and 100.3(c)(1) (currently section 
100.3[E][1]) (requiring Judges to disqualify 
themselves in proceedings in which their 
“impartiality might reasonably be ques-
tioned”) of the Rules Governing Judicial 

Conduct (22 NYCRR) and the similar provi-
sions of canons 1, 2, 2(A); 3(A) (2); 3(A)(3); 
and 3(C)(1) of the Code of Judicial Conduct. 
 
[2] In all, petitioner's misconduct both on 
and off the Bench demonstrates a pattern of 
serious disregard for the standards of judi-
cial conduct, which “exist to maintain re-
spect toward everyone who appears in a 
court and to encourage respect for the opera-
tion of the judicial process at all levels of the 
system” (Matter of Roberts, 91 N.Y.2d 93, 
97, 666 N.Y.S.2d 1017, 689 N.E.2d 911). 
Further, we are satisfied that this Court 
should accept the Commission's determined 
sanction of removal (N.Y. Const., art. VI, § 
22 [d], [h]; Judiciary Law § 44[l], [9]). 
 
Accordingly, the determined sanction should 
be accepted, without costs, and petitioner 
removed from the offices of Town Justice of 
the Town of Haverstraw Justice Court and 
Acting Village Justice of the West Haver-
straw Village Court. 
 
Chief Judge KAYE and Judges BELLACO-
SA, SMITH, LEVINE, CIPARICK, WES-
LEY and ROSENBLATT concur in Per Cu-
riam opinion. 
 
Determined sanction accepted, without 
costs, and Ralph T. *165 Romano removed 
from the offices of Justice of the Haverstraw 
Town Court and Acting Justice of the Vil-
lage Court of West Haverstraw, Rockland 
County. 
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

DETERMINATION
NANCY E. SMITH,

a Justice of the Appellate Division,
Fourth Departlnent.

THE COMMISSION:

Honorable Tholnas A. Klonick, Chair
Honorable Terry Jane Ruderman, Vice Chair
Honorable Rolando T. Acosta
Joseph W. Bel1uck, Esq.
Joel Cohen, Esq.
Jodie Corngold
Richard D. Emery, Esq.
Paul B. Harding, Esq.
Richard A. 8t010ff, Esq.
Honorable David A. Weinstein

APPEARANCES:

Robert H. Telnbeckjian (John J. Postel, Of Counsel) for the Commission

Geiger and Rothenberg, LLP (by David Rothenberg) for the Respondent

The respondent,Nancy E. Smith, a Justice of the Appellate Division, Fourth

Department, was served with a Formal Written Complaint dated March 12, 2013,

containing one charge. The Formal Written Complaint alleged that respondent sent a



letter on judicial stationery to the New York State Division of Parole expressing her

support for an inlnate's release on parole.

On May 9, 2013, the Administrator, respondent's counsel and respondent

entered into an Agreed Statement of Facts pursuant to Judiciary Law §44(5), stipulating

that the Commission make its determination based upon the agreed facts, recomlnending

that respondent be admonished and waiving further submissions and oral argument.

On June 6, 2013, the Commission accepted the Agreed Statelnent and lnade

the following determination.

1. Respondent has been a Justice of the Appellate Division since 1999,

serving in the Fourth Departlnent since 2004 and in the Second Department from 1999 to

2004. She has been a Supreme Court Justice since 1997 and served as a Judge of the

Monroe County Court froln 1993 to 1997. Her current term expires on Decelnber 31,

2025. Respondent was admitted to the practice of law in New York in 1982.

2. Craig Cordes was sentenced to state prison on 1\tiay 14, 2008, after

being convicted for vehicular manslaughter, first degree (a class C felony), for driving a

boat into another boat on Skaneateles Lake, resulting in the death of two people. Mr.

Cordes was then a law student who had recently completed his second year of law school.

His lnaxillluin sentence expiration date is April 21, 2018. His conditional release date is

December 21, 2014. He became eligible for parole on August 21,2011. Mr. Cordes filed

an initial request for parole, and a hearing was scheduled for April 19, 2011.

3. Respondent has never lnet Mr. Cordes. She played no role in his
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critninal case. She becalne acquainted with his situation after his incarceration, through

her brother-in-Iaw's sister, who is a friend ofMr. Cordes's mother. Respondent spoke

with Mr. Cordes's mother about Mr. Cordes's case and incarceration.

4. Respondent began cOlnlnunicating with Mr. Cordes by letter and,

over time, formed the opinion that Mr. Cordes recognized the gravity of his crime, had

gained insight as to the hann he had caused, and was genuinely contrite. At the request of

his Inother, respondent agreed to write to the New York State Division of Parole on Mr.

Cordes's behalf.

5. On January 27, 2011, respondent signed and sent a letter on her

judicial stationery to the Division of Parole on behalf of Mr. Cordes, in which inter alia

she identified herself as a judge, stated that Mr. Cordes was her "friend" but did not

disclose that she had never met him, expressed her support for Mr. Cordes's release on

parole, and set forth factors that she believed demonstrated Mr. Cordes's rehabilitation.

6. Respondent took no other action on behalf ofMr. Cordes.

Respondent did not contact or speak with any attorney representing Mr. Cordes.

Respondent did not appear at Mr. Cordes's parole hearing. Respondent did not speak

about Mr. Cordes with any member of the Division of Parole.

7. As part of her official duties, respondent had previously sent many

letters in response to direct inquiries by the Division of Parole in which she offered her

opinion for consideration at parole hearings involving inITIates over whose trials she had

presided and/or whom she had sentenced to prison. Respondent was aware that the Rules
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Governing Judicial Conduct (,"Rules") and applicable opinions of the Advisory

COlnmittee on Judicial Ethics ("Advisory Committee") permit such responses to inquiries

froin the Division of Parole.

8. Respondent acknowledges that she should have been aware that the

Rules, as interpreted by the Commission and the Advisory Committee, prohibit judges

frOln writing to the Division of Parole on an inmate's behalf voluntarily, at his or her

request, or at the request of SOlneone else. She pledges that she will refrain from such

conduct in the future.

9. Mr. Cordes's request for parole was denied.

Additional Factor

10. Respondent has never previously been the subject of discipline by

the COlnmission.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Cominission concludes as a Inatter

of law that respondent violated Sections 100.1, IOO.2(A), lOO.2(B) and IOO.2(e) of the

Rules and should be disciplined for cause, pursuant to Article 6, Section 22, subdivision

a, of the New York State Constitution and Section 44, subdivision I, of the Judiciary

Law. Charge I of the Formal Written Complaint is sustained, and respondent's

misconduct is established.

Respondent's unsolicited letter to the Division of Parole on behalf of the

son of a family acquaintance was inconsistent with well-established ethical standards
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prohibiting a judge from lending the prestige ofjudicial office to advance private interests

(Rules, §100.2[C]). With her judicial stationery underscoring the itnpact of her

professional clout, respondent acted as an advocate for an inmate who was seeking

release on parole, describing him as her "friend" and "a good person" (although she had

never met him), citing his worthy activities while incarcerated, and stating that she was

"confident" of his exelnplary behavior if released. Respondent's letter was clearly

intended to influence the Parole Board to give favorable consideration to the inmate's

application. The favoritism inherent in her letter, which she sent at the request of the

inmate's mother (a friend of respondent's relative), subverts the fair and proper

adlninistration ofjustice since the inmate is the beneficiary of an influential plea froln a

sitting judge based on personal connections, a benefit not available to others who have no

such connections.

A request by a judge to another public official or agency for special

consideration for any person "is wrong, and always has been wrong" (Matter ofByrne, 47

NY2d [b], 420 NYS2d 70, 71 [Ct on the Jud 1979]). As the Court of Appeals has stated:

[N]o judge should ever allow personal relationships to color
his conduct or lend the prestige of his office to advance the
private interests of others. Members of the judiciary should
be acutely aware that any action they take, on or off the bench,
must be measured against exacting standards of scrutiny to the
end that public perception of the integrity of the judiciary will
be preserved. There must also be a recognition that any actions
undertaken in the public sphere reflect, whether designedly or
not, upon the prestige of the judiciary. Thus, any communica
tion froln a judge to an outside agency on behalf of another,
may be perceived as one backed by the power and prestige of
judicial office. [Citations omitted.]
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Matter ofLonschein, 50 NY2d 569, 571 (1980). In numerous cases over more than three

decades, the COlnlnission and the Court of Appeals have disciplined judges for lending

the prestige ofjudicial office to advance private interests in violation of section 100.2(C)

by, inter alia, using judicial stationery in connection with a private matter or otherwise

asserting their judicial position while contacting a judge, law enforcement official or

other person in authority in order to assist a friend or relative. See Matter afMartin, 2002

NYSCJC Annual Report 121 Uudge sent two unsolicited letters to sentencing judges in

other courts on behalf of defendants awaiting sentencing); see also, e.g., Matter ofDixon,

47 NY2d 523 (1979); Matter ofSharlow, 2006 NYSCJC Annual Report 232; Matter of

Engle, 1998 NYSCJC Annual Report 125; Matter ofFreeman, 1992 NYSCJC Annual

Report 44. As a judge since 1993, respondent should have recognized that such

communications are strictly prohibited.

Respondent's letter did not even specifY that her comlnents were "personal

and unofficial." Including that language in her letter would not have annulled the

impropriety of her assertion of special influence (see Matter ofNesbitt, 2003 NYSCJC

Annual Report 152), but at least it would have underscored the personal nature of her

COlnments. Regardless of her intent, the letter, on its face, conveys an appearance of

using her official status to advance personal interests.

The Advisory Committee has compared sending an unsolicited reference

letter to testifYing voluntarily as a character witness, which is specifically prohibited by

section 100.2(C). As the Committee has advised, a judge may not send an unsolicited
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letter on behalf of an inmate seeking parole (Adv Ops 99-07,97-921
) or a critninal

defendant prior to sentencing (Adv Op 89-73) or an attorney facing disciplinary charges

(Adv Op 90-156), but may respond to an official request for his or her views, which is

akin to responding to a subpoena. In no instance maya judge initiate communication

with those entities in order to convey information.

I-Iere, since the factual infonnation respondent provided was not based on

her personal knowledge and could have been provided by others, she should have

recognized the likelihood that she was asked to write on Cordes's behalf primarily

because her status as a high-ranking judge would give clout to her expression of support.

This is especially so since she had never even met Cordes, had no official connection with

hitn or his case, and was asked to write the letter by his mother. In this regard, describing

him as her "friend" was deceptive and disguises the limited nature of the relationship; by

not disclosing those facts and circumstances (including her relative's connection to

Cordes's Inother), the entire letter is Inisleading. Since respondent's letter, unlike

character testilnony, was not under oath or subject to cross-examination, the Parole Board

would not have known that her optimistic asseSSlnent of his character and rehabilitative

prospects was based entirely on correspondence with him (the extent of which is unclear

in the record before us) and hearsay.

] In Opinion 97-92, the Committee advised that a judge may respond to an official request of the
Division of Parole for a statement and/or recommendation concerning a former client who is
applying for parole, "provided that the response is based upon the judge's knowledge of the
defendant and is designated 'personal and unofficial. '"
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The fact that respondent had written many other letters to the Division of

Parole offering her opinions on behalf of inmates is irrelevant. As the stipulated facts

indicate, those other letters were written "in response to direct inquiries by the Division of

Parole" and "involv[ed] inlnates over whose trials she had presided and/or whom she had

sentenced" (Agreed Statement, par 8). Those are critical distinctions, since those

previous letters were within the parameters of the crhninal justice system, in which the

Parole Board might wish to hear the opinions and insights of the judge who had presided

at a defendant's trial. Respondent should have recognized that sending an unsolicited

letter to help someone based on personal connections is critically different from

responding to an official request for her views. It is difficult to believe that as a judge for

18 years she would not have known that sending such a letter was improper, in view of

her ethics training as a judge, the Commission's decisions in Matter ofMartin and other

cases, the Comlnission's annual reports (including a special section in the 2008 Annual

Report addressing the issue), and numerous Advisory Opinions on the subject. In the

titne it took respondent to compose the letter, she had ample opportunity to reflect on the

ethical implications or seek advice as to the propriety of her planned conduct.

Upon assulning the bench, a judge surrenders certain rights and must refrain

from some conduct that would be permissible for others. Even otherwise laudable acts,

including fund-raising for civic or charitable activities, must be avoided if they use the

prestige ofjudicial office to advance private interests. When asked to write a letter on

behalf of an acquaintance or relative in need, every judge lnust be mindful of the
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itnportance of adhering to the ethical standards intended to safeguard the impartiality of

the judiciary and to curtail the inappropriate use of the prestige ofjudicial office. While

respondent's judgment tnay have been clouded by a "sincere, albeit misguided desire" to

help sotneone who she believed merited support (Matter ofLonschein, supra, 50 NY2d at

573; see also, Matter ofEdwards, 67 NY2d 153, 155 [1986]), that does not excuse the

favoritism detnonstrated by her letter, which undermines public confidence in the

impartial administration ofjustice and in the integrity of the judiciary as a whole.

By reason of the foregoing, the COilltuission determines that the appropriate

disposition is admonition.

Judge Ruderman, Judge Acosta, Mr. Cohen, Ms. Corngold, Mr. Emery, Mr.

Harding, Mr. Stoloff and Judge Weinstein concur.

Judge Klonick did not participate.

Mr. Belluck was not present.

CERTIFICATION

It is certified that the foregoing is the determination of the State

Commission on Judicial Conduct.

Dated: June 19, 2013

Jean M. Savanyu, Esq.
Clerk of the Commission
New York State
Cotnmission on Judicial Conduct
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STATE OF NEW YORK 
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT 

In the Matter of the Proceeding 
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4, 
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to 

DANIEL P. SULLIVAN, 

a Justice of the Whitestown Town Court, 
Oneida County. 

THE COMMISSION: 

Joseph W. Belluck, Esq., Chair 
Paul B. Harding, Esq., Vice Chair 
Honorable Rolando T. Acosta 
Joel Cohen, Esq. 
Jodie Corngold 
Richard D. Emery, Esq. 
Honorable Thomas A. Klonick 
Honorable Leslie G. Leach 
Richard A. Stoloff, Esq. 
Honorable David A. Weinstein 
Akosua Garcia Yeboah 

APPEARANCES: 

DETERMINATION 

Robert H. Tembeckjian (Thea Hoeth and Cathleen S. Cenci, Of Counsel) 
for the Commission 

Robert F. Julian for the Respondent 

The respondent, Daniel P. Sullivan, a Justice of the Whitestown Town 

Court, Oneida County, was served with a Formal Written Complaint dated February 11, 

2016, containing one charge. The Formal Written Complaint alleged that respondent lent 



the prestige of judicial office to advance private interests by signing his name and judicial 

title to a defendant's letter to a judge asking to change his plea. Respondent filed a 

verified Answer dated March 7, 2016. 

By Order dated May 4, 2016, the Commission designated David M. Garber, 

Esq., as referee to hear and report proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. A 

hearing was held on June 18, 2016, in Albany. The referee filed a report dated November 

8, 2016. 

The parties submitted briefs with respect to the referee's report. Counsel to 

the Commission recommended the sanction of removal; respondent's counsel argued that 

if misconduct was found, removal was too harsh. On January 26, 2017, the Commission 

heard oral argument and thereafter considered the record of the proceeding and made the 

following findings of fact. 

1. Respondent has been a Justice of the Whitestown Town Court, 

Oneida County, since 2012. His current term expires in 2019. He is not an attorney or a 

notary public. 

2. On December 24, 2014, Oxford Village Police Officer Ronald 

Martin issued a ticket to Elan M. Scott, then age 19, charging him with Failure to Obey a 

Traffic Control Device in violation of Section 1110( a) of the Vehicle and Traffic Law. 

The electronic ticket also contains the notations "South Canal 52-30" and "Radar," which 

appear to reflect a radar-measured speed of 52 miles per hour ("mph") in a 30-mph 

posted speed zone. The ticket was returnable on January 12, 2015 in the Oxford Village 
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Court, Chenango County. 

3. On January 12, 2015, Mr. Scott appeared in the Oxford Village 

Court before Village Justice John V. Weidman and pled not guilty to the charge. Judge 

Weidman told Mr. Scott that the issuing officer had "cut you a break" on the ticket by 

charging only a two-point violation rather than Speeding1, that Judge Weidman could not 

reduce a charge without the consent of the District Attorney's office and that he intended 

to return Mr. Scott's traffic ticket to the Oxford Police Department to provide the police 

with an opportunity to "rewrite it back" to a Speeding charge. Judge Weidman also told 

Mr. Scott that if he was charged with Speeding he could contact the District Attorney's 

office and attempt to negotiate a plea and that the disposition would ultimately be up to 

the judge. 

4. On the same date, the Oxford Police Department issued and mailed 

a new ticket to Mr. Scott, charging him with Speeding for driving 52 miles per hour in a 

30-mph posted zone. The return date on the ticket is January 12, 2015. 

5. Mr. Scott told his mother, Sherri LaSalle, what had occurred at his 

court appearance. On January 13 or 14, 2015, Ms. LaSalle encountered respondent by 

chance near the elevators in the Oneida County Office Building where both she and 

respondent worked (Ms. LaSalle in the Department of Personnel and respondent in the 

Office of Pistol Permit Licensing). Ms. LaSalle had known respondent for six to seven 

1 Under the point system used by the Department of Motor Vehicles, the Failure to Obey infraction 
is assigned two points; a charge of driving 22 mph over the posted limit is assigned six points. If a 
driver receives eleven points in an 18-month period, his/her driver's license may be suspended. 
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years as someone who worked in the same building, and she knew that he was a town or 

village justice. In a brief conversation, Ms. LaSalle told respondent that a judge had 

changed her son's traffic ticket to charge him with a different traffic violation, and she 

asked ifhe had "ever heard of such a thing"; respondent said he had. Ms. LaSalle also 

told respondent that "people" had advised her to write a letter to the judge requesting that 

he allow her son to withdraw his not guilty plea and plead guilty to the original charge; 

respondent said that she "could do that but it doesn't mean that it would change anything. 

It's up to the judge." Respondent told Ms. LaSalle that in his court he would require a 

notarized statement from a defendant requesting permission to change a plea. 

6. Ms. LaSalle drafted a letter for her son to the Oxford Village Court. 

The letter, dated January 14, 2015, began with the salutation "Dear Honorable Judge" and 

asked "if I could plead guilty to my first charge of disobeying a traffic control device." 

Mr. Scott signed the letter, and on January 15, Ms. LaSalle faxed a copy to the Oxford 

Village Court. Ms. LaSalle testified that after she faxed the letter, "people" told her that 

the letter should have been notarized. 

7. On January 16, 2015, Ms. LaSalle, accompanied by her son, visited 

respondent's office to ask him to notarize Mr. Scott's January 14 letter. Ms. LaSalle had 

previously gone to another office in the building where she knew there was a notary; 

when that individual was not available, a woman in that office said that she thought 

respondent was a notary. 

8. When Ms. LaSalle came to respondent's office, he was on the 

telephone, and she "mouthed" her request that he notarize something. When he finished 
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the call, she introduced her son to respondent and asked respondent if he would notarize 

the January 14 letter, which Mr. Scott had already signed. She directed her son to show 

respondent his driver's license to prove that he was the person who had signed the letter. 

9. Respondent looked briefly at Mr. Scott's letter and did not ask him 

any questions about the purpose of the letter or its contents. 

10. At the time, respondent sincerely but erroneously believed that his 

position as a town justice vested him with broad notarial powers and that he thus had 

authority to notarize Mr. Scott's letter. Based upon that belief, respondent signed his 

name and judicial title on the letter, directly below Mr. Scott's signature, as: 

"1/16/15 Justice Sullivan 
Town of Whitestown 
Whitestown N.Y." 

11. Respondent did not administer an oath to Mr. Scott or include a jurat 

on the letter stating that he had administered an oath and that Mr. Scott had signed the 

letter in respondent's presence. It appears that in signing his name and affixing his 

judicial title below Mr. Scott's signature, respondent understood that he was verifying the 

identity of the signer and confirming that Mr. Scott had signed the document. 

12. Later that day, Ms. LaSalle faxed a copy of Mr. Scott's January 14 

letter, which now contained respondent's signature and judicial title, to the Oxford 

Village Court and mailed the original letter to the court. 

13. Two days later, on January 18, 2015, the Oxford Village Court sent a 

document to Mr. Scott indicating that the first traffic ticket had been withdrawn, that his 

guilty plea to the charge of Failure to Obey a Traffic Control Device on the second ticket 
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was accepted, and that the sentence was a fine and surcharge totaling $270. 

14. In believing that he had notarial powers for the purpose of notarizing 

Mr. Scott's letter, respondent, in good faith, relied upon the advice of Trenton Town 

Justice J. Patrick VanBuskirk. Judge VanBuskirk, who has served as a town justice since 

1990 and had worked with respondent in the Office of Pistol Permit Licensing for 

approximately 13 years until his retirement, had advised respondent in 2012, shortly after 

respondent became a judge, that his position as Town Justice vested him with notarial 

powers. Judge VanBuskirk, who is not an attorney, based his advice upon his 

understanding of information contained in a 1994 training manual for town and village 

justices which was prepared by the Office of Court Administration. In a section entitled 

"'The Justice As a Notary," the manual states inter alia that a town or village justice "has 

limited notary pmvers but is not a notary" and that such a judge "may take depositions, 

administer oaths and take acknowledgments within the limits of the county where he or 

she sits when acting as a 'notary public'"; it further states that "[w]hen a justice is acting 

as a 'notary public' the Acknowledgment or .Turat should be signed with an official title, 

i.e., 'Town Justice' or 'Village Justice,"' and that "[i]t is also a good practice to include 

the name of the municipality, the county and the state after the title." The language in 

this section, the referee found, is "poorly drafted" and "confusing." 

15. Pursuant to Judge VanBuskirk's erroneous interpretation of this 

section and the advice he provided to respondent, Judge VanBuskirk and respondent had 

routinely notarized various documents related to their duties in the Office of Pistol Permit 

Licensing as well as other documents for members of the general public who asked them 
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to do so. 

16. As stipulated at the hearing, respondent's position as a Town Justice 

did not vest him with notarial powers for the purpose of notarizing Mr. Scott's letter to 

the Oxford Village Court. 

17. Respondent acknowledged at the hearing that, in hindsight, he 

should not have signed his name and affixed his judicial title to Mr. Scott's letter whether 

or not he was acting in a notarial capacity because, as he stated, "Justice courts 101 is that 

you do not sign a document that goes to another court." He testified that he did not 

connect the requested notarization with his earlier conversation with Mr. Scott's mother, 

that he did not realize that Mr. Scott's letter was directed to another court since he did not 

read it, and that it was his practice not to read the documents he notarized because he had 

been advised that it was improper to do so. 

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a matter 

oflaw that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2(A) and 100.2(C) of the Rules 

Governing Judicial Conduct ("Rules") and should be disciplined for cause, pursuant to 

Article 6, Section 22, subdivision a, of the New York State Constitution and Section 44, 

subdivision 1, of the Judiciary Law. Charge I of the Formal Written Complaint is 

sustained insofar as it is consistent with the above findings and conclusions, and 

respondent's misconduct is established. 

By signing his name and judicial title beneath a defendant's signature on a 

letter to the Oxford Village Court, respondent added his judicial clout and imprimatur to 
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the defendant's request to change his plea, from not guilty to guilty, to the two-point 

traffic infraction originally filed against him. (The original charge, the record indicates, 

had been superseded by the issuance of a second ticket charging him with a six-point 

infraction.) Such conduct is prohibited by well-established ethical standards prohibiting a 

judge from lending the prestige of judicial office to advance private interests and 

requiring a judge to avoid even the appearance of impropriety (Rules, §§100.2[C], 

100.2[A]). See Matter of Lustyik, 2015 NYSCJC Annual Report 128 (judge identified 

himself as "Hon." when witnessing a statement that was intended to be used in a Family 

Court custody proceeding); see also Matter of Lonschein, 50 NY2d 569 (1980) (judge 

asked a city official to expedite a friend's license application); Matter of Smith, 2014 

NYSCJC Annual Report 208 (judge sent an unsolicited letter on judicial stationery to the 

State Division of Parole on behalf of an inmate seeking parole, whose mother was a 

friend of the judge's relative); Matter of Bowers, 2005 NYSCJC Annual Report 125 

(judge sent a letter on judicial stationery to another town justice requesting special 

consideration for an acquaintance charged with Speeding who "needs to avoid any 

points"). 

As we have previously stated, "it is not a judge's responsibility to witness 

every document presented to him or her" (Matter of Lustyik, supra), whether by a friend, 

a litigant or anyone else. Placing respondent's name and judicial title on the letter 

presented to him for notarization necessarily implicated his judicial status, and before 

agreeing to do so, he should have made sufficient inquiry to ensure that his participation 

was consistent with the ethical rules, including his obligation to avoid even the 
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appearance of impropriety (Rules, § 100.2). Instead, respondent signed his name and 

judicial title below Mr. Scott's signature without making any inquiry at all except to 

verify the signer's identity. He did not inquire into the nature, contents or purpose of the 

document or why his "notarization" was requested on what appeared to be a letter that, on 

its face, did not require it. Nor, according to his testimony, and despite acknowledging 

that "Justice courts 101 is that you do not sign a document that goes to another court," did 

respondent even glance at the letter sufficiently to notice that the intended recipient was a 

judge. Respondent's name and judicial title on a defendant's letter to another court 

conveyed the appearance that his judicial status was being used in support of the 

defendant's interests, which was inconsistent with Rule 100.2(C). At the very least, by 

failing to make any inquiry into the circumstances, respondent showed insensitivity to his 

ethical obligations. 

We concur with the referee's conclusion that when respondent signed and 

affixed his judicial title below Mr. Scott's signature, he "sincerely, but erroneously" 

believed that he was exercising notarial powers that were inherent in his position as Town 

Justice, relying in good faith upon the erroneous advice of a long-time Town Justice and 

colleague that his judicial office vested him with such powers2 (Report, pp 9-10 ). It is 

undisputed in the record before us that based on this mistaken belief, both judges had 

routinely notarized documents both in connection with their employment at a county 

agency and for members of the public upon request. However, although town and village 

2 We also note that this erroneous advice derived from a section in a training manual that the 
referee described as "poorly drafted" and "confusing" (Report p IO Jn). 
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justices have limited powers to administer an oath, make an acknowledgment and take a 

deposition (see Real Property Law §298; CPLR 2309[a], 3113[a][l]), such judges are not 

notaries simply by virtue of holding judicial office. See Matter of Rumenapp, 2017 

NYSCJC Annual Report 192 (in the apparent, mistaken belief that her status as a town 

justice qualified her to act as a notary, judge authenticated signatures on a designating 

petition by signing her name and judicial title on a form requiring attestation by a notary 

public or commissioner of deeds). 

Although witnessing Mr. Scott's signature on a letter to another court 

would have been improper regardless of whether respondent was acting as a notary, it 

seems clear that he agreed to do so only because he believed that as a judge he was 

empowered to act as a notary and was thus providing a notarial service in confirming the 

authenticity of the signature. Viewed in this light, it is also apparent that when 

respondent included his judicial title, he was not intentionally asserting his judicial status 

to advance the defendant's interests, but was specifying his judicial position, as he 

believed he was required to do, as the basis for his notarial authority (see Matter of 

Rumenapp, supra). Based on the totality of the evidence before us, we are thus 

persuaded that even if respondent witnessed the signature as a favor to an acquaintance, 

the favor was to provide a service, not to use his influence to further private interests. 

While this does not excuse his misconduct, it distinguishes this case from the most 

egregious violations of Rule 100.2(C) we have considered. 

Respondent's belief that he was exercising notarial powers also explains, 

but does not excuse, his assertion that he did not review the contents of the letter before 
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witnessing the signature. While it seems almost inconceivable that he would not at least 

skim the letter before witnessing it, and while it is troubling that, by his own testimony, 

he barely gave the letter a cursory glance, respondent credibly testified that he had been 

advised that it was improper to read a document before notarizing it and thus it was not 

his practice to do so. See Matter of Lustyik, supra (in admonishing a judge who 

identified himself as "Hon." in witnessing an unswom statement whose disturbing 

contents "should have raised red flags" - a statement that was as brief as the letter in the 

instant case - the Commission stated that "it seems inconceivable that respondent would 

not have at least glanced at the contents and understood the gist of it"). 

Significantly, when this incident occurred, respondent knew that he was 

under investigation by the Commission for misusing the prestige of his judicial office in 

requesting leniency in two conversations with law enforcement officers with respect to 

impending criminal charges against his son, an alleged ethical infraction that also 

involved Rule 100.2(C). While the nature of the conduct in the earlier matter is 

significantly different from the conduct here, the pending investigation in that case, 

which resulted in respondent's censure later that year (Matter of Sullivan, 2016 NYSCJC 

Annual Report 209), should have made him especially sensitive to his ethical obligations. 

Unfortunately, it appears that respondent's mistaken belief in his notarial authority 

blinded him to the ethical implications of affixing his judicial title to a document 

unrelated to his official duties. 

Unlike the dissent, we concur with the conclusion of the referee that while 

respondent's testimony at the hearing regarding these events was "at times, muddled, 
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inconsistent and even wrong,'' there is insufficient proof that he was "intentionally 

deceptive" (Report p 14 Jn). (Respondent testified that his memory of the actual "pen to 

paper moment," and of his earlier conversation with Mr. Scott's mother, was limited 

since the incidents were brief and had no particular significance to him at the time.) The 

referee, after carefully weighing the witnesses' credibility and evaluating the evidence, 

provided a thorough, thoughtful analysis of the evidence and specifically declined to find 

that respondent's testimony lacked candor (Id.) 3
, and we accord due deference to his 

findings and conclusions. See, e.g., Matter of Going, 97 NY2d 121, 124 (2001). 

As noted above, respondent was previously censured, pursuant to a joint 

recommendation, for seeking leniency for his son from law enforcement officers (Matter 

of Sullivan, supra). Even in view of this prior discipline, we believe that the sanction of 

removal is unwarranted, for the reasons we have noted above. We also note that at the 

hearing, respondent, as the referee found, acknowledged "with commendable candor" 

that his conduct was improper (Report p 10). We trust that in the future respondent will 

comport himself in strict accordance with the high ethical standards required of every 

judge. 

By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the appropriate 

disposition is censure. 

3 We strongly disagree with Commission counsel's argument that the referee's statements that he 
did "not credit" respondent's testimony in several respects require the conclusion that the 
testimony lacked candor. We also reject counsel's suggestion that because the referee's refusal to 
find lack of candor was "relegated to a footnote," it should be given little weight. 
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Mr. Belluck, Mr. Harding, Judge Acosta, Mr. Cohen, Ms. Corngold, Judge 

Leach, Mr. Stoloff, Judge Weinstein and Ms. Yeboah concur. 

Mr. Emery and Judge Klonick dissent as to the sanction and vote that 

respondent should be removed from office. Mr. Emery files an opinion, which Judge 

Klonickjoins. 

CERTIFICATION 

It is certified that the foregoing is the determination of the State 

Commission on Judicial Conduct. 

Dated: March 13, 2017 
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Jean M. Savanyu, Esq. 
Clerk of the Commission 
New York State 
Commission on Judicial Conduct 



STATE OF NEW YORK 
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT 

In the Matter of the Proceeding 
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4, 
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to 

DANIEL P. SULLIVAN, 

a Justice of the Whitestown Town Court, 
Oneida County. 

DISSENTING OPINION 
BY MR. EMERY, WHICH 
JUDGE KLONICK JOINS 

Twenty months ago, the Commission censured respondent for seeking 

leniency for his son in two conversations with law enforcement officials. The discipline 

imposed in that case - censure - was based upon an Agreed Statement of Facts that 

contained a joint recommendation by staff and respondent as to the sanction. Now the 

Commission decides to again censure respondent despite the staffs strenuous assertion 

that removal is appropriate. The result in this case is unprecedented and unsupportable. 

In respondent's first case, I dissented because I believed that in asking the 

police "for a very personal and very significant favor," respondent placed his personal 

family interests ahead of his ethical responsibility, conduct that required the sanction of 

removal. My opinion in that case states in part: 

As I have previously stated, when a judge attempts to use the system 
for personal gain by wielding special influence to advance private 
interests in pending cases, "I consider this category of judicial 
misconduct to be the most serious of any that comes before the 
Commission." Such behavior "strikes at the heart of our justice 
system," invidiously perverting the fair and proper administration of 



justice and eroding public confidence in the judiciary as a whole 
[citations omitted] ... Because this misconduct, in my view, is so 
inconsistent with the highest standards of honor and integrity 
required of every judge, it requires the most severe sanction 
available .... (Matter of Sullivan, 2016 NYSCJC Annual Report 209) 

Respondent dodged a bullet on the first censure. Now that he has come before us again, 

having engaged in misconduct that violates the same ethical proscriptions, again he gets a 

strained rationale for a too-lenient result. Removal is plainly required this time. 

Bolstered not only by his prior discipline for similar misconduct but also by 

the fact that respondent engaged in this new misconduct at a time when he knew that the 

Commission was investigating his earlier actions, it is difficult to see how the majority 

avoids this obvious result. Combined with his prior conduct, his obliviousness to ethical 

norms and his questionable credibility in this case, it is clear that the bench is foreign 

territory and should be permanently off limits. 

It is undisputed that when respondent affixed his name and judicial title to 

Mr. Scott's letter to another court seeking to change his plea, he knew that the 

Commission was examining his use of his office on behalf of his son. He had already 

been questioned under oath about his actions in that matter. While he had not yet been 

served with formal charges, the nature and thrust of the pending inquiry were obvious. 

Nevertheless, when asked to "notarize" the letter of an acquaintance's son that was 

addressed to another court, respondent clearly failed to recognize the ethical implications 

and carefully wrote his name and judicial title on the document. 

In my view, respondent's explanation that he did not review the letter 

because he understood that it was wrong to read a document before notarizing it is a 
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convenient obfuscation. Since respondent knew, as he testified at the hearing, that 

"Justice courts 10 I is that you do not sign a document that goes to another court," it is 

inexplicable that he would not examine Mr. Scott's letter before signing it in order to 

ensure, at the very least, that putting his name and title on the document would not run 

afoul of that particular ethical proscription. 

Respondent's story just does not hold water. Notary or not, no judge is 

obliged to put his or her name and judicial title on every document proffered to the judge 

out of court, and it is frankly absurd to suggest, as respondent does, that in any 

circumstances it might be reasonable to do so without, at least, a minimal review, at least 

to protect from obvious influence peddling. Put simply, respondent should not have 

placed his name and judicial title on a party's letter addressed to another court, and 

cannot avoid responsibility for that act by claiming he didn't read it. See Matter of Sims, 

61NY2d349, 355 (1984) (where a judge signed an arrest warrant in a case in which her 

son was the complaining witness, her explanation that she did not notice her son's name 

and address [which was also the judge's address] on the attached information and that she 

relied on her clerk to check the propriety of documents submitted for her signature was 

"wholly inadequate to excuse her conduct"). 

Of course, even with respondent's explanation that he thought it would be 

improper to read the document he was notarizing, it is inconceivable that in the half 

minute or so that it might have taken him to carefully write out his name, title and town, 

he would not have noticed the addressee on the very short, neatly typed letter: "Dear 

Honorable Judge." Significantly, the referee stated that he did "not credit Respondent's 

3 



testimony that he did not read Mr. Scott's letter before he signed his name and affixed his 

judicial title to it and that he therefore did not know that it was addressed to a judge of 

another court" (Report p 13). The referee also observed that "it seems inconceivable that 

Respondent did not at least skim Mr. Scott's letter - which comprised only five lines of 

text-to determine its addressee ... , contents and purpose" (Report pp 13-14). Apparently, 

the majority agrees with that analysis (see Determination p 11) - and I certainly do. 

Nevertheless, in what seems to me to be a muddled contradiction, the 

majority also apparently accepts respondent's "credible" explanation as to why he did not 

read the document and therefore did not know that it was addressed to a judge, illogically 

relying on the referee's separate conclusion that "the record does not contain sufficient 

evidence that Respondent was intentionally deceptive" with respect to other issues in the 

case (Determination p 12; Report p 14 /n). 1 

To be clear, the referee's reluctance to make a categorical finding of lack of 

candor based on the staffs request does not diminish the referee's very pointed 

skepticism about respondent's assertion that he did not know that the letter was directed 

to a judge. The majority's conclusion that respondent's conduct was simply a mistake, 

rather than a knowing act to help a colleague's son, flies in the face of the evidence, the 

referee's specific finding and common sense. 

Viewed alongside his conduct in the earlier matter, it is clear that 

1 If the majority accepts respondent's benign explanation for his failure to read the addressee on 
the letter, then his misconduct here is limited to his misunderstanding of his lack of authority to 
notarize. In that case a censure is too severe. 
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respondent, who is now being censured for the second time in his five years as a judge, at 

the very least too easily loses sight of his ethical responsibilities when personal 

circumstances intrude. Either that, or he simply does not understand the conflict between 

his values and instincts as a "good" parent and friend, and his duties as a judge. It is also 

clear to me that he never will understand this axiomatic dichotomy. Thus, in my view, 

the Commission fails in this case in our duty to protect the public from judges who have 

demonstrated "an unacceptable degree of insensitivity to the demands of judicial ethics" 

(Matter of Conti, 70 NY2d 416, 419 [ 1987]). 

As a judge, required to "conduct his everyday affairs in a manner beyond 

reproach" and to observe "standards of conduct on a plane much higher than for those of 

society as a whole" (Matter of Kuehnel, 49 NY2d 465, 469 [ 1980]), respondent's 

insensitivity to his ethical obligations even at a time when he was presumably on high 

alert to avoid even the slightest transgression shows that he lacks a fundamental 

understanding of a judge's ethical responsibilities. 

Accordingly, I dissent from the sanction imposed by the majority. 

Respondent should be removed. 

Dated: March 13, 2017 

Richard D. Emery, Esq., Member 
New York State 
Commission on Judicial Conduct 
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to

DETERMINATION
LAFAYETTE D. YOUNG, JR.,

a Justice of the Macomb Town Court,
St. Lawrence County.

THE COMMISSION:

Honorable Thomas A. Klonick, Chair
Honorable Terry Jane Ruderman, Vice Chair
Honorable Rolando T. Acosta
Joseph W. Belluck, Esq.
Joel Cohen, Esq.
Richard D. Emery, Esq.
Paul B. Harding, Esq.
Nina M. Moore
Honorable Karen K. Peters
Richard A. Stoloff, Esq.

APPEARANCES:

Robert H. Tembeckjian (Thea Hoeth, Of Counsel) for the Commission

Case & Leader LLP (by Henry J. Leader) for the Respondent

The respondent, Lafayette D. Young, Jr., a Justice of the Macomb Town

Court, St. Lawrence County, was served with a Formal Written Complaint dated February

25,2010, containing seven charges. The Formal Written Complaint alleged that



respondent: (i) with respect to numerous cases involving his girlfriend's relatives, failed

to disqualifY himself: failed to disclose the relationship and engaged in ex parte

communications (Charges I through VI), and (ii) engaged in improper political activity by

serving as chair of local party caucus (Charge VII). Respondent filed a verified amended

answer dated May 12, 2010.

By Order dated April 21, 2010, the Commission designated David M.

Garber, Esq., as referee to hear and report proposed findings of fact and conclusions of

law. A hearing was held on November 16 and 17,2010, in Canton. l The referee filed a

report dated April 21, 2011.

Commission counsel filed a brief recommending the sanction of removal.

No papers with respect to the issue of sanction were filed by respondent. Oral argument

was waived. On June 16,2011, the Commission considered the record of the proceeding

and made the following findings of fact.

1. Respondent is a Justice of the Macomb Town Court, St. Lawrence

County, and has served in that capacity since January 2004, except for a brief period in

2010 in which he had resigned (see fn. 1). He was re-elected to that position in

1 The hearing, originally scheduled to commence on July 13, 2010, was cancelled after the parties
executed a Stipulation by which respondent resigned as Town Justice effective July 31, 20 I0,
and represented that he would neither seek nor accept judicial office in the future. On July 26,
2010, respondent rescinded his resignation and thereafter was appointed to the position of
Macomb Town Justice. Upon learning of these events, Commission counsel asked that the
Stipulation, which the Commission had not yet considered, be withdrawn and that a hearing date
be set. The Stipulation was tabled; the Commission granted the request of respondent' s former
attorney to withdraw; and a new hearing date was set (Tr. 11-12).

2



November 2010. Respondent is not an attorney.

2. From 2005 through approximately October 2010, Robyne Petrie-

Platt was respondent's girlfriend, and they resided together. Many members of Ms.

Petrie-Platt's family live in the Town of Macomb, and respondent grew up with members

of her family, socialized with her relatives and attended some family gatherings.

Respondent officiated at the wedding of a Petrie family member and also officiated when

Ms. Petrie-Platt's parents renewed their marriage vows. Respondent's sister was formerly

married to Ms. Petrie-Platt's brother.

As to Charge I of the Formal Written Complaint:

3. On or about July 8, 2007, Andrew Bowden was charged with

Unlawfully Dealing with a Child in the Second Degree. The underlying complaint

alleged that Mr. Bowden had provided alcohol to Kimberly Worden, who was under the

age of 21. Mr. Bowden was issued an appearance ticket directing him to appear in the

Macomb Town Court for arraignment on August 9,2007.

4. Kimberly Worden, the complaining witness in the Bowden case, is

the daughter of Robyne Petrie-Platt. In or about June 2007, Ms. Worden frequently

visited the home that respondent shared with Ms. Petrie-Platt.

5. On or about July 13,2007, after an ex parte request by Ms. Petrie-

Platt, respondent issued an Order of Protection requiring Mr. Bowden to stay away from

Ms. Worden.

6. Respondent failed to disclose in a timely fashion his relationship
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with the complaining witness's mother and failed to promptly disqualify himself in the

matter. Gary R. Alford, Mr. Bowden's attorney, learned from his client that Ms. Worden

is Robyne Petrie-PIatt's daughter and of respondent's relationship with Ms. Worden.

7. By letter dated July 13,2007, Mr. Alford requested respondent's

recusal due to respondent's relationship with Ms. Petrie-Platt and Ms. Worden.

8. In a telephone conversation with Mr. Alford, respondent initially

refused to disqualify himself. Mr. Alford then told respondent that if respondent did not

recuse himself, Mr. Alford would make a motion for recusal and would file a complaint

with the Commission. Shortly thereafter, on or about August 7,2007, respondent signed

a certificate of disqualification in People v. Bowden.

As to Charge II of the Formal Written Complaint:

9. On or about June 21,2005, Merton Petrie was arraigned in the

Rossie Town Court on charges of Criminal Mischief in the Third Degree and Making a

False Written Statement. The matter was transferred to the Macomb Town Court.

10. Merton Petrie is the nephew of Robyne Petrie-Platt and the son of

respondent's former brother-in-law, William Petrie, who had been married to

respondent's sister.

11. On or about October 20, 2005, upon the district attorney's

recommendation, respondent acceptedMr. Petrie's guilty plea to Criminal Mischief in the

Fourth Degree in full satisfaction of both charges and imposed a one-year conditional

discharge, requiring Mr. Petrie to perform 60 hours of community service and to pay
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restitution and a surcharge.

12. Respondent neither disqualified himself nor disclosed that Mr.

Petrie is Ms. Petrie-Platt's nephew and the son of his former brother-in-law.

13. In 2006, after Mr. Petrie violated the terms of his conditional

discharge by failing to complete the community service, respondent executed a

Declaration of Delinquency to bring Mr. Petrie to court for resentencing.

14. On or about May 18, 2006, Heather Dona, Assistant St. Lawrence

County Conflict Defender, appeared before respondent as Mr. Petrie's attorney for

resentencing.

15. In the summer of 2006, respondent attended a Petrie family picnic.

At the time, Mr. Petrie was due to be resentenced by respondent. During the weekend of

the picnic, respondent discussed Mr. Petrie's violation of his conditional discharge with

various members of the Petrie family, who urged respondent to send Mr. Petrie to jail and

told respondent that he had been "not harsh enough" on Mr. Petrie when he initially

sentenced him.

16. Sometime during that weekend, respondent told Mr. Petrie that

respondent intended to resentence him to jail for violating the terms of his conditional

discharge.

17. In or around July or August 2006, Sandra Petrie and Sherry Parker

(respectively, Robyne Petrie-Platt's mother and sister) contacted respondent, ex parte, and

asked him to send Mr. Petrie to jail.
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18. During her representation of Merton Petrie, Heather Dona learned

that Robyne Petrie-Platt is Merton Petrie's aunt, that Ms. Petrie-Platt lived with

respondent and that respondent had engaged in ex parte conversations with Mr. Petrie and

members of the Petrie family about Mr. Petrie's violation of his conditional discharge.

Accordingly, on August 31, 2006, Ms. Dona wrote to respondent requesting that he

recuse himself in the case. Respondent did not recuse himself.

19. On or about September 21,2006, respondent resentenced Mr. Petrie

to 45 days in jail and three years' probation for violating the terms of his conditional

discharge. The St. Lawrence County Department of Probation had recommended three

years' probation and no jail time.

20. Respondent failed to disclose that Merton Petrie is the nephew of

Robyne Petrie-Platt and the son of his former brother-in-law and failed to disclose his

relationship with Ms. Petrie-Platt and his ex parte conversations with Mr. Petrie and

members ofMr. Petrie's family.

21. On or about April 12, 2007, respondent accepted Merton Petrie's

guilty plea to charges of Unlawful Operation of an ATV on Highway and Uninsured

Operation of an ATV, and sentenced Mr.Petrie to fines and surcharges totaling $210.

22. Respondent neither disqualified himself nor disclosed his

relationship with Mr. Petrie's aunt or that Mr. Petrie is the son of respondent's former

brother-in-law.

23. On or about July 17,2008, respondent arraigned Merton Petrie on
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charges of Harassment in the Second Degree and Attempted Grand Larceny in the Fourth

Degree, and issued an Order of Protection against Mr. Petrie in favor of the alleged

victim. Respondent released Mr. Petrie on his own recognizance.

24. Respondent neither disqualified himself nor disclosed his

relationship with Mr. Petrie's aunt or that Mr. Petrie is the son of respondent's former

brother-in-law.

25. The Petrie case was transferred from the Macomb Town Court to St.

Lawrence County's Integrated Domestic Violence Court.

As to Charge III of the Formal Written Complaint:

26. In July 2007 Ruth Parker was charged in Macomb Town Court with

Petit Larceny for allegedly using the telephone of Sandra Petrie to make long distance

phone calls without Ms. Petrie's permission and consent. On or about July 12,2007,

respondent arraigned Ms. Parker on the charge.

27. Sandra Petrie, the complainant in People v. Ruth Parker, is the

mother of Robyne Petrie-Platt. Ms. Petrie is the aunt by marriage of Ruth Parker; i.e.,

Ms. Parker was married to Ms. Petrie's nephew.

28. On or about March 6,2008, respondent issued a temporary order of

protection in favor of Sandra Petrie against Ruth Parker. Respondent issued the order ex

parte at the request of the district attorney, who was not aware of the family relationships

among Ruth Parker, Robyne Petrie-Platt and Sandra Petrie and was not aware of

respondent's relationship with Robyne Petrie-Platt.
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29. On or about March 13,2008, respondent issued a modified

temporary order of protection in favor of Sandra Petrie and against Ms. Parker.

30. While the Ruth Parker case was pending before him, respondent

discussed the case ex parte with Ms. Petrie-Platt and with Sherry Parker.

31. Respondent failed to disqualify himself in People v. Ruth Parker and

failed to disclose that Sandra Petrie is the mother of Robyne Petrie-Platt; nor did

respondent disclose the family relationships among Ruth Parker, Robyne Petrie-Platt and

Sandra Petrie or his ex parte conversations with Ms. Petrie-Platt and Sherry Parker.

As to Charge IV of the Formal Written Complaint:

32. On or about January 26, 2008, James R. Petrie, Jr., was charged with

Criminal Mischief in the Third Degree (a Class E felony), Criminal Mischief in the

Fourth Degree, and Aggravated Unlicensed Operation of a Motor Vehicle in the Third

Degree. The defendant was issued an appearance ticket returnable in the Macomb Town

Court on February 12, 2008.

33. James R. Petrie, Jr., is the nephew of Robyne Petrie-Platt.

34. On or about March 13,2008, upon oral motion by Mr. Petrie's

attorney, respondent dismissed the charge of Criminal Mischief in the Third Degree for

facial insufficiency without notice to or the consent of the prosecution and without

affording to the prosecution an opportunity to amend the accusatory instrument.

35. Respondent neither disqualified himself nor disclosed his

relationship to Mr. Petrie's aunt, Robyne Petrie-Platt.
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As to Charge V of the Formal Written Complaint:

36. On or about May 4,2007, Scott M. Parker was charged with Failure

to Wear a Helmet on an ATV, a violation of Section 2406(2) of the Vehicle and Traffic

Law.

37. Scott M. Parker is the son of Sherry Parker and the nephew of

Robyne Petrie-Platt.

38. On or about June 14,2007, Mr. Parker appeared before respondent.

Neither the arresting officer nor a representative of the district attorney's office was

present. Two individuals, who were unsworn, told respondent that Mr. Parker was not

operating the ATV at the time he was cited for the aforementioned violation.

39. Respondent then dismissed the charge against Mr. Petrie without

notice to or the consent of the prosecution, in violation of Sections 170.40, 170.45 and

210.45 of the Criminal Procedure Law.

40. Respondent neither disqualified himself nor disclosed his

relationship with Mr. Petrie's aunt, Robyne Petrie-Platt.

As to Charge VI of the Formal Written Complaint:

41. On or about March 6, 2006, Justin R. Petrie was charged with

Unsafe Backing in violation of Section 1211(a) of the Vehicle and Traffic Law.

42. Justin Petrie is the nephew of Robyne Petrie-Platt.

43. Mr. Petrie entered into a negotiated plea recommendation with the
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district attorney's office in which he agreed to plead guilty to a violation of Section 1101

of the Vehicle and Traffic Law.

44. On June 8, 2006, Mr. Petrie appeared before respondent. Despite the

negotiated plea recommendation, respondent dismissed the charge.

45. Respondent neither disqualified himself nor disclosed his

relationship with Mr. Petrie's aunt, Robyne Petrie-Platt.

As to Charge VII of the Formal Written Complaint:

46. The charge is not sustained and therefore is dismissed.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, the Commission concludes as a matter

of law that respondent violated Sections 100.1, 100.2(A), 100.2(B), 100.2(C),

100.3(B)(l), 100.3(B)(6) and 100.3(E)(l) of the Rules Governing Judicial Conduct

("Rules") and should be disciplined for cause, pursuant to Article 6, Section 22,

subdivision a, of the New York State Constitution and Section 44, subdivision 1, of the

Judiciary Law. Charges I through VI of the Formal Written Complaint are sustained

insofar as they are consistent with the above findings and conclusions, and respondent's

misconduct is established. Charge VII is not sustained and therefore is dismissed.2

2 On the specific facts elicited at the hearing, we find no misconduct as to Charge VII. However,
the Commission does not endorse that a judge accept the position of chairing a political caucus as
it can too easily involve the judge in prohibited political activity.
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It is a fundamental precept ofjudicial ethics that a judge may not preside

over a case in which the judge's impartiality "might reasonably be questioned" (Rules,

§lOO.3[E][I]). Moreover, judges must assiduously avoid even the appearance of

impropriety (Rules, §IOO.2). In view of respondent's close relationship with Robyne

Petrie-Platt, his girlfriend with whom he resided, his impartiality would reasonably be

questioned by members of the public and by the parties themselves - in cases in which

her relatives were the defendants and/or the complaining witnesses. Nevertheless, over a

five-year period, respondent not only presided over eight such matters without disclosing

the conflict, but also engaged in ex parte communications with his girlfriend and her

relatives concerning four of these matters and, in some instances, imposed dispositions

that, at the very least, conveyed an appearance of favoritism. Such conduct, in its totality,

demonstrates a blatant disregard for the ethical obligations incumbent upon every judge.

Like the referee, we reject respondent's affirmative defense that he was not

prohibited from presiding over cases involving Ms. Petrie-Platt's relatives because they

are not his own family members. In addition to the prohibition against presiding over

matters involving persons within the sixth degree of relationship to the judge or the

judge's spouse (see Rules, §IOO.3[E][I][d]), a provision that is inapplicable here, the

ethical rules set forth a broad range of additional circumstances requiring disqualification,

including any matters in which the judge's impartiality "might reasonably be questioned"

(§lOO.3[E][1]). While it would be impossible for an ethical code to enumerate in specific

detail all the situations that would require a judge's recusal, that general language
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certainly encompasses the circumstances presented here. See Matter ofLaBombard, 11

NY3d 294,297-98 (2008), involving ajudge who presided over cases in which his step

grandchildren were the defendants, in which the Court of Appeals emphasized that the

misconduct finding was based on a violation of Rule 100.3(E)(I) and "does not depend

on whether the children of the spouse of a judge's child are relatives within the sixth

degree of consanguinity or affinity"; see also, e.g., Matter ofRobert, 89 NY2d 745 (1997)

(judge presided over multiple cases involving his friends );Matter of0 'Donnell, 2010

Annual Report 201 (judge arraigned a defendant without disclosing that his daughter was

the defendant's friend); Matter ofValcich, 2008 Annual Report 221 (judge arraigned a

defendant with whom he had a social and business relationship, issued an order of

protection and granted an adjournment in contemplation of dismissal).

Under the circumstances shown in this record, respondent should have

recognized that his disqualification was required in these cases. Notwithstanding

respondent's investigative testimony that his contacts with Ms. Petrie-Platt's relatives

were minimal, the record establishes not only that respondent had significant social

interactions with his girlfriend's family members at family gatherings and on other

occasions, but that on several such occasions, he discussed the pending charges against

her relatives with his girlfriend and/or her family members. As to Charge II, for example,

while Merton Petrie (Ms. Petrie-Platt's nephew) was facing resentencing for violating the

terms of his conditional discharge, which respondent had imposed earlier, respondent

attended a picnic with Petrie family members, several of whom urged the judge to send
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Mr. Petrie to jail and told respondent that he had not been "harsh enough" on Mr. Petrie

when he initially sentenced him. That same weekend, respondent told Mr. Petrie himself

that respondent intended to impose a jail sentence. These ex parte communications with

his girlfriend's relatives, standing alone, were highly improper (Rules, §100.3[B][6]; see,

e.g., Matter ofRacicot, 1982 Annual Report 99). Even if these out-of-court

communications were brief and unsolicited, respondent was obligated to give both sides

notice of them and an opportunity to respond. See Matter ofMarshall, 2008 Annual

Report 161; removal accepted, 8 NY3d 741 (2007). Further compounding the appearance

of impropriety, respondent later resentenced the defendant to 45 days in jail

notwithstanding that the Probation Department had recommended no jail time. Because

of his relationship with the defendant's aunt and his ex parte communications with the

defendant's relatives, respondent's handling of the case was unavoidably tinged with an

appearance of partiality and prejudgment.

As we have previously stated: "We recognize that, in small communities,

local justices may frequently be presented with matters in which they have some personal

relationship with the parties. Although disqualification may occasion some

inconvenience and delay, every judge must be mindful of the importance of adhering to

the ethical standards so that public confidence in the impartiality of the judiciary may be

preserved" (Matter ofThwaits, 2003 Annual Report 171, 174).

At the very least, even if he believed he could be impartial in these cases,

respondent should have disclosed the relationships and his ex parte communications,
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which would have afforded both sides an appropriate opportunity to be heard on the issue

of his participation in the matters (Rules, §100.3[F]). See, e.g., Matter ofValcich, supra;

Matter ofMerrill, 2008 Annual Report 181; Matter ofMerkel, 1989 Annual Report 111.

There can be no substitute for making full disclosure on the record in order to ensure that

the parties are fully aware of the pertinent facts and have an opportunity to consider

whether to seek the judge's recusal. Instead, in seven of the eight cases here, respondent

made no disclosure of his close relationship to a relative of the defendant or complaining

witness; in one case (Parker), respondent left a telephone message for the defendant's

attorney that might be construed as an attempt at disclosure, but gave no notice to the

prosecution. Incredibly, even after the conflict was brought to his attention in two cases

by attorneys who requested his recusal after learning of the relationship from their clients,

respondent failed to recognize that his disqualification was required, insisted that he could

be impartial, and, thereafter, made no disclosure in subsequent cases when his girlfriend's

relatives appeared before him. In Bowden, respondent disqualified himself only after the

attorney stated that if he did not do so, the attorney would make a formal motion and

report the conduct to the Commission. By taking judicial action in these cases without

disclosing his relationship to the defendant or complaining witness, respondent did not act

in a manner that promotes public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the

judiciary (Rules, §100.1).

While handling the cases of his girlfriend's relatives would be improper

regardless of the dispositions imposed, in several cases the results here were plainly
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favorable ones, which compounds the appearance of impropriety. In Bowden, a case in

which his girlfriend's daughter was the complaining witness, respondent issued an order

of protection at his girlfriend's request on behalf of her daughter. In the Merton Petrie

case, respondent sentenced the defendant to jail after his girlfriend's relatives had urged

him, ex parte, to do so. The dispositions afforded to other Petrie family members were

not only very lenient, but in some cases contrary to statutorily mandated procedures,

further conveying the appearance of favoritism. See, Matter ofMarshall, supra; Matter

ofSchurr, 2010 Annual Report 221 (without notice to or consent of the prosecutor, judge

allowed five defendants in traffic cases to plead to reduced charges); Matter ofMore,

1996 Annual Report 99 (judge dismissed three cases without notice to the prosecutor and

disposed of three other cases based upon ex parte communications). In James Petrie, Jr.

(Charge IV), respondent dismissed a felony charge against his girlfriend's nephew with

no notice to the prosecutor, and in Scott Parker (Charge V), he dismissed a charge against

his girlfriend's nephew without notice to or the consent of the prosecution, in violation of

statutory requirements. In Justin Petrie (Charge VI), he inexplicably dismissed a charge

against his girlfriend's nephew that could have resulted in two points on the defendant's

driver's license, notwithstanding that the defendant had accepted a plea offer by which he

would have pled to a lesser charge. In light of respondent's relationship to the

defendants' relative, the appearance of favoritism is unavoidable.

We thus conclude after a full review of the record that Charges I through VI
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are established.3 By presiding over numerous cases involving his girlfriend's relatives,

respondent showed insensitivity to his ethical obligations, even after the conflict was

brought to his attention. The fact that the misconduct continued even after respondent

was on notice of the potential impropriety is a significant exacerbating factor (see Matter

ofRobert, supra). Compounding this misconduct, respondent took judicial action in four

cases after entertaining ex parte communications from his girlfriend and/or her relatives,

ignored statutorily mandated procedures and rendered dispositions in several instances

that conveyed the appearance of favoritism. Such misconduct undermines public

confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary.

As the Court of Appeals has stated, removal is "a drastic sanction which

should only be employed in the most egregious circumstances" (Matter ofCohen, 74

NY2d 272,278 [1989]) and "'where necessary to safeguard the Bench from unfit

incumbents'" (Matter ofReeves, 63 NY2d 105, 111 [1984], quoting Matter of

Waltemade, 37 NY2d [a], [lll] [Ct on the Judiciary 1979]). In its totality, respondent's

misconduct demonstrates conclusively that he lacks fitness for judicial office.

3 As the referee noted, respondent admitted "nearly all" of the factual allegations contained in the
Formal Written Complaint (Rep. 2). While respondent's failure to testify at the hearing or to
offer any evidence in relation to the charges permits us to draw negative inferences to support the
finding of misconduct (Matter ofReedy, 64 NY2d 299, 302 [1985]), we find it unnecessary to do
so in view of the overwhelming evidence presented at the hearing establishing respondent's
misconduct.
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By reason of the foregoing, the Commission determines that the appropriate

disposition is removal.

Judge Klonick, Judge Ruderman, Judge Acosta, Mr. Belluck, Mr. Cohen,

Mr. Emery, Mr. Harding, Ms. Moore, Judge Peters and Mr. Stoloff concur.

Mr. Emery concurs in an opinion in which Mr. Belluck joins.

CERTIFICATION

It is certified that the foregoing is the determination of the State

Commission on Judicial Conduct.

Dated: October 7, 2011

~M~~.
Jean M. Savanyu, Esq.
Clerk of the Commission
New York State
Commission on Judicial Conduct
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STATE OF NEW YORK
COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL CONDUCT

In the Matter of the Proceeding
Pursuant to Section 44, subdivision 4,
of the Judiciary Law in Relation to .

LAFAYETTE D. YOUNG, JR.,

a Justice of the Macomb Town Court,
St. Lawrence County.

CONCURRING OPINION
BY MR. EMERY, IN WHICH

MR. BELLUCK JOINS

I agree with the result in this case. But the footnote on page 10 of the

Determination directing itself to the dismissal of Count VII, in my view, does a disservice

to the judiciary by advising judges not to participate in the First Amendment protected

activity of chairing an open caucus because "it can too easily involve a judge in

prohibited political activity."

Judge Young's role as a chair of an open party caucus was core First

Amendment activity. He was indisputably engaged in associational functions enabling a

political party to select candidates. What is missing from, and crucial to, any analysis of

the propriety of such conduct is an evaluation of the specific activities in the context of

First Amendment protections. Such an analysis is critical in order to determine whether

the conduct is constitutionally protected or permissibly prohibited under rules intended to

curb political influence in the state's judiciary. Republican Party ofMinnesota v. White,

536 US 765 (2002).
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Even if that analysis were unclear (and it is not), the fear that particular

political activities of a judge might be prohibited should not give rise to official advice to

avoid the activity on the basis that "it can too easily involve a judge in prohibited political

activity." If anything, the reverse should be true: a judge should get the benefit of the

doubt if his/her conduct is arguably protected by the First Amendment, especially in our

elective system which requires judges to be political.

Assuming, as I do, for purpose of this analysis that the Rules are facially

constitutional (see Matter ofRaab, 100 NY2d 305 [2003]), any proscription ofajudge's

conduct must still pass muster by a demonstration that the specific application of the Rule

to what appears to be constitutionally protected activity nonetheless supports a sanction.

Here, it is clear that a Rule that would apply to punish the judge for merely acting in the

ministerial function of chair of an open caucus, and no more, violates the judge's First

Amendment rights because the application of the Rule to this situation is not supported

by a state interest sufficient to overcome the judge's constitutional right to participate in

the caucus.

The problem is that this Commission and the Advisory Committee, which

frequently opines on the application of these rules, regularly and erroneously evaluate

cases such as this one under what appears to be a standard far less rigorous than that

which is constitutionally required. (In over 300 Advisory Opinions issued concerning
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political activity by judges, I find no First Amendment analysis whatsoever. I)

This judge was clearly not a "political leader." His caucus activities were

purely ministerial. Therefore, the question is whether there is a sufficiently compelling

state interest to support application of the rules prohibiting judges from engaging in

political activity to infringe on what otherwise would be the judge's clear right to

associate and participate in the caucus. This question can only be answered in the context

of an analysis of the entire scheme of what judges are permitted and prohibited from

doing under the Rules. "If the State chooses to tap the energy and the legitimizing power

of the democratic process, it must accord the participants in that process ... the First

I See e.g. Adv Ops 88-32 Gudge may not speak at a political club about the legal system), 88-136
(Family Court judge may not speak at a political club about the function of Family Court), 89-26
Gudge may not participate in the activities of a political club, even if the activities are non
political [re: participation in an essay contest sponsored by the club]), 89-55 Gudge may not
contribute to a political action committee established by the judge's employer), 90-77 Gudge's
spouse may not hold a political fundraiser at their joint residence even if the judge does not
appear or participate), 91-67 (recently elected judge may not attend a dinner sponsored by a
political party at any time after the six-month period following election--even one day after the
end of the period), 92-129 Gudge whose spouse is a candidate for political office cannot
accompany the spouse to political functions or contribute to the spouse's campaign), 94-66
Gudge may not contribute to the campaign of a candidate for political office in another state), 99
18 Gudge may not attend or purchase a ticket to a fundraiser on behalf of a candidate seeking
election to a local school board), 99-118 Gudge who is not currently a candidate for judicial
office should advise his/her spouse not to place signs endorsing political candidates on the
property where the judge and his/her spouse reside, even if the spouse is the sole owner of the
property), 00-113 Gudge may not attend a post-election victory party celebrating a neighbor's
election as a town board member, even if the event is not sponsored by a political organization),
04-91 Gudge may not attend a candlelight vigil for crime victims in the judge's county), 05-117
Gudicial candidate cannot express support for the desirability ofjoining the incumbent on the
bench, since that would constitute an endorsement of the incumbent), 06-183 Gudge may not
attend or be present for any fund-raising activity hosted by the judge's child, who is a candidate
for office, in their joint residence), 09-176 (two judicial candidates may display lawn signs with
both candidates' names, but may not send voters a letter bearing both candidates' signatures and
conveying both candidates' qualifications that is printed on letterhead with both candidates'
names).
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Amendment rights that attach to their roles" (White, supra, 536 US at 788). "Applying

strict scrutiny, White made unmistakably plain that in order to be constitutional, rules

regulating judicial campaign activity can be neither overinclusive nor underinclusive 

that is, they can neither burden more speech than is necessary, nor leave unregulated

those activities that directly undermine the State's supposedly compelling interest in

restricting speech" (Matter ofSpargo, 2007 Annual Report 127 [Emery Opinion

Concurring in Part and Dissenting in Part]). Both we and the Advisory Committee

regularly skip this crucial imperative by simply evaluating constitutionally protected

conduct under what appears to be a mere rational basis test.

The First Amendment defect in applying a prohibition of political conduct

to this judge is clear. This is a plainly fatal overinclusive application of the Rules that

were charged here. See Matter ofCampbell, 2005 Annual Report 133, and Matter of

Farrell, 2005 Annual Report 159 (Emery Concurrences). It is not disputed that the Rules

allow ajudge to attend and vote publicly at a political caucus (Rules, §100.5[A][1][ii];

Adv Op 09-180). Also, it is not disputed that under the Rules ajudge can (and virtually

must) be a publicly identified member of a political party and actively involved in

obtaining the support of political parties to secure a nomination and win an election. S/he

can and, as a practical matter, must campaign on a slate, directly associating with other

judicial and non-judicial candidates. The notion that a judge who directly participates in

political activity in the variety of ways necessary to run for office does not violate the

Rules, while a judge who simply calls a political meeting to order and rules on motions

does, is patently hypocritical, untenable and, at the very least, a constitutional violation as
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an overinclusive application of the Rules.

Thus, application of the Rules to prohibit this judge's relatively innocuous

conduct would conflict with legitimate prohibitions on judicial political activities. And

our advice in the footnote to avoid such activities because they "can too easily involve a

judge in prohibited political activity" is just bad advice that stands First Amendment

protection on its head. If anything, requiring a judge to defend against such charges and

be subject to the chill of the accusations and the advice proffered in the footnote is a

profound disservice except in a system which is designed to suppress constitutionally

protected political activity. The footnote is a symptom of a system which does just that.

More generally, insofar as they purport to regulate the First Amendment

political activity of judges, the conduct Rules are a hornet's nest of inconsistencies and

are rife with questionable assumptions about what measures are appropriate and effective

to control political activity within an elected judiciary which is authorized by the same

Rules to associate with parties and raise money from the lawyers who appear before

them. See Matter ofYacknin, 2009 Annual Report 176 (Emery Dissent); Matter ofKing,

2008 Annual Report 145 (Emery Concurrence); Matter ofSpargo, supra (Emery Opinion

Concurring in Part and Dissenting in Part); Matter ofFarrell, supra (Emery

Concurrence); Matter ofCampbell, supra (Emery Concurrence). As such,

constitutionally commanded strict scrutiny of any proposed sanction under a Rule, as

applied, is the minimum we must assure to protect judicial candidates who inevitably are

ensnared in a baroque tangle of contradictory and confusing rules, prohibitions and

exceptions. As I have previously stated, "The entire system of regulating judicial
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campaigns is riddled with hypocrisy" (Matter ofYacknin, supra [Emery Dissent]):

I understand and sympathize with the [Court of Appeals']
pragmatic impulse to muddle through this mire, attempting to
maintain the integrity and stature of the judiciary by
separating it from unseemly political party activity and, at the
same time, allowing judges to participate in the politics that
are an inescapable part of our state constitutionally mandated
elective selection system. But the result of this conundrum is
that the Court of Appeals has upheld an entirely unworkable
and untenable system ofjudicial candidate regulation in
which the conduct rules are unrealistic, unclear and
contradictory.

ld. We must guard against wooden application of the Rules, including those interpreted

by the Advisory Committee, which regularly fails, as does this Commission, to analyze

application of the Rules in the First Amendment context. It serves neither the judges nor

the public if we fall into the trap of treating judicial campaigns and political activity

under the same standards as other judicial misconduct.

This case, and others where we evaluate alleged misconduct in the judicial

campaign process, beg the larger question of whether this is our appropriate role and

whether it is the best use of our resources. I believe this Commission and the Advisory

Committee are unsuited to this task because judicial misconduct does not ordinarily arise

in the First Amendment context and the Commission and Advisory Committee appear to

be committed to ignoring the overarching constitutional concerns. I think that regulating

judicial campaigns should be the function of some other administrative body more

experienced and sensitive to the fundamental rights at stake. My two terms on this

Commission certainly document the need for this reform. Until that day comes, if ever,

in my view the Commission's role should be "hands off' except in the clearest cases.
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This is a case of a misconduct charge that cannot be supported on the facts or the law

and, accordingly, is properly dismissed.

Dated: October 7,2011

Richard D. Emery, Esq., Member
New York State
Commission on Judicial Conduct

7


	Mohun.Bio.SMA.2019
	Sears.Bio.SMW.2019
	Tembeckjian.Bio.SMA.2019
	Astacio.32 NY3d 131
	Astacio.Leticia.2018.04.23.DET
	Ayres.30 NY3d 59
	Clark.Michael.R.2017.03.13.DET
	Feeder.Michael.M.2012.01.31.DET
	Gilpatric.13 NY3D 586
	Gilpatric.James.2010.04.27.DET
	Halstead.Edie.M.2011.01.27.DET
	LaBombard.Dennis.2007.12.12.DET
	Landicino.Carl.J.2015.12.28.DET
	Ray.David.2008.02.26.DET
	Roller.Marie.2008.07.07.DET
	Romano.93 NY2d 161
	SCJC Slide Show.2019-03
	New York State�Commission on Judicial Conduct��
	Legal Authorities
	Appointment to the Commission
	Table of Organization
	Jurisdiction
	Quick Overview of�Complaint & Disciplinary Process
	Confidentiality
	Incoming Complaints
	Slide Number 9
	Commission Review of Complaints
	Disposition of New Complaints
	The Investigation
	Three Stages of a Formal �Disciplinary Proceeding
	Formal Written Complaints
	Formal Written Complaints
	Formal Written Complaints
	A Brief History
	Before there was a Commission...
	Temporary Commission (1974)
	Constitutional Amendment (1976)
	2nd Constitutional Amendment (1978)
	Slide Number 22

	SMA.2019.Judicial-Conduct-Commission
	Smith.Nancy.E.2013-06-19.DET
	Sullivan.Daniel.P.2017.03.13.DET
	Young.Lafayette.D.Jr.2011.10.07.DET
	Issues in Judicial Ethics and Discipline Cover Sheet.pdf
	Handout NSYMA 2018 CLE Cover Working With Court Interpreters
	Interpreters-Training-Handout-060818
	Blank Page

	Blank Page
	Blank Page



